
Shropshire Council
Legal and Democratic Services
Shirehall
Abbey Foregate
Shrewsbury
SY2 6ND

Date:   Tuesday, 13 June 2017

Committee: Cabinet

Date: Wednesday, 21 June 2017
Time: 12.30 pm
Venue: Shrewsbury Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY2 6ND

You are requested to attend the above meeting. The Agenda is attached.

Claire Porter
Head of Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer)

Members of Cabinet Deputy Members of Cabinet
Peter Nutting (Leader)
Steve Charmley (Deputy Leader)
Joyce Barrow
Lezley Picton
David Minnery
Robert Macey
Nic Laurens
Nicholas Bardsley
Lee Chapman
Steve Davenport

Clare Aspinall
Rob Gittins
Roger Hughes
Alex Phillips

Your Committee Officer is: 

Jane Palmer  Senior Democratic Services Officer
Tel:  01743 257712
Email:  jane.palmer@shropshire.gov.uk



NOTICE RE VIDEO RECORDING OF CABINET MEETINGS

 & REQUIREMENTS OF DATA PROTECTION ACT 1998

Cabinet meetings are video recorded by Shropshire Council and these recordings will be made 
available to the public via the Shropshire Council Newsroom.

Images of individuals may be potentially classed as ‘personal information’ and subject to the 
requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998.

Members of the public making a recording of the meeting are advised to seek advice on their 
obligations to ensure any processing of personal information complies with the Data Protection 
Act.

Meetings video recorded by Shropshire Council may be made available to the public via the 
Shropshire Newsroom, or generally on the internet or other media channels.

The Council will take the following steps to ensure its compliance with data protection 
requirements:

• Appropriate notices will be included on the agenda for each meeting;
• Appropriate signage will be displayed at each meeting;
• At the beginning of each meeting the Chair will formally announce that the meeting is 

being recorded;
• The camera will not record or show images of those in the public gallery; and
• Members of the public called to speak may opt to do so from a position where they 

are not visually identified on camera

Members of the public positioned in an area being recorded will be deemed to have given their 
consent (by implication) to any images etc. of themselves being used for broadcast and any other 
appropriate purposes consistent with the notices.



AGENDA
1 Apologies for Absence 

2 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Members are reminded that they must not participate in the discussion or voting on any 
matter in which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave the room 
prior to the commencement of the debate.

3 Minutes (Pages 1 - 4)

To approve as a correct record and sign the Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 31 
May 2017.

Contact: Jane Palmer Tel: 01743 257712

4 Public Question Time 

To receive any questions or petitions from members of the public, notice of which has 
been given in accordance with Procedure Rule 14.  Deadline for notification for this 
meeting is 5.00pm on Friday 16 June 2107.

5 Scrutiny Items 

To consider any scrutiny matters from Council or any of the Scrutiny Committees.

6 Financial Outturn 2016/17 [Revised] (Pages 5 - 34)

Lead Member – Councillor David Minnery – Portfolio Holder for Finance

Report of the Head of Finance, Governance and Assurance [Section 151 Officer]

Contact: James Walton Tel: 01743 258915

7 Quarter 4 Performance Report 2016/17 (Pages 35 - 40)

Lead Member – Councillor Steve Charmley – Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate Support.

Report of the Director of Place and Enterprise

Contact: George Candler Tel: 01743 255003 

8 Community Right to Bid: Process Amendment (Pages 41 - 48)

Lead Member – Councillor Joyce Barrow – Portfolio Holder for Communities

Report of the Director of Place and Enterprise

Contact: George Candler Tel: 255003

9 Community Asset Transfer Policy Amendment (Pages 49 - 90)



Lead Members – Councillor Steve Charmley - Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate Support and Councillor Joyce Barrow - Portfolio Holder for Communities

Report of the Director of Place and Enterprise

Contact: George Candler Tel: 01743 255003

10 Public Space Protection Order for Shrewsbury Town Centre (Pages 91 - 208)

Lead Member – Councillor Robert Macey – Portfolio Holder for Planning and Regulatory 
Services

Report of the Director of Public Health

Contact: Professor Rod Thomson Tel: 01743 252003

11 Shropshire Council Local Plan Review (Pages 209 - 236)

Lead Member – Councillor Robert Macey – Portfolio Holder for Planning and Regulatory 
Services

Report of the Director of Place and Enterprise

Contact: George Candler Tel: 01743 255003

12 Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy, 2018 to 2023 (Pages 237 - 296)

Lead Member – Councillor Lezley Picton – Portfolio Holder for Culture and Leisure

Report of the Director of Place and Enterprise

Contact: George Candler Tel: 01742 255003

13 Exclusion of the Public and Press 

To resolve that, in accordance with the provisions of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, and Paragraph 10.4 (3) of the Council’s Access to Information 
Procedure Rules, the public and the press be excluded during consideration of the 
following item/s.

14 Exempt Minutes (Pages 297 - 298)

To approve as a correct record and sign the confidential Minutes of the Cabinet meeting 
held on 31 May 2017.

Contact: Jane Palmer Tel: 01743 257712



Committee and Date

Cabinet

21 June 2017

CABINET

Minutes of the meeting held on 31 May 2017 in the Shrewsbury Room, Shirehall, 
Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY2 6ND
12.30  - 12.45 pm

Responsible Officer:    Jane Palmer
Email:  jane.palmer@shropshire.gov.uk      Tel:  01743 257712

Present 
Councillor Peter Nutting (Leader)
Councillors Steve Charmley (Deputy Leader), Nicholas Bardsley, Joyce Barrow, 
Lee Chapman, Steve Davenport, Nic Laurens, Robert Macey, David Minnery and 
Lezley Picton

1 Apologies for Absence 

There were no apologies for absence.

2 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Councillor Mrs J Barrow declared an interest in the item relating to the covenant on 
land at Oteley Road, Shrewsbury and stated that she would leave the room during 
consideration of this item. She stated that the partner of the Chairman of the 
Shrewsbury Town Football Club was a personal friend.

3 Minutes 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 12 April 2017 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Leader.

4 Public Question Time 

No questions had been received from members of the public.

5 Scrutiny Items 

There were no scrutiny matters for consideration.



Minutes of the Cabinet held on 31 May 2017

Contact: Jane Palmer on 01743 257712 2

6 Revenue and Capital Outturn 2016/2017 

The Head of Finance, Governance and Assurance presented the report providing 
details of Shropshire Council’s revenue and capital outturn position for 2016/17.  
Members noted the net underspend of £1.023m, a variance of 0.18% on the gross 
budget and the details of the underspend within the report.

Referring to the outturn capital expenditure, it was noted that this stood at 
£44.986m for 2016/17, representing 83% of the re-profiled budget of £54.432m.  

A Member commented on paragraphs 14.3 and 14.4 of the report relating to the 
use of capital receipts.  Responding, the Leader gave assurances that ways to 
improve returns would be investigated and he was confident that reasonable capital 
would be received.  He added that conversations would begin in earnest in the 
Autumn once the new Cabinet had had time to settle.

Responding to a Member’s concerns regarding Broadband, the Leader stressed the 
need to ensure effective spend in this area as Broadband remained patchy in areas 
throughout the county both rural and urban.

RESOLVED: 

i. That it be noted that the Outturn for the Revenue Budget for 2016/17 is an 
underspend of £1.023m, this represents 0.18% of the original gross budget 
of £568.8m.

ii. That it be noted that the level of general balance stands at £14.827m, which 
is above the anticipated level.

iii. That it be noted that the Outturn for the Housing Revenue Account for 
2016/17 is an underspend of £1.417m and the level of the Housing Revenue 
Account reserve stands at £9.031m (2015/16 £5.824m). 

iv. That the increase in the level of Earmarked Reserves and Provisions 
(excluding delegated school balances) of £2.508m in 2016/17 be noted. 

v. That it be noted that the level of school balances stand at £6.280m (2015/16 
£7.173m).

vi. That net budget variations of £0.481m to the 2016/17 capital programme, 
detailed in Appendix 5/Table 6 and the re-profiled 2016/17 capital budget of 
£54.432m be approved.

vii. That the re-profiled capital budgets of £80.529m for 2017/18, including 
slippage of £9.288m from 2016/17, £26.081m for 2018/19 and £2.320m for 
2019/20 as detailed in Appendix 5 /Table 9, be approved.

viii. That the outturn expenditure set out in Appendix 5 of £44.986m, 
representing 83% of the revised capital budget for 2016/17, be accepted.



Minutes of the Cabinet held on 31 May 2017

Contact: Jane Palmer on 01743 257712 3

ix. That retaining a balance of capital receipts set aside of £18.370m as at 31st 
March 2017 to generate a one-off Minimum Revenue Provision saving of 
£0.418m in 2017/18, be approved.

7 UK Recovery Walk 2018 

The Portfolio Holder for Health and Adult Social Care presented a report seeking 
support and approval for the Shropshire Drug and Alcohol Action Team (DAAT) to 
submit a bid for Shrewsbury to host the UK Recovery Walk 2018. Members noted 
that the overarching aim of the walk was to celebrate recovery and freedom from 
drug and alcohol dependence publically to inspire others.  If successful in the bid, 
the event could attract 5,000 visitors/participants and would provide an opportunity 
to showcase the town.

RESOLVED:

i) That the submission of an expression of interest to host the UK Recovery 
Walk 2018 be supported and if invited, delegated authority be granted to the 
Portfolio Holder for Health and Adult Social Care to submit a full bid to 
FAVOR UK by the end of June 2017. 

ii)  If successful, the formation of a cross party Shrewsbury Recovery Walk 
Steering Group, to take forward the planning and implementation of the walk, 
be supported. 

8 Exclusion of the Public and Press 

Councillor Mrs J Barrow left the meeting at this point.

RESOLVED:

That, in accordance with the provisions of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, and Paragraph 10.4 (3) of the Council’s Access to Information Rules, the 
public and press be excluded during consideration of the following item/s.

9 Covenant on land at Oteley Road, Shrewsbury 

The Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Corporate Support presented the 
confidential report from the Director of Place and Enterprise regarding the covenant 
on land at Oteley Road, Shrewsbury.

RESOLVED:

That the two confidential recommendations, as detailed in the report, be approved.



Minutes of the Cabinet held on 31 May 2017

Contact: Jane Palmer on 01743 257712 4

10 Minutes 

RESOLVED:

That the confidential Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 12 April 2017 be 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Leader.

Signed (Leader)

Date: 



Committee and date

Cabinet

21st June 2017

FINANCIAL OUTTURN 2016/17 (REVISED)

Responsible Officer James Walton
Email: james.walton@shropshire.gov.uk Tel: (01743) 258915

1. Summary

1.1 Following work to produce the draft Statement of Accounts for the Council as at 
31 March 2017, an error was identified in the matching of Housing Benefit 
Subsidy Grant and expenditure. A decision was taken to amend the Council’s 
accounts to correct this error, which resulted in a minor net variation to the final 
Financial Outturn position of £0.129m. This report reflects all necessary changes 
as a result of this amendment, which are minor and have no material impact. It 
was decided, however, to resubmit the entire corrected report to Cabinet so that 
a final and unambiguous copy of this important report is approved by Cabinet for 
future reference.

1.2 This report provides details of the revenue and capital outturn position for 
Shropshire Council for 2016/17 and provides a summary of:

 The revenue outturn for each service area with a commentary of the main 
variations and an outline of how the position has changed since Quarter 3.

 The movements in the Council’s General Fund balance.
 The Council’s reserves and provisions.
 The capital outturn for each service area with a commentary of the main 

variations and the budget slipped for 2017/18.

1.3 The Council’s revenue position for 2016/17 has improved by £0.670m when 
compared to projections made at Quarter 3 resulting in a net underspend of 
£0.894m, a variance of 0.16% on the gross budget. This improvement has been 
delivered as a result of variances across a number of Council services although 
the majority of these are not within the base budget and therefore will not be 
available to reduce the funding gap in future years. Funds to deliver the Digital 
Transformation Programme, other developments and Invest to Save initiatives 
are now confirmed or increased for 2017/18 and beyond, although the final 
£0.894m underspend for 2016/17 is currently assumed to be added to General 
Fund Balance.

1.4 The outturn capital expenditure for 2016/17 is £44.986m, representing 83% of 
the re-profiled budget of £54.432m. £9.288m of the underspend has been slipped 
to the 2017/18 programme, the balance has been removed from the programme.



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

2

2. Recommendations

It is recommended that Members:

A. Note that the Outturn for the Revenue Budget for 2016/17 is an underspend of 
£0.894m, this represents 0.16% of the original gross budget of £568.8m.

B. Note that the level of general balance stands at £14.698m, which is above the 
anticipated level.

C. Note that the Outturn for the Housing Revenue Account for 2016/17 is an 
underspend of £1.417m and the level of the Housing Revenue Account reserve 
stands at £9.031m (2015/16 £5.824m). 

D. Note the increase in the level of Earmarked Reserves and Provisions (excluding 
delegated school balances) of £2.508m in 2016/17. 

E. Note that the level of school balances stand at £6.280m (2015/16 £7.173m).
F. Approve net budget variations of £0.481m to the 2016/17 capital programme, 

detailed in Appendix 5/Table 6 and the re-profiled 2016/17 capital budget of 
£54.432m.

G. Approve the re-profiled capital budgets of £80.529m for 2017/18, including 
slippage of £9.288m from 2016/17, £26.081m for 2018/19 and £2.320m for 
2019/20 as detailed in Appendix 5 /Table 9.

H. Accept the outturn expenditure set out in Appendix 5 of £44.986m, representing 
83% of the revised capital budget for 2016/17.

I. Approve retaining a balance of capital receipts set aside of £18.370m as at 31st 
March 2017 to generate a one-off Minimum Revenue Provision saving of 
£0.418m in 2017/18.

REPORT

3. Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

3.1 Details of the potential risks affecting the balances and financial health of the 
Council are detailed within the report. Each variation from budget is also RAG 
rated to confirm the level of risk to the Council’s balances.

4. Financial Implications

4.1 This report is based on the financial outturn of the Council’s revenue and capital 
budget for 2016/17 and therefore considers the effect that the underspend has 
on the Council’s balances.

5. Background

5.1 Cabinet has received quarterly monitoring reports on the revenue and capital 
budget during the course of the year.  This has meant that Service Areas have 
identified problem areas as they have arisen and management have been able 
to take the action necessary to deal with the issues arising.



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

3

6. Revenue Outturn Position

6.1 The final outturn for 2016/17 shows overall net revenue expenditure of 
£203.633m and an underspend of £0.894m.  The overall position for Service 
areas and Schools’ balances is detailed below.

£000
Original Budget 204,527
Outturn for 2016/17 203,633
Underspend for 2016/17 (894)

April Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Outturn
565,000,000

566,000,000

567,000,000

568,000,000

569,000,000

570,000,000

571,000,000

572,000,000

573,000,000

574,000,000

575,000,000

Gross Budget
Projection

Gross Expenditure 2016/17

£

6.2 The underspend of £0.894m for 2016/17 is presented below by Service Area. 
End of year entries include items of non-controllable spend (e.g. depreciation) 
that are not included within service projections throughout the year. To enable 
comparison with previous monitoring reports, the non-controllable element of 
spend has been excluded from the figures presented below to enable a direct 
comparison to be made between controllable spend at year end, and 
projections made throughout the year

Table 1: 2016/17 Budget Variations Analysed by Service Area (£’000)
Service Area Revised 

Budget
£’000

Controllable 
Outturn

£’000

Controllable 
(Under) / 

Overspend
£’000

RAGY 
Classification

Adult Services 86,439 86,052 (387) Y
Children’s Services 50,814 52,316 1,502 R
Place & Enterprise 79,411 78,932 (479) Y
Public Health 6,963 6,550 (413) Y
Resources & Support 2,924 2,128 (796) Y
Corporate (22,024) (22,345) (321) Y

TOTAL 204,527 203,633 (894) Y



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

4

6.3 The outturn position has improved by £0.670m since Quarter 3 as a result of 
further underspends achieved across all service areas within the Council. The 
most significant changes were in the following areas:

 (£0.680m) Waste - increased income as a result of the successful 
introduction of the incinerator

 (£1.020m) Corporate – Release of corporate contingency budgets 
identified as not required at year end.

Offset by: 

   £0.740m Environmental Maintenance – significant additional expenditure 
on vehicle maintenance, reactive safety works, settlement of commercial 
claims and other areas. 

Further analysis of the variations to budgets for all service areas is provided 
within Appendix 1.

7. General Fund Balance

7.1. The effect on the Council’s Reserves of the outturn position is detailed below. 
The Council’s policy on balances is to have a general fund balance (excluding 
schools balances) of between 0.5% and 2% of the gross revenue budget. For 
2016/17 the minimum balance required is £2.844m.  The General Fund 
Balance as at 31st March 2017 is shown in Table 2 below:

Table 2: General Fund Balance as at 31 March 2017 

General Fund Balances as at 1 April 2016
(£’000)
18,370

Transfer to Financial Strategy Reserve (5,000)

Transfer from Major Planning Inquiries Reserve 504

Under recovery of insurance costs (70)

2016/17 Revenue Outturn 894

General Fund Balance at 31 March 2017 14,698

7.2. The General Fund Balance at 31 March is above the level anticipated and lies 
above the risk based target for 2016/17 which stands at £12.325m.

7.3. The council’s historic policy is to hold general fund balances of between 0.5% 
and 2% of the gross revenue budget, however this can only be considered to 
be a guide in the current financial environment. The General Fund Balance of 
£14.698m now falls above this policy level. This is considered appropriate 



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

5

given the risk based general fund calculation for 2017/18 of £13.29m, which 
then increases significantly to £16.801m in 2018/19 and £33.68m in 2019/20 
(as agreed by Council in February 2017) and the significant level of savings 
required in the budget strategy for 2017/18 and in future years. At this time, 
there is insufficient available funding to provide additional contributions into the 
General Fund Balance to ensure the Council achieves the risk based target in 
2017/18 and in the following 2 years. Therefore the risk arising from this will 
need to be tolerated with mitigating actions and the potential gap between the 
Risk Based target and projected General Fund Balance will be closely 
monitored and reported through to Cabinet if it becomes apparent that the 
projected balance is insufficient.
 

7.4. Chart 1 below identifies how the current and estimated General Fund Balance 
compares to the risk assessed requirements approved by Council in February 
2017. There is an assumption (based on historic outturns over the last 4 years) 
that a small underspend (£0.3m) can be achieved each year as a contribution. 
The large rise in the risk based calculation for General Fund Balance in 
2019/20 is primarily due to the known funding gap in that year which is not yet 
addressed, as described within the Financial Strategy.

Chart 1: Impact on General Fund Balance

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000
Risk Based 
Calculation

Actual

Estimated

General Fund Balance

Financial Year

(£
'0

00
)

8. Housing Revenue Account (Appendix 2)

8.1 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) outturn for 2016/17 shows an 
underspend of £1.417m against gross turnover (7.9%) which has mainly arisen 
due to increased rent income from faster turnaround on voids and collection 
rate exceeding target, and a reduced depreciation charge from a change of 
accounting policy to component based depreciation on the Council dwellings, 
with a corresponding reduction in the contribution to the Major Repairs Reserve.

8.2 The underspend, together with the budgeted surplus, takes the closing balance 
on the HRA Reserve to £9.032m which represents a contingency of £2,204 per 
dwelling. Part of this funding, will however be use as part of the HRA New Build 
Programme to provide further new affordable housing.



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

6

8.3 The HRA also holds the Major Repairs Reserve which is an earmarked reserve 
required to meet the costs of major repairs on the Council’s housing stock. The 
reserve has reduced in 2016/17 to £2.369m which reflects the lower level of 
depreciation charge during the year, from the revised component based 
calculation.

9. Reserves and Provisions (Appendix 4)

9.1 The Council has created a number of specific reserves and provisions to 
provide for known or anticipated future liabilities and to assist in protecting 
essential services. Earmarked reserves are balances held for specific items that 
will occur in the future. Provisions are held to meet expenses that will occur as 
a result of past events and where a reliable estimate can be made of the 
obligation.

9.2 The overall position for reserves and provisions is set out in the Statement of 
Accounts 2016/17, however a detailed breakdown of the balances is contained 
at Appendix 4, with an explanation of each reserve and provision. These figures 
may be subject to change before the Council’s final Statement of Accounts is 
produced.  The change in revenue reserves and provisions are detailed in table 
3 below.

Table 3: Movement in Reserves and Provisions 2016/17

Balance Held Reserves

£000

Provisions

£000

Bad Debt 
Provisions

£000

Total 
Reserves & 
Provisions

£000

As at 31 March 2016 60,841 11,675 10,461 82,977
As at 31 March 2017 63,859 9,815 11,811 85,485

Increase/(Decrease) 3,018 (1,860) 1,350 2,508

Delegated School Balances 
Movement

(893) 0 0 (893)

Increase/(Decrease) (excluding 
Delegated School Balances)

2,125 (1,860) 1,350 1,615

9.3 In accordance with the financial strategy the Council will be using one off 
funding to close the funding gap between 2017/18 and 2019/20.  This will result 
in the Financial Strategy Reserve reducing to £0.500m by 2019/20. Other 
Earmarked Reserves are expected to fall over the coming years for a number 
of reasons. It is difficult to project use with any accuracy but balances would not 
be expected to fall to below £18m in the long term. The estimated future 
balances on earmarked reserves are as shown in table 4 below: 



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

7

Table 4: Estimated Future Balances on Earmarked Reserves

Delegated School Balances
9.4 The movement in delegated schools’ balances are detailed in table 5 below.

Table 5: Movement in delegated schools’ balances 2016/17
2015/16 2016/17 Increase/ 

(Decrease)
£000 £000 £000

Schools:
- Revenue Balances 5,511 4,801 (710)
- Invested Balances 1,136 996 (140)
- Extended Schools Grant Balance 749 699 (50)

Sub Total within Schools 7,396 6,496 (900)

Purchasing IT equipment (155) (185) (30)
Carbon efficiency measures (68) (31) 37

Total Delegated School Balances 7,173 6,280 (893)

9.5 Schools’ balances have to be ringfenced for use by schools and schools have 
the right to spend those balances at their discretion.  Of the 125 schools, 116 
schools have surplus balances and 9 have deficit balances.

9.6 The Extended Schools Grant allocations for schools are paid over during 
2016/17, however as the balance will not be fully committed until the end of the 
school academic year, these balances have been ringfenced to each individual 
school within School Balances.

9.7 Following consultation with the school’s forum and head teachers, the school 
balances have been used to purchase IT equipment for schools, the cost of this 
equipment is then recharged to schools over the life of that equipment, 
effectively operating as an internal leasing arrangement.  At the end of 2016/17 
£0.185m of the £6.496m was being used in this way.

9.8 School balances have also been used to fund carbon efficiency measures 
within schools. At the end of 2016/17, £0.031m of the £6.496m was used for 
this purpose.



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

8

10. Original and final Capital Programme for 2016/17

10.1 The capital budget for 2016/17 is subject to change, the largest element being 
slippage from 2015/16 and re-profiling into future years. In Quarter 4 there has 
been a net budget decrease of £0.481m, compared to the position reported at 
Quarter 3.  Table 6 summarises the overall movement, between that already 
approved, and changes for Quarter 4 that require approval.

Table 6: Revised Capital Programme Quarter 4 2016/17
Service Area Agreed 

Capital 
Programme 

- Council 
25/02/16

Slippage and 
budget changes 

approved to 
Quarter 3 
2016/17

Quarter 4 
budget 

changes to 
be approved

Revised 
2016/17 
Capital 

Programme 
Quarter 4

General Fund     
Place & Enterprise 36,978,211 (1,900,156) 390,020 35,468,075
Adult Services 2,019,000 1,205,725 - 3,224,725
Public Health - 675,942 - 675,942
Children’s Services 9,303,765 (1,189,251) 56,045 8,170,559
Resources & Support 220,000 222,770 - 442,770

Total General Fund 48,520,976 (984,970) 446,065 47,982,071
Housing Revenue Account 7,347,311 (932,526) 35,310 6,450,095
Total Approved Budget 55,868,287 (1,917,496) 481,375 54,432,166

10.2 Full details of all budget changes are provided in Appendix 5 to this report. A 
summary of the significant changes for 2016/17 and future years are detained 
below:
Budget Increases
 New allocation of funding of £3.214m across 2017/18 and 2018/19 for HRA 

New Build Phase 4 programme. Financed from £0.370m in Homes & 
Communities Agency grant and the balance from HRA Revenue and Capital 
Receipts. Further HRA revenue contributions of £0.380m have been added 
for the acquisition of properties.

 Confirmation of funding for 2017/18 of £2.736m for the Integration and 
Better Care Fund, the service has allocated £1.8m to DFG's and £0.936m 
to Adult Social Care.

 Further Environment Agency funding of £0.090m in 2016/17, £0.128m in 
2017/18 and £0.135m in 2018/19 towards the Much Wenlock Flood 
Alleviation Scheme.

 Revenue contributions of £0.229m have been added to the capital 
programme. The major areas are Highways contribution to Parking 
Machine Replacement Programme (£0.125m), Libraries Contribution to 
Much Wenlock Library refurbishment (£0.025m) and Outdoor Partnerships 
contribution to Severn Valley Country Park Visitor Centre (£0.060m).

Budget Decreases
 £1.509m reductions in revenue contribution to Digital Transformation to 

finance revenue costs occurred in 2016/17. 



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

9

11. Capital Outturn Position

11.1 The capital programme is reviewed on a regular basis to re-profile the budget 
to reflect the multi-year nature of capital schemes, whereby spend may slip into 
later years. However, it is possible that a level of underspend or overspend may 
be experienced against the revised capital budget at outturn. Outturn 
projections are incorporated into the capital monitor to enhance the monitoring 
information provided and allow the early identification where schemes are 
deviating from budget.  Table 7 summarises the outturn position for 2016/17.

Table 7: Capital Programme Outturn Position by Service area 2016/17
Service Area Revised Capital 

Programme – 
Outturn 2016/17

Actual 
Expenditure 

31/03/17

Variance Spend to 
Budget 

%

General Fund     
Place & Enterprise 35,468,075 30,258,730 5,209,345 85%
Adult Services 3,224,725 2,136,614 1,088,111 66%
Public Health 675,942 558,910 117,032 83%
Children’s Services 8,170,559 6,408,413 1,762,146 78%
Resources & Support 442,770 384,885 57,885 87%

Total General Fund 47,982,071 39,747,552 8,234,519 83%
Housing Revenue Account 6,450,095 5,238,348 1,211,747 81%
Total Approved Budget 54,432,166 44,985,900 9,446,266 83%

11.2 Total capital expenditure for 2016/17 was £44.896m, which equated to 83% of 
the re-profiled capital programme of £54.432m. The graph below shows 
actual expenditure by period and also tracks the period by period changes to 
the budget.

Budget Book

O
utturn

P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9 P10

P11

P12(10)

-

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Total Expenditure
Period Budget
Previous years expenditure average
Previous years expenditure average to achieve current budget

Period

Ex
pe

nd
itu

re
 /

 B
ud

ge
t (

£m
)



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

10

11.3 There was a total variance of £9.446m between the revised Outturn Budget and 
the Outturn Expenditure. £9.288m of this underspend will be slipped to 2017/18, 
but a small balance of £0.158m will be removed from the programme, in relation 
to the underspend on Highways. Full details of expenditure variances at 
scheme level are in Appendix 5. A summary of significant variances by service 
area are provided below.

11.4 Place & Enterprise – Total under spend against the Place & Enterprise capital 
programme was £5.209m. The most significant areas was £1.977m against the 
Broadband programme due to a lower than profiled claims from BT in the final 
quarter. Other significant areas were £0.641m on the LEP schemes following 
delays on the schemes, £0.854 from lower than profiled expenditure on Flood 
& Water Management schemes, £0.425m on Corporate Landlord mainly in 
relation to the delay to the works on the Tannery site and £0.368m on Affordable 
Housing schemes from delays in grants being drawn down by developers.

11.5 Adult Services – Total underspend against Adult Services was £1.088m. This 
was £0.535 on Social Care schemes despite significant re-profiling and funding 
cuts earlier in the year and £0.553m on Housing Health & Wellbeing, mainly 
due to no expenditure on the Home Ownership for Clients with Long Term 
Disabilities’ (HOLD) project.

11.6 Children’s Services – The total underspend against the Children’s Services 
capital programme was £1.762m.  This was spread through-out the different 
areas of the programme and despite significant re-profiling and funding 
changes earlier in the year. 

11.7 Housing Revenue Account – Total underspend against the HRA programme 
of £1.212m, of which £0.679m was on the Major Repairs Programme and 
£0.533 on the New Build Programmes.

12. Financing of the capital programme

12.1 Appendix 5 provides a full summary of the financing of the 2016/17 capital 
programme.  Table 8 summarises the financing sources and changes made to 
Quarter 3 and to be approved to Quarter 4.

Table 8: Revised Capital Programme Financing
Financing Agreed 

Capital 
Programme - 

Council 
25/02/16

Slippage and 
budget 

changes 
approved to 

Quarter 3

Quarter 4 
budget 

changes to 
be approved

Revised 
2016/17 
Capital 

Programme 
Quarter 4

Self-Financed Prudential Borrowing* - - - -
Government Grants 26,879,829 7,814,115 84,430 34,778,374
Other Grants - 111,780 3,188 114,968
Other Contributions 426,381 355,685 164,646 946,712
Revenue Contributions to Capital 1,269,659 10,330,809 229,111 11,829,579
Major Repairs Allowance 5,441,865 (990,376) - 4,451,489
Corporate Resources (expectation - 
Capital Receipts only)

21,850,553 (19,539,509) - 2,311,044



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

11

Total Confirmed Funding 55,868,287 (1,917,496) 481,375 54,432,166
* Borrowing for which on-going revenue costs are financed by the Service, usually from revenue 
savings generated from the schemes.

13. Projected Longer Term Capital Programme to aid Medium Term 
Financial Plan

13.1 The updated capital programme is summarised by year and financing in Table 
9 below: 

Table 9: Capital Programme 2017/18 to 2019/20
Service Area 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
General Fund    
Place & Enterprise 43,479,730 25,919,041 2,320,000
Adult Services 6,194,123 - -
Public Health 617,032 - -
Children’s Services 11,750,747 - -
Resources & Support 7,804,938 - -

Total General Fund 69,846,570 25,919,041 2,320,000
Housing Revenue Account 10,682,051 162,219 -
Total Approved Budget 80,528,621 26,081,260 2,320,000
Financing   
Self-Financed Prudential Borrowing* 300,000 - -
Government Grants 44,214,089 25,109,962 1,636,372
Other Grants 52,401 - -
Other Contributions 539,899 - -
Revenue Contributions to Capital 8,481,755 75,900 -
Major Repairs Allowance 5,408,793 - -
Corporate Resources (expectation - 
Capital Receipts only)

21,531,684 895,398 683,628

Total Confirmed Funding 80,528,621 26,081,260 2,320,000
* Borrowing for which on-going revenue costs are financed by the Service, usually from 
revenue savings generated from the schemes.

13.2 The Corporate Resources financing line above is the element of internal 
resources through capital receipts and corporately financed prudential 
borrowing required to finance the programme. Current expectation is these will 
all be through capital receipts, see section 14 for the current projected position. 
Proposals are currently been considered through the Capital Investment Board 
for new schemes for the Council to invest in, with an emphasis on invest to save 
schemes or schemes that create revenue generation.

14. Capital Receipts Position

14.1 The current capital programme is heavily reliant on the Council generating 
capital receipts to finance the capital programme. There is a high level of risk in 
these projections as they are subject to changes in property and land values, 
the actions of potential buyers and being granted planning permission on sites. 
Table 10 below, summarises the current allocated and projected capital receipt 
position across 2016/17 to 2019/20.  A RAG analysis has been included for 
capital receipts projected, based on the current likelihood of generating them 
by the end of each financial year.  Those marked as green are where they are 



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

12

highly likely to be completed by the end of the financial year, amber are where 
they are achievable, but challenging and thus there is a risk of slippage and red 
are highly unlikely to complete in year and thus there is a high risk of slippage. 
However, no receipts are guaranteed to complete in this financial year as there 
may be delays between exchanging contracts and completing.

Table 10: Projected capital receipts position
Detail 2016/17

£
2017/18

£
2018/19

£
2019/20

£
Corporate Resources Allocated in Capital 
Programme

934,103 21,531,684 895,398 683,628 

Capital Receipts used to finance redundancy 
costs

2,426,856    

To be allocated from Ring Fenced Receipts 442,277 16,012,649                -           - 
Total Commitments 3,803,236 37,544,333 895,398 683,628 
Capital Receipts in hand/projected:    
Brought Forward in hand 16,989,451 18,370,400             -     - 
Generated 2016/17 YTD 5,184,185         - - 
Projected - 'Green'                     - 3,978,570 -     - 
Total in hand/projected 22,173,637 22,348,970 - - 
Shortfall to be financed from Prudential 
Borrowing / (Surplus) to carry forward

(18,370,400) 15,195,363 895,398 683,628 

Further Assets Being Considered for 
Disposal

- 20,603,890 2,555,400 -   

14.2 Capital receipts of £16.989m were brought forward from 2015/16 and £5.184m 
was generated in 2016/17.  As previously reported, following the re-profiling in 
the capital programme and mid-year review of the programme, sufficient 
receipts had been generated to finance this year’s capital programme without 
any corporate prudential borrowing. Of the receipts generated in year, £2.427m 
has been used to finance redundancy costs under the new flexibilities around 
the use of Capital Receipts for transformational revenue purposes over the 3 
year period 2016/17 to 2018/19.

14.3 Following the underspend position for the capital programme for 2016/17 and 
the Council policy of applying un-ringfenced capital grants in place of capital 
receipts where they are not required in full due to scheme underspends, the 
Council has £18.370m in capital receipts in hand at 31/03/17.  These will be 
set-aside, enabling the Council to achieve an additional MRP saving of £0.418m 
in 2017/18. These capital receipts are required to finance schemes they are 
allocated to in the future years capital programme.

14.4 Based on the current approved position, across the life of the programme there 
is headroom in capital receipts in-hand/projected above the current expenditure 
commitments. There is, however, still the requirement to progress the disposals 
programmed for future years, to ensure they are realised, together with realising 
the revenue running cost savings from some of the properties. Considerable 
work is required to realise these receipts, with generally a lead in in time of at 
least 12 to 18 months on larger disposals. In addition to the current expenditure 
commitments, the programme will also grow as new schemes are approved 
through the Capital Investment Board or as the Council utilises the new 



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

13

flexibilities around the use of Capital Receipts for transformational revenue 
purposes over the 3 year period 2016/17 to 2018/19.

14.5 It is important that work progresses, to avoid a funding shortfall in future years.  
Failure to generate the required level of capital receipts will result in the need 
to further reduce or re-profile the capital programme, some of which will occur 
naturally as part of the review of the delivery of schemes; or undertake 
prudential borrowing, which will incur future year’s revenue costs that are not 
budgeted in the revenue financial strategy.

15. Unsupported borrowing and the revenue consequences

15.1. The Council can choose what level of unsupported (prudential) borrowing to 
undertake to fund the capital programme, based on affordability under the 
prudential code.  There is an associated revenue cost to fund the cost of the 
unsupported borrowing. This consists of the Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP) charge for the repayment of the principal amount, based on the asset 
life method and the interest charge associated with the borrowing.  The current 
PWLB borrowing rate over 25 years is around 2.9% and currently only 
projected to rise by 0.3% across the next two years. As covered in section 13 
above there are sufficient receipts in hand/projected to finance the existing 
approved programme. If there were to be a requirement for new schemes 
financed from borrowing, this could be accommodated from within existing 
borrowing and current cash balances in the short term, without the requirement 
to undertake new borrowing. This would, however, create an additional MRP 
cost, which would need to be met from the revenue budget.

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does 
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)
Revenue & Capital Budget 2016/17
Financial Rules
Revenue Monitoring Report/Capital Monitoring Report Quarter 1 2016/17
Revenue Monitoring Report/Capital Monitoring Report Quarter 2 2016/17
Financial Monitoring Report – Quarter 3 2016/17

Cabinet Member (Portfoilo Holder)
Councillor David Minnery, Portfolio Holder for Finance

Local Member
All

Appendices
1 – Service Area Outturn and Actions 2016/17
2 – Housing Revenue Account 2016/17
3 – Amendments to Original Revenue Budget 2016/17
4 – Reserves and Provisions 2016/17
5 – Capital Budget and Expenditure 2016/17



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

14

Appendix 1
Service Area Outturn and Actions 2016/17

Summary

Full year FOR INFO ONLY
 Budget Controllable 

Outturn
Controllable 

Variation

RAGBY
Outturn (incl. 

Non 
Controllable 

items*)

Non 
Controllable 

Variation

Total 
Variation

 £ £ £  £ £

Adult Services 86,438,690 86,051,701 (386,989) Y 85,799,201 (252,499) (639,489)

Children Services 50,813,880 52,316,247 1,502,367 R 51,312,752 (1,003,495) 498,872

Place & Enterprise 79,411,150 78,931,920 (479,230) Y 92,334,818 13,402,898 12,923,668

Public Health 6,963,120 6,549,802 (413,318) Y 6,698,120 148,318 (265,000)

Resources & Support 2,924,030 2,128,058 (795,972) Y 2,140,654 12,596 (783,376)

Corporate (22,023,750) (22,344,614) (320,864) Y (34,582,446) (12,237,833) (12,558,696)

Total 204,527,120 203,633,114 (894,006)  Y 203,703,099 69,985 (824,021)

*The non controllable items included in the table above include items such as depreciation, impairment of assets, other capital 
charges and IAS19 (pension costs)) that are not included within service projections throughout the year. These charges are 
produced at the year-end as they are calculated as part of the closedown procedures. The budgets for the year are set in the 
February of the preceding financial year, and rather than reallocate these budgets at the year end to match where the 
accounting entries are processed, we allow variations from budget to be reported instead. The net effect of these variations 
across the Council will always be zero, as any overspends within non controllable budgets for service areas will be offset by a 
Corporate underspend which reflects the statutory requirement that any variations in these budgets should impact on the 
Council Tax Payer and ultimately the Council Tax that we charge.

Detail on Controllable Outturn and Variations

ADULT SERVICES Full year RAGY
 Budget Controllable 

Outturn
Controllable 

Variance
 

 £ £ £  
Total 86,438,690 86,051,701 (386,989) Y

Adult Business Support & 
Development

Portfolio Holder Adult 
Services 2,591,610 2,126,158 (465,452) Y

£0.175m underspend on salaries due to delays in recruitment, £0.322m underspend on training due to a 
revision of planned training courses in the year and a number of external contracts being won in Enable. 
£0.030m cost pressure on CM2000 electronic homecare monitoring system, contract renegotiated for 2017-18.
Contracts & Provider Portfolio Holder Adult 

Services 6,047,460 5,802,592 (244,868) Y

£0.051m underspend on external contracts and grants, £0.151m relating to purchasing overspends, £0.471m 
underspend on Day Services, majority relating to vacancy management and difficulties in recruitment. £0.112m 
overspend on assistive technology.
Social Care Operations Portfolio Holder Adult 

Services 71,054,600 71,787,944 733,344 A



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

15

ADULT SERVICES Full year RAGY
 Budget Controllable 

Outturn
Controllable 

Variance
 

 £ £ £  
In 2016-17 we have seen in the region of 1532 new clients since the beginning of the year costing in the region 
of £10.861m.  Some of this new cost will be offset by people leaving the system. We continue to see a pressure 
on the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) function as the current establishment is underfunded in 2016-
17 and demand continues to outstrip resources. Growth funding has been applied to the budget in 2017-18 to 
rectify this. The DoLS funding position was the subject of a Judicial Review case which was recently brought to 
court. The judgement went against Local Government on the basis that as long as discretionary services are 
being provided council’s have the ability to meet the cost of statutory functions. We continued to see a rise in 
requests for funded support throughout the winter pressures period.  To some degree this growth was expected 
and allowed for in the purchasing model core casting. No money was made available this year to reduce the 
Delayed Transfer of Care (DTOC) so all increased costs were met by the service. There are serious concerns 
about the disinvestment intentions and actions of the CCG particularly around the removal of Discharge to 
Assess beds from the market. Separately, there are further material cost implications which are also now coming 
to light as we assess how sleeping and waking nights are delivered.  
Adult Services Management Portfolio Holder Adult 

Services 2,233,780 2,182,632 (51,148) Y

Salaries underspend due to time taken to recruit and fill vacant posts.

Housing Health Portfolio Holder Planning, 
Housing, Regulatory Services 
and Environment

4,511,240 4,152,375 (358,865) Y

£0.108m slippage on salaries due to delays in filling vacant posts £0.112m delayed spending on ICT 
developments which will now have to be paid from 17-18 budget, £0.102m underspend on grants and contract 
payments, £0.088m reduction in bad debt provision, £0.75m overspend on Bed & Breakfast provision and 
Temporary Accommodation.

CHILDRENS SERVICES Full year RAGY
 Budget Controllable 

Outturn
Controllable 

Variance
 £ £ £
Total 50,813,880 52,316,247 1,502,367 R

Learning & Skills Portfolio Holder Children and 
Young People 22,997,330 23,386,116 388,786 A

The final outturn position reflects unachieved savings in year totalling £0.284m. These unachieved savings relate 
to delays in implementing staffing reductions in Education Support Services and redesigning back office 
functions. Of this £0.284m, £0.159m of unachieved savings relates to Services that have transferred back into 
the Council from ip&e Ltd and the original proposal had been to reduce commissioning from ip&e Ltd. 

In addition to the £0.284m of unachieved savings, £0.334m of ongoing budget monitoring pressures were 
identified in year. £0.178m relates to Home to School Transport and specifically to the reported increase in the 
number of SEN Students requiring transport for the 2016/17 academic year. An overspend of £0.066m was 
identified in relation to reduced buyback of Education Improvement Services by Schools. Other ongoing 
monitoring pressures included reduced buyback from Schools for Governor Support (£0.016m), a shortfall in 
Education Welfare Service statutory income (£0.017m) and an overspend of £0.056m across other supplies and 
services budgets within Business Support where there will be ongoing costs and insufficient budget.



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

16

CHILDRENS SERVICES Full year RAGY
 Budget Controllable 

Outturn
Controllable 

Variance
 £ £ £
Total 50,813,880 52,316,247 1,502,367 R

An overspend of £0.301m is reported as one-off budget monitoring pressures. £0.100m of this is within Home to 
School Transport where the overall overspend was £0.278m, the £0.100m is an estimate based on the additional 
number of "Academic Days" within 2016/17 compared to the 2015/16 financial year. This is a one-off monitoring 
pressure since the number of academic days reduces by 4 in 2017/18. The remaining one-off pressures totalling 
£0.201m were identified across a large number of areas and include both one-off shortfalls in income and one-
off overspends.

These forecast overspends are partially offset by future year's savings being partially achieved early totalling 
£0.111m. A staffing saving has occurred in part this year, earlier than proposed resulting in an ongoing saving 
of £0.024m while the Educational Psychology Service is reporting an ongoing saving of £0.069m towards their 
2017/18 savings target. The Forest Schools budget has underspent by £0.017m resulting in the early 
achievement of their savings target through additional course income. 

There are some in-year one-off savings on supplies and services and vacancy management totalling £0.418m. 
The largest single underspend categorised as a one-off is the £0.190m underspend on teacher's redundancy 
payments where expenditure can fluctuate year to year depending on a variety of factors.
Children’s Safeguarding Portfolio Holder Children and 

Young People 26,903,110 28,013,850 1,110,740 R

The final monitoring position reflects unachieved savings in year totalling £0.582m. £0.325m of this value is due 
to a shortfall in increased contributions towards the Council's Early Help provision from other sources where only 
£0.600m of the targeted £1.000m alternative funding was secured. The gap of £0.075m has been found from a 
reduction in two Early Help contracts as well as some secondment savings. Furthermore, monitoring of the 
Council's external residential placements estimates that £0.250m of the targeted £1.100m Savings target is 
unachieved. The Service has managed to reduce costs in this area through ongoing careful management of 
placements and efficiencies have been realised through joining the Birmingham and Worcestershire Fostering 
Frameworks. A further saving target of £0.060m against the Commissioned Early Help budget has only been 
partially achieved with £0.007m slipping to 2017/18.

An ongoing budget pressure of £0.525m caused by Agency Staffing costs in the social work teams has been 
identified. This pressure has reduced since 2015/16. The majority of Social Worker vacancies have now been 
recruited to, however some agency workers stayed in post for longer than expected due to the high number of 
newly qualified Social Workers now in post and as maternity/sickness cover. Additional temporary capacity was 
put into place to address high caseloads of social workers and to ensure that case records are complete and up 
to date which has resulted in an additional pressure of £0.041m. This in line with actions agreed in the Peer 
Review action plan. There is also an ongoing pressure relating to Leaving Care Allowances of £0.267m partly 
as a result of increased (national) policy emphasis on extended support for care leavers, this has reduced 
significantly following a team restructure which has in turn shifted some pressure into residential services, overall 
this should help realise efficiencies in 2017/2018.

This is partially offset by bringing forward 2017/18 proposed savings of £0.293m that has been achieved by a 
restructure of Children's Centres staffing, and £0.050m relating to the All in Community non-assessed short 
breaks contracts.  There are some smaller in year one-off savings on contracts and vacancy management offset 
by one-off in year monitoring pressure which net to an overspend of £0.038m.
Children’s Services 
Management

Portfolio Holder Children and 
Young People 913,440 916,282 2,842 G

Minor variation from budget at Outturn.



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

17

PLACE & ENTERPRISE Full year RAGY
 Budget Controllable 

Outturn
Controllable 

Variance
 

 £ £ £  
Total 79,411,150 78,931,920 (479,230) Y
 
Director of Place & Enterprise Portfolio Holder Leisure and 

Culture 729,510 727,781 (1,729) Y

Minor variation from budget at Outturn.
Director of Place & Enterprise Total 729,510 727,781 (1,729)

Head of Business Enterprise 
& Commercial Services

Portfolio Holder Corporate 
Support 135,260 133,966 (1,294) Y

Minor variation from budget at Outturn.
Corporate Landlord Portfolio Holder Corporate 

Support 925,890 2,084,011 1,158,121 R

Significant overspends in Corporate Landlord include unbudgeted rents, rent and service charge review 
pressures, increased costs of WAN across all properties and one-off repairs and maintenance costs.  The 
majority of the overspend in this area is offset by Strategic Asset Management underspends as below.
Strategic Asset Management Portfolio Holder Corporate 

Support 1,636,090 1,053,007 (583,083) Y

Underspends include staffing efficiencies, one-off income, solar photovoltaic income and in-year supplies and 
services savings made in order to offset pressures within Corporate Landlord.
Premises Services Portfolio Holder Corporate 

Support (16,380) (282,412) (266,032)

Significantly more income has been achieved than was budgeted for.  This has partly been offset by overspends 
on staffing and supplies and services, as some staff are funded through income generation.

Y

Theatre Services Portfolio Holder Leisure, 
Libraries and Culture 530,420 172,277 (358,143)

Net income significantly exceeded the budgeted level for a further successive year.

Y

Shire Services Portfolio Holder Corporate 
Support 881,940 881,940 0 G

Minor variation from budget at Outturn.
Business Enterprise & Commercial Services Total 4,093,220 4,042,789 (50,431) Y
 

Commissioning Support Portfolio Holder Corporate 
Support (6,290) (68,175) (61,885) Y

Underspends in the service area have been achieved due to a vacancy within the team and maternity leave, 
plus minor expenditure savings on supplies and services budgets.

Commissioning Support Total (6,290) (68,175) (61,885)
 
Procurement & Contracts Portfolio Holder Corporate 

Support 167,190 166,035 (1,155) Y

Minor variation from budget at Outturn.
Procurement & Contracts Total 167,190 166,035 (1,155)
 



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

18

PLACE & ENTERPRISE Full year RAGY
 Budget Controllable 

Outturn
Controllable 

Variance
 

 £ £ £  
Head of Economic 
Development

Portfolio Holder for Business 
and Economy 211,980 197,373 (14,607) Y

Minor variation from budget at Outturn.
Development Management Portfolio Holder Planning, 

Housing, Regulatory Services 
and Environment

105,960 (77,844) (183,804) Y

Income within Development Management, mainly relating to planning applications, land charges (searches) and 
the natural and historic team, exceeded the budgeted level, more than offsetting the additional costs incurred 
during the year to process the number of planning applications received.
Economic Growth Portfolio Holder for Business 

and Economy 826,210 811,896 (14,314) Y

Minor variation from budget at Outturn.
Broadband Portfolio Holder for Business 

and Economy 153,360 156,331 2,971 G

Minor variation from budget at Outturn.

Planning Policy Portfolio Holder Planning, 
Housing, Regulatory Services 
and Environment

518,390 469,125 (49,265) Y

The budgeted level of expenditure for the Strategic Plan review was not required within 2016/17.
Economic Development Total 1,815,900 1,556,881 (259,019) Y
 
Head of Infrastructure & 
Communities

Portfolio Holder Highways and 
Transportation 185,610 185,801 191 G

Minor variation from budget at Outturn.
Arts Portfolio Holder Leisure and 

Culture 95,230 79,085 (16,145) Y

Minor variation from budget at Outturn.

Community Working Portfolio Holder for Rural 
Services and Communities 822,660 814,621 (8,039) Y

Minor variation from budget at Outturn.

Environmental Maintenance Portfolio Holder Highways 
and Transportation 26,881,500 27,670,821 789,321 R

Significant unbudgeted costs were incurred for vehicle maintenance and procurement of the new highways 
tender, dealing with severe weather conditions, increased demand on reactive highways repairs and drainage, 
replacing safety barriers/ fencing being required as a result of road traffic accidents, and settlement of 
commercial claims on permit costs with the term maintenance contractor.

Highways & Transport Portfolio Holder Highways 
and Transportation 3,976,630 3,500,159 (476,471) Y

There are a number of variations within H&T, the largest being additional income within the Streetworks team.   
This income has more than offset the budget pressure within Public Transport, which has become particularly 
significant following the collapse of GHA coaches.  
Outdoor Partnerships Portfolio Holder Leisure and 

Culture 1,350,380 1,452,131 101,751 R

There are a number of variations, but mainly, additional staff costs were incurred whilst the restructure was 
finalised, increased income targets were not achieved in full, and a contribution of £60k was made to capital 



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

19

PLACE & ENTERPRISE Full year RAGY
 Budget Controllable 

Outturn
Controllable 

Variance
 

 £ £ £  
resources to deliver improvements at Severn Valley Country Park aimed at increasing revenue income in future 
years.
Leisure Portfolio Holder Leisure and 

Culture 3,386,210 3,400,784 14,574 G

Minor variation from budget at Outturn.
Libraries Portfolio Holder Leisure and 

Culture 3,662,450 3,938,596 276,146 R

One-off overspends have been incurred in 2016/17 due to the delay in the achievement of the savings resulting 
from the management and administration staff restructure and the reduction in library opening hours.  The 
restructure and reduction to opening hours have now been implemented, with full year savings being achieved 
from 2017/18.
Locality Commissioning Portfolio Holder for Rural 

Services and Communities 490,230 455,780 (34,450) Y

The cost of room hire for the locally commissioned youth activities was less than the budget available.
Passenger Transport Portfolio Holder Highways 

and Transportation 643,540 747,832 104,292 R

The variance relates to service reorganisation redundancy costs that were funded by the service area rather 
than by corporate resources.
Visitor Economy Portfolio Holder Leisure and 

Culture 1,653,620 1,695,476 41,856 G

One-off overspends have been incurred due to the delay in the achievement of savings within the service.  A 
staff restructure has taken place within the year, resulting in full year savings being achieved from 2017/18.
Waste Portfolio Holder Planning, 

Housing, Regulatory Services 
and Environment

29,463,560 28,565,525 (898,035) Y

Examination of the 2015/16 annual reconciliation has identified several areas of expenditure where the rebate 
due to the council is greater than originally forecast.  The final value of the reconciliation is yet to be resolved.  
Added to this is the significant underspend on NNDR compared with the available budget, following the recent 
rates assessment for the Energy Recovery Facility.  Thirdly, draft details of the 2016/17 annual reconciliation 
have been received, reporting that 2016/17 has been an exceptional year of low landfill tonnage and higher 
than forecast third party use of the Energy Recovery Facility, both of which result in a greater rebate due to the 
council than anticipated.
Infrastructure & Communities Total 72,611,620 72,506,610 (105,010) Y

PUBLIC HEALTH Full year RAGY
 Budget Controllable 

Outturn
Controllable 

Variance
 

 £ £ £  
Total 6,963,120 6,549,802 (413,318) Y

Coroners & Bereavement Portfolio Holder Health & 
Wellbeing 187,600 188,365 765 G

Minor variations

Multi Agency Portfolio Holder Health & 
Wellbeing 1,004,210 1,094,626 90,416 A

£0.020m historic pressure on Drugs and alcohol, £0.022m underspend on Emergency planning, £0.040m 
overspend on Links as lower than expected Specific Grant received, £47k overspend on Community Safety 
which is resolved on an ongoing basis through voluntary redundancy.,
Public Health Portfolio Holder Health & 385,330 385,331 1 G



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

20

PUBLIC HEALTH Full year RAGY
 Budget Controllable 

Outturn
Controllable 

Variance
 

 £ £ £  
Wellbeing

This includes the ring-fenced public health services funded by DoH grant.   Because this grant is ring-fenced 
overspend and underspend positions are being dealt with through the use of the Public Health reserve to 
ensure a balanced budget. There are still ongoing issues with the CCG regarding FP10 (Prescribing form) and 
Falls Prevention costs.
Public Protection Portfolio Holder Health & 

Wellbeing 5,156,560 4,721,478 (435,082) Y

Underspend mainly due to increased enforcement and grant income of £0.201m, staffing efficiencies of 
£0.276m and a contribution to Reserves of £0.050m.
Registrars Portfolio Holder Health & 

Wellbeing 229,420 160,002 (69,418) Y

£0.110m income achieved over budget offset by additional salary costs required to deliver services of £0.065m 
and an underspend on working budgets of £0.024m.

RESOURCES & SUPPORT Full year RAGY
 Budget Controllable 

Outturn
Controllable 

Variance
 £ £ £
Total 2,924,030 2,128,058 (795,972) Y

Customer Involvement Portfolio Holder Corporate 
Support 180,700 532,780 352,080 R

The delayed savings within Customer Access of £0.228m and income shortfall of £0.099m were mostly resolved 
from planned savings of £0.267m within Benefits, SLA Performance and Customer Services.  The outstanding 
savings of £0.060m will be achieved in the next financial year.  Savings in relation to the Credit Union Contract 
of £0.061m have been delayed and alternatives are being investigated.  Additional savings of £0.168m have 
been identified in relation to staffing and general expenditure across Marketing & Engagement and Service 
Management, which were offset against pressures within IT Services.  

Budget pressures within IT Services continued to be experienced, these relate to the delayed savings expected 
from the Lync rollout of £0.120m, licensing pressures resulting in an overspend £0.573m. These pressures were 
partly offset by in-year savings of £0.205m from reduced system costs and £0.094m from vacancy management 
and traded income. The forecast shortfall relating to Schools IT SLA buy back has been resolved in year from 
one off income of £0.192m.  

Pressures within the costs of the MFD Fleet of £0.053m and Print Unit of £0.048m. Additional spending of 
£0.492m was approved within IT services to fund key upgrades to the current ICT Infrastructure and to enhance 
Disaster Recovery/Business Continuity services; that is required until the Digital Transformation Project identifies 
and delivers the long term solution, of this spend £0.373m were agreed to be funded via the Capital programme.
Finance, Governance & 
Assurance

Portfolio Holder Strategy, 
Financial Strategy, Budget 
and Business Plan

1,698,400 1,265,117 (433,283) Y

Pressures within Revenues & Benefits of £0.231m were offset against additional one-off grant income not 
budgeted for £0.108m, staffing efficiencies £0.179m and further savings on expenditure of £0.055m. Year end 
transactions around Housing Benefits recovery of costs and bad debt identified a further £0.265m which was 
offset by a late adjustment to Housing Benefit Expenditure of £0.129m There were reported overspends on 
general expenditure of £0.047m and further underspends from staffing efficiencies of £0.150m across variance 
teams within Finance. Budgets of (£0.091m) were identified as surplus to requirements in year.
Human Resources & 
Development

Portfolio Holder Corporate 
Support 202,250 (111,016) (313,266) Y



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

21

RESOURCES & SUPPORT Full year RAGY
 Budget Controllable 

Outturn
Controllable 

Variance
 £ £ £
Total 2,924,030 2,128,058 (795,972) Y

Savings across H&S and Occupational Health were due to vacancy management £0.036m were realised 
alongside small supplies and services underspends.

HR&D Service overspends in relation to Learning Management System £0.011m and unachieved savings 
targets of £0.102m were offset by one-off in year monitoring savings, additional income from a secured external 
contract and vacancy management efficiencies totalling £0.095m. Additional income was secured at year end 
from external contracts of £0.037m.

One off savings within the Communication and Business Design Team of £0.165m were achieved through 
additional work secured on an existing contract generating an additional income of £0.027m. Vacancy 
management efficiencies of £0.062m through not back filling maternity leave and vacancies not being filled 
throughout the year with the remainder from budgets identified as surplus to requirements.   
Legal, Democratic & Strategy Portfolio Holder Corporate 

Support 527,330 345,443 (181,887) Y

Underspends of £0.018m within Committee Services arose from vacancy management efficiencies and 
underspends on supplies and services costs.  A further £0.059m was identified within Members Services as 
budgets surplus to requirements.  

Elections Services was showing a pressure of £0.051 on Supplies and Services, mainly due to increased postage 
costs of £0.074m offset by small underspends within the Team and surplus budgets totalling (£0.023m). 
Additional grant was received of £0.081m regarding IER at year end which offset the overspends within supplies 
and services.  

Overspend within Legal services resulted from increased disbursement costs of £0.020m were offset by vacancy 
management efficiencies of £0.048m and some additional income and small underspends across the service of 
£0.037m.  Child Care underspent by £0.060m.
Strategic Management Board Portfolio Holder Strategy, 

Financial Strategy, Budget 
and Business Plan

315,350 95,733 (219,617) Y

Vacancy management savings were identified across the service to the total of £0.203m. Other small 
expenditure budget savings were identified also.

CORPORATE Full year RAGY
 Budget Controllable 

Outturn
Controllable 

Variance
 £ £ £
Total (22,023,750) (22,344,614) (320,864) Y

Corporate Budgets Portfolio Holder Strategy, 
Financial Strategy, Budget 
and Business Plan

(22,023,750) (22,344,614) (320,864) Y

Within corporate budgets, there was a £0.377m reduction in MRP identified as well as a combination of an 
increase of interest receivable and decrease of interest payable resulting in a further £0.122m saving. Budgets 
of £0.508m in relation to both MRP and Treasury Management were identified as surplus to requirement in year. 
There were staffing efficiencies of £0.091m and unused budget for Audit Fees of £0.205m. Overspends on 
various expenditure lines amounted to £0.164m which included an increase in the bad debt provision.

At year end budgets relating to inflation and expected corporate expenditure were confirmed as surplus to 
requirements, totalling £0.854m, and additional grant income was confirmed of £0.327m. The Council’s Invest 



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

22

CORPORATE Full year RAGY
 Budget Controllable 

Outturn
Controllable 

Variance
 £ £ £
to Save Reserve has been utilised over the year and resultant savings are expected to flow through into the 
revenue budget. An allocation of £2m to the Invest to Save Reserve in 2016/17 has been made within the 
corporate budget to enable the continuation of this work, linking to the Council’s newly adopted Commerciality 
Strategy. 

Appendix 2
Housing Revenue Account 2016/17

            
    Variance  



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

23

 Outturn (pre Audit)    Adverse/  
  Budget  Outturn  (Favourable)  
  £  £  £  
            
       

 Income       
 Dwellings Rent  (17,460,000)   (17,771,888)   (311,888)  
 Garage Rent  (152,530)   (154,262)   (1,732)  
 Other Rent  (20,600)   (19,486)   1,114  
 Charges for Services  (386,660)   (449,821)   (63,161)  
 Total Income  (18,019,790)   (18,395,457)   (375,667)  
       

 Expenditure      
ALMO Management Fee 7,511,030   7,511,027   (3)
Supplies and Services 337,470   331,171   (6,299)

 Capital Charges - Dwelling Depreciation  4,542,470   3,377,320   (1,165,150)  
 Capital Charges - Depreciation Other  43,030   171,460   128,430  
 Interest Paid  2,994,860   2,993,361   (1,499)  

Repairs charged to revenue 500,000   501,919   1,919
New development feasibility 100,000   105,463   5,463

 Increase in Bad Debt Provision  50,000   50,000   0  
 Corporate & Democratic Core  173,030   204,310   31,280  
 Total Expenditure  16,251,890   15,246,032   (1,005,858)  
       

 Net Cost of Services  (1,767,900)   (3,149,425)   (1,381,525)  
       
 Interest on Balances  (23,000)   (58,572)   (35,572)  
 Net Operating Expenditure  (1,790,900)   (3,207,997)   (1,417,097)  
       

 Net Cost of Service  (1,790,900)   (3,207,997)   (1,417,097)  
       
       
 HRA Reserve      
 B/fwd 1 April  5,823,223   5,823,223    
 Surplus/(Deficit) for year  1,790,900   3,207,997   
 Carried Forward 31 March  7,614,924   9,031,220    
            

Earmarked Reserves for the HRA

Purpose of Balance

Balance 
Brought 
Forward
(£’000)

Expenditure 
in 2016/17 

(£’000)

Income in 
2016/17 
(£’000)

Balance 
Carried 
Forward
(£’000)

HRA Earmarked Reserves

Major Repairs Reserve 
Required to meet the costs of major 
repairs to be undertaken on the Council’s 
housing stock.

2,803 (3,982) 3,548 2,369

Total 2,803 (3,982) 3,548 2,369



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

24

Appendix 3

Amendments to Original Budget 2016/17

Total Adult 
Services

Children’s 
Services

Place & 
Enterprise*

Public 
Health

Resources 
& Support

Corporate

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Original Budget as agreed 
by Council 204,527 86,330 50,535 81,082 1,807 6,294 (21,521)

Quarter 1
Inflation for LETS 0 0 76 0 0 0 (76)

Realignment of Commercial 
Services budget 0 0 0 0 0 47 (47)

Other minor changes 0 0 27 (13) 0 (18) 4

Quarter 2
Transfer of Commercial 
Services and Public 
Protection, as part of 
realignment of services 
under renaming 
Commissioning to Place & 
Enterprise

0 0 0 (1,775) 5,175 (3,400) 0

Transfer of Occupational 
Therapist posts 0 87 (87) 0 0 0 0

Quarter 3
Transfer of SPARC grant 
budget from Corporate to 
Leisure

30 (30)

Transfer of post from 
Planning Policy to Housing

22 (22)

Realignment of budget for 
Commercial Services 
following transfer to Place 
& Enterprise

91 (91)

Quarter 4
Transfer of two posts from 
Public Protection into 
Planning .  

18 (18)

Removal of unachievable 
County Training saving 
following their 
externalisation.

263 (263)

Revised Budget 204,527 86,439 50,814 79,411 6,964 2,923 (22,024)
* Commissioning renamed Place & Enterprise from Quarter 2.



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

25

Appendix 4
Reserves and Provisions 2016/17

Balance 
Brought 
Forward

Balance 
Carried 
Forward Purpose of Balance

(£’000)

Transfer 
Balance 
Between 
Reserves

(£'000)

Expenditure 
in 2016/17 

(£’000)

Income in 
2016/17 
(£’000)

Confirmed 
Release
(£'000)

Conditional 
Release
(£'000)

(£’000)
Reserves         
Sums set aside for major schemes, such as capital developments, or to fund major reorganisation

Redundancy 
Required to meet one-off costs arising from approved 
staffing reductions, allowing the full approved savings 
in salaries or wages to reach the revenue account.

6,973 0 (2) 2 0 (6,973) 0

Revenue Commitments 
for Future Capital 
Expenditure 

Comprises of underspends against budgeted revenue 
contributions available for capital schemes.  The 
underspends have arisen due to slippage in capital 
schemes or because other funding streams were 
utilised during the year so as to maximise time limited 
grants.

646 0 (269) 3,513 0 0 3,889

Development Reserve Required to fund development projects or training that 
will deliver efficiency savings. 6,175 (1,490) 0 556 0 (3,500) 1,740

Invest to save Reserve Required to fund invest to save projects in order to 
deliver the service transformation programme. 0 1,490 0 2,352 0 (500) 3,342

University
Required to meet the revenue costs arising from the 
setup of the university project and student 
accommodation development.

244 0 (48) 0 0 0 197

  14,037 0 (319) 6,422 0 (10,973) 9,168
Insurance Reserves        

Fire Liability Required to meet the cost of excesses on all council 
properties. 2,434 0 0 352 0 0 2,786

Motor Insurance  
An internally operated self-insurance reserve to meet 
costs not covered by the Council’s Motor Insurance 
Policy.

977 0 0 88 0 0 1,064

  3,411 0 0 439 0 0 3,850



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

26

 Purpose of Balance

Balance 
Brought 
Forward

Transfer 
Balance 
Between 
Reserves

(£'000)

Expenditure 
in 2016/17 

(£’000)

Income in 
2016/17 
(£’000)

Confirmed 
Release
(£'000)

Conditional 
Release
(£'000)

Balance 
Carried 
Forward

(£’000) (£’000)
Reserves of trading and business units        
 Shire Catering and 
Cleaning Efficiency  

Built up from trading surpluses to invest in new 
initiatives, to meet exceptional unbudgeted costs or 
cover any trading deficits.

607 0 (103) 130 0 0 635

  607 0 (103) 130 0 0 635
Reserves retained for service departmental use        

Building Control Required to manage the position regarding building 
control charges. 0 0 0 76 0 0 76

Care Act Reserve

Required to fund the costs of implementing the Care 
Act requirements within the Council. This will be 
committed to the costs of one off posts required to 
implement the changes and training costs for staff 
within Adult Services.

500 0 0 0 (216) 0 284

Economic Development 
Workshops Major 
Maintenance 

Established to meet the costs of major maintenance 
of Economic Development Workshops. 380 0 0 20 (240) 0 160

External Fund Reserve Reserves held where the Council is the administering 
body for trust funds or partnership working. 0 466 (44) 67 0 0 489

Financial Strategy 
Reserve

Established specifically to provide one off funding for 
savings proposals in the Financial Strategy 9,805 9,146 (23,951) 14,850 5,409 13,342 28,601

Highways Development 
& Innovation Fund

Set aside funds for pump priming the Development 
and Innovation programme agreed within the Ringway 
Contract.

492 0 (65) 90 0 0 517

Major Planning 
Inquiries 

This reserve has now been closed by transferring the 
balance to the General Fund.  Any future 
requirements to fund major planning inquiries will be 
managed with reference to the general fund provision. 

504 (504) 0 0 0 0 0

New Homes Bonus Established from unapplied New Homes Bonus Grant 
balances. 5,547 (9,146) (832) 9,219 0 0 4,788

Planning Reserve This reserve as been closed as it is no longer 
required. 1,147 0 0 0 (1,147) 0 0



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

27

 Purpose of Balance

Balance 
Brought 
Forward

Transfer 
Balance 
Between 
Reserves

(£'000)

Expenditure 
in 2016/17 

(£’000)

Income in 
2016/17 
(£’000)

Confirmed 
Release
(£'000)

Conditional 
Release
(£'000)

Balance 
Carried 
Forward

(£’000) (£’000)

Public Health Reserve This reserve includes balances committed to specific 
public health projects. 2,152 0 (149) 70 (1,000) 0 1,073

Repairs & Maintenance 
Reserve

Set aside for known repairs and maintenance 
required to Council owned properties. 1,421 0 0 40 0 0 1,461

Resources Efficiency 

Established for investment in new developments, 
particularly information technology, that service area 
would not be expected to meet from their internal 
service level agreements for support services.

3,662 (356) (1,654) 1,837 (379) (2,369) 740

Revenue Commitments 
from Unringfenced 
Revenue Grants

Established from unapplied unringfenced Grant 
balances. Commitments have been made against 
these balances in 2017/18.

3,763 (110) (1,416) 782 (1,672) 0 1,348

Severe Weather 

Required to meet unbudgeted costs arising from the 
damage caused by severe weather. The policy of the 
Council is to budget for an average year’s expenditure 
in the revenue accounts and transfer any underspend 
to the reserve or fund any overspend from the 
reserve.

3,151 0 (996) 0 0 0 2,155

Shropshire Waste 
Partnership 
(Smoothing)

The PFI smoothing reserve has now been closed.  
Step changes in the unitary charge will be managed 
in year. 

389 0 0 0 (389) 0 0

Theatre Severn R&M 
The Theatre Severn R&M reserve has now been 
closed with future R&M requirements to be managed 
in year. 

29 0 0 0 (29) 0 0

TMO Vehicle 
Replacement 

Set up to meet the costs of replacement vehicles by 
the Integrated Transport Unit.  638 0 0 0 (338) 0 300

  33,579 (504) (29,107) 27,052 0 10,973 41,993
School Balances        

Balances held by 
schools under a 
scheme of delegation

Schools’ balances have to be ringfenced for use by 
schools and schools have the right to spend those 
balances at their discretion.

7,173 0 (7,271) 6,378 0 0 6,280

Education – Staff 
Sickness Insurance 

Schools’ self-help insurance for staff sickness with 
premiums met from delegated budgets. 187 0 (187) 0 0 0 0



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

28

 Purpose of Balance

Balance 
Brought 
Forward

Transfer 
Balance 
Between 
Reserves

(£'000)

Expenditure 
in 2016/17 

(£’000)

Income in 
2016/17 
(£’000)

Confirmed 
Release
(£'000)

Conditional 
Release
(£'000)

Balance 
Carried 
Forward

(£’000) (£’000)
Education – Theft 
Insurance 

Schools’ self-help insurance scheme to cover 
equipment damage and losses. 98 0 (34) 4 0 0 68

Schools Building 
Maintenance Insurance 

The schools building maintenance insurance scheme 
is a service provided by Property Services for 
schools.  In return for an annual sum all structural 
repairs and maintenance responsibilities previously 
identified as the "authority’s responsibility" are carried 
out at no additional charge to the school.

1,749 0 (25) 142 0 0 1,866

  9,206 0 (7,516) 6,523 0 0 8,213
         

Total Reserves  60,841 (504) (37,044) 40,566 0 0 63,859

         

Provisions
Provisions - Short Term

Accumulated Absences 
Account

Provision to cover potential future payments of 
employee benefits not taken as at the end of the year. 
This is required under IFRS accounting regulations.

2,165 0 (2,165) 2,488   2,488

Redundancy Provision
Provides for redundancy costs that the Council is 
committed to from issuing redundancy notices prior to 
31st March 2017.

143 0 (143) 0   0

Other Provisions - 
Short Term

Includes a number of small provisions including NNDR 
liability on car parks and a liability within Planning 
Services.

401 0 (401) 0 0 0 0

Provisions - Long Term
Other Provisions - Long 
Term

Includes a number of small provisions including S106 
Accrued Interest and Profit share agreements. 343 0 (46) 0 0 0 297

Liability Insurance  Provision to meet the estimated actuarial valuation of 
claims for public liability and employers’ liability 3,928  (364) 0   3,564



Cabinet, 21st June 2017: Financial Outturn 2016/17 (Revised)

29

 Purpose of Balance

Balance 
Brought 
Forward

Transfer 
Balance 
Between 
Reserves

(£'000)

Expenditure 
in 2016/17 

(£’000)

Income in 
2016/17 
(£’000)

Confirmed 
Release
(£'000)

Conditional 
Release
(£'000)

Balance 
Carried 
Forward

(£’000) (£’000)

NDR Appeals Represents the Council’s share of the provision held 
for successful appeals against business rates. 4,571 0 (2,543) 1,297   3,324

Council Tax Bad Debt Held for potential write offs of Council tax debtor 
balances. 3,610 0 (208) 711   4,113

NNDR Bad Debt Held for potential write offs of NNDR debtor balances. 837 0 (290) 340   887

Tenancy Deposit 
Clawbacks

This represents deposits held for the economic 
development workshops that may be repaid at some 
point in the future.

125  (10) 26   142

General Fund Bad 
Debts

Held for potential write offs of debtor balances for 
General Fund Services including Housing Benefits. 5,660 0 (847) 1,607 0 0 6,420

HRA Bad Debts
Held for potential write offs of debtor balances for 
Housing Revenue Account rents and other debtor 
balances.

354  (13) 50   391

Total Provisions  22,137 0 (7,030) 6,519 0 0 21,626

Total Reserves & Provisions 82,977 (504) (44,073) 47,085 0 0 85,485

         
HRA Earmarked Reserves        

Major Repairs Reserve Required to meet the costs of major repairs to be 
undertaken on the Council’s housing stock. 2,803  (3,982) 3,548   2,369

  2,803 0 (3,982) 3,548   2,369





Committee and Date

Cabinet 

21st June 2017

Quarter 4 Performance Report 2016/17

Responsible: Tom Dodds, Performance Manager

e-mail: tom.dodds@shropshire.gov.uk 01743 253068

1.  Summary

1.1 This report presents Cabinet with the Council’s Performance against its key 
Outcomes for Quarter 4 2016/17.

1.2 The Corporate Plan and the High Level Outcomes provide the shape and focus of 
the updated Performance Management Framework. The measures in the 
framework will be refined as the strategic action plans for the coming 12 to 18 
months set out how the outcomes will be delivered. 

The new framework will include project milestones from the strategic action plans 
to help demonstrate the change being delivered.

1.3 The new framework is presented with four key outcome areas: Healthy People, 
Prosperous Economy, Resilient Communities and Your Council. The range of 
performance measures covers a broader range of service areas than previously 
reported. 

1.4 As part of developing the new Performance Management Framework and reporting 
of additional measures, a different way of presenting performance information is 
now being developed. The online performance portal has been to be used in 
conjunction with this report, and can be accessed here -   

https://shropshireperformance.inphase.com/ 

1.5 This is the first stage of improving access to performance information and that of 
data transparency. Member and user feedback will help to inform further 
development of performance information, which will form part of the new IT system 
developments. 

mailto:tom.dodds@shropshire.gov.uk
https://shropshireperformance.inphase.com/


2.  Recommendations

Members are asked to:
 

A. Consider the key underlying and emerging issues in the reports and 
appendices.

B. Review the performance portal and identify any performance areas that they 
would like to consider in greater detail or refer to the appropriate Scrutiny 
Committee.

REPORT

3.  Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal 

3.1 Poor performance could have implications for vulnerable people (including 
children) who are supported by Council services and economic growth in 
Shropshire. In turn, there may be significant financial, legal and reputational risk to 
the Council, Schools (and Academies), and partners from across the public and 
voluntary and independent care sectors.  

3.2 Effective monitoring and follow-up against key measures of success provides the 
opportunity to manage risks and ensure that Children and Young People and 
vulnerable adults in Shropshire remain safe and achieve the desired outcomes. 
Increasingly, performance reporting will reflect the impact of commissioning 
decisions by the Council, linking directly with the management of contracts and 
building on the current approach of looking at how effective the Council is at 
delivering its outcomes.  

4.  Financial Implications

4.1 This report does not have any direct financial implications, but presents service 
and financial information to support decision making. Accountable officers and 
senior managers may use the information to inform actions or interventions for 
improving service performance and the prioritisation and use of resources.

4.2 Full financial details are presented as part of the Financial Reports.

5. Introduction 

Each of the four outcome areas contains a number of sub-outcomes with a range 
of associated performance measures. The frequency of the availability of the data 
varies from monthly and quarterly updates to annual updates. All measures, 
regardless of frequency will be available on the performance portal to improve 
accessibility to information. 

Quarterly cabinet reports will be used to highlight performance exceptions and 
changes to measures reported annually. 



6. Healthy People 

The sub outcomes for Healthy People are; Improving Public Health, Keeping 
People Safe, Participation in Positive Activities for Health and Well-being. 

6.1 Measures for Improving Public Health are mainly updated annually and will be 
reported as and when new data becomes available. The rate of hip fractures in 
people aged 65+  has reduced from 619 2014/15 to 589 in 2015/16; which is the 
same rate as the England average, previously we have been above the national 
average (lower is good performance).

The rate of hospital admissions for alcohol specific conditions has increased from 
591 in 2014/15 to 621 in 2015/16, this is still below the England average of 647.

The rate of hospital admissions (15-24 years old) has remained stable from 125.9 
2014/15 to 125.4 2015/16; this is below the England average of 134.1.

 6.2 Participation in positive activities is beneficial for both physical and mental well-
being.  Participation rates have been mainly been positive with increased visitors to 
leisure centres, outdoor recreation sites, visitor attractions, Theatre Severn and the 
Old Market Hall.

The Theatre Severn and the Old Market Hall Cinema joint attendance reached 
249,834 during 2016/17 the highest recorded attendance, a 5.7% combined 
increase on last year. The Theatre Severn achieved a 9.25% increase on the 
previous  year.

There has been a slight reduction in visitors to Libraries which is in keeping with 
national trends. There has also been a slight decline to visitor attractions, this can 
be partially attributed to Easter being later and falling into the quarter 1 period of 
2017/18.  

6.3 Keeping safe measures show that food and drink premises in Shropshire continue 
to maintain high food safety standards. 99.5% of premises are rated as generally 
satisfactory or higher. 

6.4 As identified and detailed in previous cabinet reports the number of people killed or 
seriously injured has continued to increase. As such this has been identified as a 
potential topic for a more detailed review by a Scrutiny committee. 

7. Prosperous Economy 

The sub outcomes for Prosperous Economy are; Physical and Digital 
Infrastructure, Employment and Income, Educational Achievement. 

7.1 Being young and unemployed can lead to an increase in the risk of poverty, de-
skilling and social exclusion as well as cause loss of motivation and mental health 
problems. Current rate of claimants for Job Seekers Allowance or Universal Credit 
actively seeking work in Shropshire is below the regional and national averages. The 
claimant count for young people (aged 18 – 24) saw a continued reduction from the 



peak in February 2013 when there were 1370 claimants. Since June 2015, there has 
been a levelling of claims. There was a slight increase following Brexit, but numbers 
have now returned to previous levels. The figures during 2016/17 have remained 
fairly stable, the figure has declined when compared to the same period last year.

7.2 The latest highways survey results shows a 1.4% increase of non principal classified 
roads where maintenance should be considered. This increase is at the upper end 
of the survey tolerance and has been raised with the asset management steering 
group.  The survey data is used to develop and prioritise planned road maintenance 
and resurfacing schedules.

The data has been analysed and a number of possible causes for the increase 
have been highlighted including random variation in the survey, bias and actual 
degradation of the network. 

The service is maintaining its concern about the indicator. The subsequent survey 
for 2017/18 will confirm whether survey error/bias or actual condition is responsible 
for the change.

Shropshire Council maintains 5,200km of road and has a very low spend per km of 
road and per head of population when compared to all of the other unitary 
authorities in England. 

A number of key performance indicators relating to customer satisfaction are 
measured annually through the annual National Highways and Transport (NHT) 
survey. Latest results from this survey show that despite funding reductions the 
overall satisfaction with highway services has been maintained. 

8. Resilient Communities 

The sub outcomes for Resilient Communities are; Support for Families and 
Keeping Children Safe, Volunteering, Keeping Communities Clean, People are 
Supported to Stay in their Local Communities, Adults Entering Paid for Care and 
Adult Social Care - User Feedback.   

8.1 The number of children looked after by the authority has remained stable 
throughout the current year. Overall, during the course of 2016/17 we have 
accommodated 120 children and discharged 113, which is a net increase of seven 
children. Although there has been a slight increase in March overall the figures 
have stabilised during 2016/17.

It is important to reaffirm that our Looked After Children strategy is not about 
reducing the number of children in care, but is about ensuring the right children are 
in care, at the right time and for the right duration. As evidenced by our reducing 
section 20 (legal status for children entering care) by providing care and support 
packages to keep children safely in the family home.

8.2 The rate of children with a Child Protection Plan (CPP) have remained stable 
during the current year. Work continues to ensure that each child who is made the 
subject of child protection plan has an appropriate plan to meet their circumstances 
at the right time. 



The annual rate of children becoming subject to a Child Protection Plan (CPP) for 
year ending March 2017 is 40.8; this has now fallen below the latest available rates 
for the national average and for Statistical Neighbours average.

The overall aim of a Child Protection Plan is to ensure the child is safe and prevent 
him or her from suffering further harm. Numbers of Children with a Child Protection 
Plan are continually monitored to ensure children have the right support to promote 
welfare, health and development. 

8.3 The rate of permanent admissions of adults aged 18-64 and 65+ into residential or 
nursing homes is lower (better) than the profile and lower than previous years. 
 The service is committed to enabling people to remain in their homes and 
maintain a decent quality of life for as long as possible. The service also confirms 
that it assesses the needs of each person to ensure that the right service is 
provided at the right time ensuring that residential and nursing care is provided at 
the most appropriate time. 

8.4 Delayed transfer of care from hospital is recorded by two methods. The number of 
delayed patients at a specific time of the month and the total number of days that 
all patients are delayed. The organisation deemed to be the primary cause of the 
delay is attributed to either the NHS, Adult Social Care or Joint responsibility. 

The key measures used in the national Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework 
(ASCOF) is the number of delayed patients. The snapshot count of delayed 
patients takes place at midnight on the last Thursday of the month. 

As previously reported, performance in Shropshire started to decline in 2014. 
Performance from April 2016 to March 2017 shows a rate of 10.02 per 100,000 
people or 25 people where delays are attributed to Adult Social Care. This 
compares to a rate of 8.54 or 21 people for the same period in 2015/16. 

From May 2016, there has been wide monthly variances in performance. Relatively 
small numbers can cause these variations. October saw the lowest level of 
delayed patients for 18 months. These early positive signs following the winter 
health initiatives were reversed in November with an increase in delays at the 
Shropshire Community Health Trust. There are some signs that the rate of 
increase has stabilised but this will be monitored when new data is published. 

More detailed trend information was presented to the Health and Adult Social Care 
Scrutiny Committee on 30th January 2017.  

8.5      Results of the 2016-17 carers survey and the 2016-17 user survey are awaited 
and are expected to be reported as part of the quarter 2 17/18 report. The 
measures tracked in the corporate framework show an overall improvement. 
Quality of life, social contact, feeling safe all showed an improvement whilst control 
over daily life saw a slight decrease but remains in line with other authorities.  
  

9. Your Council 

9.1 The projected revenue forecast spend for the year, at Quarter 4, shows a potential 
underspend of £1.032m against the end of year gross budget of £568.8m (net 
budget of £204.5m). Full details of the revenue budget are reported to Cabinet 
separately in the Revenue Monitoring Report.



9.2 The number of non-school FTE employees has continued to reduce. From March 
2016 to March 2017, there has been a reduction from 2661 to 2474, a reduction of 
7%.

10.  Conclusion

10.1 This performance report provides an update on the results achieved and the 
impact on delivering the outcomes for Shropshire.  

10.2 Performance during the year of 2016/17 has generally been positive with continued 
improvements or stabilisation of performance. 

 The number of looked after children by the authority has continued to 
remain stable.

 Combined attendance at Theatre Severn and the Old Market Hall has 
reached the highest ever figure of nearly a quarter of a million visits.

 Permanent admissions to residential care was better than the expected 
profile. 

In addition to these improvements there are confirmed challenges to be faced, and 
these are being managed by the relevant service areas. 

 Delayed transfer of care remains a key area of focus

 The number of people killed or seriously injured has continued to increase, 
as such this has been identified as a potential topic for a more detailed 
review by Scrutiny.

 The latest survey of road conditions of non principal roads have seen a 
deterioration in condition. The next round of surveys will help to determine if 
this is a potential longer-term trend. 

 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does 
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)
Business Plan and Financial Strategy 2014 – 2017
Draft Corporate Plan 2016/17 – 2018/19

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)
Cllr Steve Charmley - Portfolio Holder for Corporate Support

Local Member
All

Appendices 
https://shropshireperformance.inphase.com/ 

https://shropshireperformance.inphase.com/


Committee and Date

21 June 2017

Item

Public

Community Right to Bid: Process Amendment

Responsible Officer Tim Smith – Head of Business Enterprise and Commercial 
Services

e-mail: tim.smith@shropshire.gov.uk Tel: 01743 258676 Fax  

1. Summary

The Localism Act 2011 introduced a range of new community rights including the 
Community Right to Bid, which commenced September 2012.  This gives local 
community groups, voluntary bodies and town and parish councils the opportunity to 
nominate land and buildings that further the social interest or wellbeing of a local 
community.  Examples of this include parks and open spaces, sports and leisure 
centres, village shops, village pubs, libraries and heritage sites.

Successful nominations are maintained in a list of assets of community value and in 
the event of a proposed sale of a nominated asset a community organisation has a 
6-month opportunity to raise capital and bid to acquire the asset.

Minor amendments to the process are now proposed to ensure it is efficient and 
effective.

2. Recommendations

2.1. That Cabinet approves the amendments to the Community Right to Bid 
process.

2.1.1  Remove “Constituted Community / Voluntary Group from the list of 
organisation’ that can nominate (this type is not a qualifying organisation 
under the Legislation).  This type of body could come under the 
“unincorporated” body provided it meets the requirements of this definition.

2.1.2   Request more detailed information from the nominator, Parish Council and 
Community Enablement Officer (to enable more effective and efficient 
consideration of whether the asset should be listed as an Asset of 
Community Value).

The amended nomination form is attached as Appendix 1.



Meeting, date:  Report heading

2

REPORT

3. Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

There are no perceived risks in making the proposed minor amendments to the 
Community Right to Bid process.
The proposed amendments have been developed following officer review and 
community feedback on the current process. 

4. Financial Implications

There are no financial implications associated with the proposed amendments.

5. Background

5.1 The Localism Act 2011 came into effect in November 2011 and contained a 
number of Community Rights including the Community Right to Bid.  Theis 
Community Right was introduced on 21.09.12 following approval of the Assets of 
Community Value (England) Regulations 2012 by Parliament earlier in the month.  
Non-statutory guidance on the implementation of the Community Right to Bid was 
issued by DCLG on 04.10.12.

5.2 The Community Right to Bid gives opportunity to communities to nominate 
Assets of Community Value (ACV).  If the nominated land or property is included 
within the List of Assets of Community Value, the legislation imposes a 6 month 
moratorium on the owner of the nominated asset.  This will potentially prevent 
them from selling the asset for up to 6-months to give the community an 
opportunity to prepare a bid to purchase the asset.  There are however no 
obligations on the owner to accept the bid from a community interest group for 
the asset.

5.3 The definition of an Asset of Community Value is where its main use must further 
the social interest or wellbeing of the local community and it must be realistic to 
think that such a use can continue.  Social interest includes cultural, recreational or 
sporting interests.  A suggested definition of social wellbeing is those economic, 
social or environmental things that people value in their life and contributes to them 
reaching their potential.

5.4 The definition is also retrospective in that it can also apply to land or a property that 
was used in the recent past to further the social interest or wellbeing of the local 
community and it is realistic to think that it can be brought back into use in the next 
five years to achieve the social interest or wellbeing of the community.

5.5 The implementation of this Community Right is passed to those authorities who 
are designated as local planning authorities in England, therefore Shropshire 
Council has this responsibility. 



Meeting, date:  Report heading

3

5.6 There are three key parts of the implementation of this Community right; the listing 
of the asset, the appeals procedure and the proposed sale of the asset; and those 
are explained in more detail in the next sections.

The listing of Assets of Community Value

5.7 Only specific organisations are able to nominate an Asset of Community Value.  
Shropshire Council is not permitted to make nominations.
Those organisations are specified within the regulations and set out below:

A. A body designated as a neighbourhood forum
B. A parish council
C. An unincorporated body whose members include at least 21 individuals, with a 

local connection and does not distribute any surplus it makes to its members
D. A charity
E. A company limited by guarantee, which does not distribute any surplus it 

makes to its members
F. An industrial or provident society, which does not distribute any surplus it 

makes to its members
G. A community interest company

5.8 The local connection is defined in the regulations as being in the local authority’s 
area i.e. Shropshire or a neighbouring authority’s area i.e Telford and Wrekin, 
Herefordshire, Staffordshire, Worcestershire and Chester and Cheshire West or 
Cheshire East

5.9 Proof of local connection is confirmed by checking the person is registered on the 
Electoral Register at an address in the local or neighbouring authority’s area

5.10 The Community Right to Bid process is overseen by the Head of Business 
Enterprise & Commercial Services and administered on a day to day basis by the 
Strategic Asset Management Team. The Decision to List a nominated Asset as an 
Asset of Community Value is taken by the Strategic Asset Manager.

5.11 The legislation requires the Council to make a decision on the nomination and to 
provide notification to the owner and nominating body within 8 weeks of receipt.  If 
successful, the nominating body, owner and, where relevant, the lawful occupier 
of the asset are notified and an entry is made as a Local Land Charge, and 
application made to the Land Registry to register a restriction on the property.

5.12 Both successful and unsuccessful nominations are required to be recorded on 
two lists, one for each category, which are available for public inspection.  The 
entries have to be maintained for a period of five years unless altered or 
removed by virtue of disposal or change of circumstance no longer warranting 
listing.

Appealing against a nomination as an asset of community value

5.13 The legislation gives an owner of a nominated asset of community value the 
opportunity to appeal against the decision to nominate the asset.  A separate 
Senior Officer carries out the review.  The appellant has the opportunity to make 
oral or written representations and in the event of a request for an oral hearing, 



Meeting, date:  Report heading

4

arrangements will be made to hear the appeal.  The review, including any panel 
hearing, has to be either dealt with within 8 weeks of the request or a longer 
period by agreement between the parties.

5.14 The legislation further provides for the opportunity for an unsuccessful appellant 
to appeal to a First Tier Tribunal and in the event of an appeal the Council is 
required to present its case to the Tribunal.  An owner may be able to claim 
compensation for reasonable legal expenses from a successful hearing at the 
Tribunal to overturn the listing decision.

The proposed sale of a nominated asset of community value

5.15 The owner of a nominated asset of community value is required to notify the Council 
when they wish to sell the nominated asset.  Following receipt of the notification, the 
Council advises the nominating body and also advertises the receipt of the 
nomination to the wider community.  At that point a community interest group - 
either the Parish Council or one of the groups listed in category D – G in the list at 
paragraph 6 above and having a local connection to the land - can advise the 
Council that they intend to make a bid for the asset.  This has to be done within 6 
weeks from notification to the community and nominating body of the owner’s 
intention to sell.

5.16 If notification is received then the owner has to comply with a 6-month moratorium 
period, during which period the owner has to give the opportunity to the community 
interest group to submit a bid and cannot make any disposal of the asset.  The 
owner may in this period agree terms for the sale to the community interest group, 
and is permitted to sell to the group within this period.

5.17 Assuming no sale to a local community interest group, at the end of the 6-month 
period the owner is able to dispose of the asset as they choose, with no obligation 
to sell to the community interest group.  The owner is then protected for an 18-
month period from the date of their notification that they wished to sell against any 
additional notifications from a community interest group to acquire the asset.

5.18 There are a series of sales of listed assets of community value which are exempt 
from this process and those include disposals as a result of a court or tribunal 
order, settlement of a separation agreement, right of pre-emption, option, 
settlement of a will, made within the same family, a business to business ‘going 
concern’ sale or transfer to a previous owner from whom the asset was acquired by 
compulsory purchase, sale of a church or land for health service provision or for an 
Academy.

5.19 The legislation gives the owner of an asset the right to claim compensation from 
the Council if they believe that they have incurred loss and expense in complying 
with either or both the 6-week initial notification period and 6-month moratorium 
period, which has resulted in delay in entering into a binding legal agreement to sell 
the asset.  In the event that the Council declines the claim for compensation, the 
owner has the opportunity to appeal initially to the Council and if unsuccessful to 
the First Tier Tribunal. Compensation is not payable to public sector bodies whose 
assets are involved in this process.



Meeting, date:  Report heading

5

6. Additional Information

Since the implementation of Community Right to Bid, Shropshire Council have     
received 106 nominations. Of these:

74 were successful
 2 were partially successful
12 were unsuccessful
14 were withdrawn
 2 are nominated; decision pending.

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does 
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)

Cabinet paper:  Localism Act 2011 – Community Right to Bid 17 October 2012

Cabinet Member:  Portfolio Holder for Communities Joyce Barrow

Local Member
All Divisions

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Amended nomination form.





 
        COMMUNITY RIGHT TO BID      NOMINATION FORM 
 

Assistance in completing this form can be found by downloading the guidance from the website 
www.shropshire.gov.uk or alternatively telephone 01743 281014. 

 

Please use your tab button if you are completing this form electronically or click each section with the mouse 
 

Section 1 About the property to be nominated 
  

Name of property :        

Address of property :        

        

        

Postcode :        

 

Property owner’s name :        

Address :         

        

        

Postcode :        Tel:       
 

Current occupiers name :        

Please provide a current copy of the Land Registry Title 
 

Is the Asset currently being 
advertised for sale? : 

       

If so please provide Agents 
contact details 

  

 

 

Section 2 About your community organisation 
 

Name of organisation :        

Title :  . First Name:       

Surname :        

Position in organisation :        

Email address :        

Address :         

        

        

Postcode :        Tel:       Mobile:       

     
Organisation type  Parish Council                                        Unincorporated Community Group*  
             (*please provide a list of names and addresses of 21 members who are on the electoral register in the local area) 

 Neighbourhood Forum                    Industrial & Provident Society  
  Community Interest Company               Company Limited by Guarantee  
  Charity  

 

Does your group distribute 
profits to its members : 

       

 

How many members do you have (this is particularly important for unincorporated groups)? 
                        
 

Please explain how your 
organisation has a local Connection 
as defined in the Asset Of 
Community Value regulations 2012: 

       

 
 
 

 
 

Section 3 Supporting information for nomination 
 

Any information entered in this section only may be copied and passed onto the owner of the property you 
are nominating.   Definition of an asset of community value can be found in the guidance document. 
 



Please send your completed form to either 
CommunityRight@shropshire.gov.uk  or Strategic Asset Manager [CRTB],  

Shropshire Council, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, SY2 6ND 

Is the Property Currently used by the Community? 
(If not, when did the use cease?) 
 
 
How long has it been used for? 
 
 
 
What activities occur there and how regularly? 
 
 
 
 
How long do you anticipate this current use will continue for? 
 
 
 
Why do you feel the property is an asset of community value? Please give as much information as possible and 
continue on a separate page if necessary  
 
 
 
 
How would your group see the asset being acquired and used in the future? 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Section 4 Boundary of property 
 
What do you consider to be the boundary of the property?  Please clarify the exact location and extent of the asset 
being nominated  Please give as much detail/be descriptive as possible (if possible, please include a plan, sketch 
map or photograph). 
 
      
 
 
 
 

 

Section 5 Attachment checklist 
 

 Copy of group constitution (if you are a constituted group)  and a list of key roles and signatories and 
example minutes 

 Name & home addresses of 21 members registered to vote in nomination area (if group is unincorporated) 
 Site boundary plan (if possible) or a full description of boundaries 

 
 

 

Section 6 Declaration 
 

I can confirm that to the best of my knowledge the information contained in this nomination form is complete and 
accurate. 
 
 
Signed:        Dated:       

 

1. Information provided in the nomination form will be processed in accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998 for the 
purposes of administering the Community Right to Bid procedure.  The information will be stored securely by Shropshire 
Council and will be destroyed after 6 years.  Name and contact details provided will be shared with the owner/occupier/holder 
of the freehold and/or leasehold estate of the asset in the event that the nominator subsequently submits an intention to bid.  
The information provided will be subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2000, but personal information (names and contact 
details) will not be released in responses to Freedom of Information requests. 

mailto:steve.law@shropshire.gov.uk


Committee and Date

Cabinet

21 June 2017

COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER POLICY AMENDMENT

Responsible Officer Tim Smith – Head of Business Enterprise and Commercial Services

e-mail: tim.smith@shropshire.gov.uk Tel: 01743 258676

1. Summary

The Community Asset Transfer policy was approved by Cabinet in October 2012.  It 
is part of the Council’s approach to working with local communities, and the 
voluntary and community sector, in strengthening the sustainability and resilience of 
communities and organisations through asset transfer. 

The policy explains the circumstances in which an asset may be transferred for 
the benefit of the local community and the process to be followed by both the 
community and Council in achieving the transfer.  Any transfer proposals are 
assessed against criteria including how the transfer will benefit the community, 
safeguard or create new opportunities for local services or activities and support 
the Council’s objectives.

Minor amendments to the policy are now proposed to ensure it is efficient and 
effective. 

2. Recommendations

That Cabinet approves the proposed amendments to the Community Asset 
Transfer policy.

 Add Community Amateur Sports Club (CASC) as a qualifying organisation
 Amend the guidance timescales for completion/progression of each step in 

the process in accordance with the attached flowchart.

REPORT

3. Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal
There are no perceived risks in making the proposed minor amendments to the 
CAT policy.



2

Adding CASC as a qualifying organization provides more opportunity for 
communities to pursue a Community Asset Transfer. 

The proposed amendments have been developed following officer review 
and community feedback on the current policy. 

4. Financial Implications

There are no financial implications associated with the proposed amendments.

5. Background

5.1 The principles of community asset transfer grew from the Quirk Review ‘Making 
Assets Work’, which was a strong advocate of community management and 
ownership of assets, through to the implementation of the current government’s 
Big Society and Localism policies.  The devolution of powers to communities and 
neighbourhoods, and the diversification of service provision and the constrained 
financial position of many councils, means that community asset transfer can play 
an important role in achieving the aims of a community strategy and corporate 
plan objectives.

5.2 A sub-group made up of representatives of the Voluntary and Community Sector 
Assembly, Shropshire Association of Local Councils, and officers from Shropshire 
Council, developed the Community Asset Transfer policy.  It was approved by 
Cabinet in October 2012. 

5.3 The key benefits to the Council of the policy are that it supports the Council’s 
core objective of enabling flourishing Shropshire communities, helps to sustain
and strengthen the voluntary and community sector, and provides a clear and 
transparent basis for assessing proposals for community asset transfers.

5.4 The policy seeks to ensure that the proposed transfer of the asset is for the 
benefit of the community and ensures the sustainability of the community or 
organisation taking the transfer.  This can be achieved through improving usage 
or access to organisations or facilities to meet community need, as well as 
strengthening their independence and access to sources of funding which may 
be denied to the Council.

5.5 The policy also seeks to ensure that the organisation applying to take the transfer 
has suitable experience and capacity to take on the asset and as part of the 
application process the organisation is required to demonstrate its organisational 
and governance, financial and partnership arrangements, together with the support 
from within the community and that use of the asset will underpin the Council’s 
policy objectives.

5.6 As the concept of community asset transfer has developed an extensive amount of 
support and advice has become available to voluntary and community sector 
bodies from a range of organisations including Locality, formerly the
Development Trust Association, who have assisted many community groups and 
organisations to achieve asset transfers.  This is acknowledged in the policy 



3

through the section that gives information to organisations seeking further guidance 
on how to prepare for and undertake an asset transfer.

5.7 The Strategic Asset Manager is responsible for the administration of requests for 
Community Asset Transfers and works with the Community Enablement Team 
and Service Heads in managing the process, including evaluation of proposals 
and enabling the transfers of assets.

5.8 The Community Asset Transfer policy is publicised on the Council’s website with 
access to the policy, expression of interest documents and links to other sources of 
information.

5.9 Where the Council proposes to undertake a community asset transfer, either by 
way of a lease for more than 7 years or sale of the freehold, at less than best 
consideration, the Council has the benefit of the Local Government Act 1972 
general disposal consent (England) 2003.  This enables the disposal for less than 
the best consideration that can reasonably be obtained where the proposed use is 
to secure the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental 
well-being of its area, and where the undervalue does not exceed £2m.  Leases of 
a term shorter than seven years are excluded from the best consideration 
provisions in s123 of the Local Government Act 1972.

6. Additional Information

6.1 Since the policy’s implementation, 5 assets have been listed on the community 
asset register.

6.2     44 initial expressions of interest have been received. Of these:
5 were rejected at initial expression of interest stage
4 are on hold at initial expression of interest stage
1 has been withdrawn
1 is being progressed outside the CAT process

6.3 The remaining 33 applications were invited to proceed to submitting a formal 
expression of interest and business case. Of these:

11 have been withdrawn / information never submitted
13 are currently being assessed and/or require further information
3 are yet to send in their formal expression of interest and/or business plan.
2 have been rejected
3 are with legal for completion, or have been completed
1 is being progressed outside the CAT process



4

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does 
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)

Cabinet Paper : Community Asset Transfer Policy 17 October 2012

Cabinet Members 

Portfolio Holder for Corporate Support - Councillor Steve Charmley and                              
Portfolio Holder for Communities - Councillor Joyce Barrow

Local Member/s
All

Appendices
Appendix 1 – Proposed Amended Community Asset Transfer policy (amendments 
highlighted)

Appendix 2 - Flowchart



1 
 

  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER POLICY  
AND GUIDANCE FOR APPLICANTS  
  



2 
 

 
 
Forward  
 
 
Whilst Shropshire is one of the most sparsely populated rural counties in England, with 
around 94% of its area classified as rural, it has a diverse range of local towns and 
villages which form our communities in which many of our 306,100 residents live.  
 
As part of our core objective to strengthen our local towns and villages the Council, 
through working with the local Town or Parish Council or the Voluntary Sector, may 
enable the transfer of suitable land or buildings to a community group or organisation.  
 
The Community Asset Transfer Policy sets out the Council’s approach to Community 
Asset Transfer and provides information on organisations that can provide a wide 
range of advice for those groups who are keen to take on an asset to manage for the 
benefit of their local community.  
 
The Policy has been prepared in conjunction with representatives of the Voluntary and 
Community Sector Assembly and will help to support the Council’s core objectives of 
encouraging our communities to flourish and making Shropshire a better place.  
  



3 
 

 

Contents  
 
    
1. Statement of Commitment        4 

 
2 What is Community Asset Transfer (“CAT”) ?    4  

 
3 Why may the Council transfer assets to Voluntary & Community Sector 

organisations (”VCSOs”)?    
 

5 
 

4 Which organisations can be considered for CAT?     
 

5 

5 What are the criteria that VCSO’s need to meet to be eligible for CAT 

 
5 

6 On what basis will the asset be transferred?      
 

6 

7 How to apply for Community Asset Transfer      
 

8 

8 What is the assessment process for CAT applications?    
 

8 

 
 

9. Appendices 
 

Appendix A Organisational requirements 10 
 

Appendix B (i)  
 
        and (ii) 

Initial Expression of Interest Form 
 
Formal Expression of Interest Form and 
guidance notes 

12 
 
14 
22 

 
Appendix C 

 
Assessment tool for Formal Expression of 
Interest  
  

 
27 

Appendix D Organisations able to provide advice and support 
   

32 
 

Appendix E Glossary 
 

33 



4 
 

    

Shropshire Council 
Community Asset Transfer Policy 

 
1. Statement of Commitment:  
 
Shropshire Council is committed to Community Asset Transfer (‘CAT’) where that will 
bring benefits to our communities and contributes towards the Council’s aims and 
objectives.  
 
Shropshire Council recognises that CAT forms a valuable part of the overall framework 
of supporting and sustaining the Voluntary and Community sector in Shropshire.   
 
In developing this policy Shropshire Council is committed to using council assets to 
assist in forming long-term partnerships with Voluntary and Community sector 
organisations (‘VCSOs’) that meet the Council’s criteria, in order to create stronger, 
more cohesive and more sustainable communities.   
 
We will proactively investigate potential opportunities for CAT to local communities and 
social enterprises, where the assets may be beneficially managed by those who 
regularly use them and in doing so will seek to minimise financial liability for the 
Council in the future.  
 
We will have a transparent process for CAT and will adopt an agreed method of 
assessing all requests for CAT of the Council’s assets.  
 
Our policy will integrate with the Localism Bill 2011.  
 
 
2.  What is Community Asset Transfer?  
 
2.1  Definition: “The transfer of land or buildings from the Council’s freehold 
ownership into the stewardship and/or ownership of Voluntary and Community sector 
organisations.”  
 
2.2  CAT can take place in different forms:  
 

 management agreement  
 licence to occupy  
 short lease  
 long lease  
 Freehold transfer  

 
2.3  CAT usually involves a transfer at less than market value, either at a reduced 
cost, or for a nominal consideration.  The social, economic or environmental benefits 
of the proposed Transfer may be taken into account in determining the value.  
 
2.4  CAT can apply to land and buildings used by the community.  A community 
building is defined as “A free-standing building that is managed, occupied or used 
primarily by the voluntary and community sector and where community-led activities 
for community benefit are the primary use of the building”.  
 
 



5 
 

3. Why may the Council transfer assets to Voluntary & Community Sector  
organisations?  
 
3.1  We believe that VCSOs are often best placed to manage facilities in their local 
communities.  They make extensive use of volunteers and their local knowledge and 
hands-on management of the asset is likely to result in lower overheads and better 
value-for-money, as well as a more intensive use of the asset.  
 
3.2  Community management and ownership of assets directly supports the Council’s 
new, devolved decision making process.  It empowers local communities, puts local 
organisations in control, encourages pride of place and generates wealth in 
Shropshire’s communities.  
 
3.3  An asset can also provide a VCSO with greater financial viability and reduce its 
dependency on grants.  The asset will enable it to apply for external funding that is 
not available to the council, or even to secure loan finance on the value of the asset.  
 
3.4  Better use of its assets can help the council achieve improved outcomes and 
efficiencies.  
 
 
4. Which organisations can be considered for CAT?  
 
4.1  VCSOs or organisations that are not for private profit:  
 

 unincorporated charitable organisation  
 company limited by guarantee with charitable status  
 Community Interest Company (CIC) limited by guarantee or by shares  
 community benefit Industrial & Provident Society with an asset lock  
 Charitable Incorporated Organisation  
 CASC Community Amateur Sports Club 

other charitable bodies may be considered at the Councils discretion. 
 
4.2  CAT recipients can be of any size and need to:  
 

 aim to deliver social, economic or environmental benefits  
 directly benefit the people of Shropshire  
 benefit as wide and diverse a range of local people as possible within the 

  community in which the asset is located  
 
4.3  Privately owned or commercial organisations can only be considered if their main 
aim is to deliver social, economic or environmental benefits and they meet the criteria 
in paragraph 4.2.  
 
4.4  National organisations whose remit is regional or nationwide are not normally 
considered for CAT unless they meet the criteria in paragraph 4.2.  
 
4.5  The potential transfer of assets to Town and Parish Councils will be managed 
separately through the Council’s surplus property procedures.   
 
 
5.  What are the criteria that VCSOs need to meet to be eligible for CAT?  
 
Shropshire Council will only consider applications from VCSOs that can clearly 



6 
 

demonstrate all of the following in a well prepared business case which reflects:  
 

  a clear community/social demand for the proposed CAT  
  
  the capacity to manage the asset and have directors or management 

committee members who have the necessary experience and skills  
 

  good governance arrangements, robust financial systems, and all 
necessary policies expected of a community organisation; this can be 
evidenced by having a recognised quality mark, or by meeting all the basic 
requirements for a good community organisation as listed in Appendix A of 
the policy  

  
  the ability of the VCSO to contribute towards the Council’s corporate and 

strategic objectives and the Shropshire Community Strategy  
  
  that the proposed use of the asset will not adversely impact on activities, 

services or facilities already provided in the local community  
 
 
6.  On what basis will the asset be transferred?  
 
6.1  In determining the basis of transfer we will carefully consider the specific needs of 
the VCSO, the condition of the asset and the requirements of potential funders or 
lenders.  The preferred basis of transfer is through the grant of a Lease and we will 
determine the length of the lease term on the needs that are clearly supported by the 
VCSO’s business plan, and on the VCSOs capacity to manage the asset.  In certain 
cases, we may offer a phased transfer, depending on the VCSOs resources.  
 
6.2  The transfer of the freehold of the property may in certain circumstances be 
appropriate and that will be considered on a specific case by case basis.  An example 
of this may be where the VCSO already owns an adjacent property or land and wishes 
to integrate the asset into its existing property and a part freehold/part leasehold 
situation may not be appropriate. 
 
6.3  Proposals from VCSO’s that are independent, community-run and led 
organisations, rooted in a sense of place, and with a mission to improve things for the 
whole community and those which include the co-location of several services (a 
‘community hub’) will be encouraged in this context.  
 
6.4  The Council will determine rent payments or purchase costs on a case-by-case 
basis, for example; an organisation that has a substantial commercial use of a building 
that generates large profits in excess of the running costs would be expected to make 
a larger payment whereas a small community-based group managing a small property 
may be asked to make a smaller or nominal payment.  However, the Council will 
expect community based groups to be responsible for all running costs of the building, 
including repairs, maintenance and all insurance.  The terms of transfer will be 
negotiated on a case-by-case basis with the interested organisations.  Any transfer at 
below market value will need to comply with State Aid rules, this will form part of the 
transfer process and assessment  
 
6.5  The following is a guide to the length of term that may apply to new CATs, based 
on the anticipated requirements of most charitable funders:  
  



7 
 

 a management agreement or licence will normally be granted for up to 12  
  months  

 a lease of up to 7 years with break clauses  
 a lease of up to 25 years with break clauses  
 in exceptional cases, a lease longer than 25 years may be appropriate if  

  supported by a business case that demonstrates special circumstances or  
  requirements from funders or lenders.  
 
6.6  We will be as flexible as possible when designing lease clauses, so that 
maximum benefit is achieved for both the VCSO and the Council.  This will enable the 
asset to be used imaginatively, e.g. through the ability to sub-let and through flexible 
user clauses.  The Council intends to provide model documents based on those 
issued by the Asset Transfer Unit for ease of use in Community Asset Transfers.  
 
6.7  Once granted, leases may be renegotiated at a future stage, to meet the VCSO’s 
changed activities or circumstances, or to meet the requirements of potential funders 
or lenders.  
  
6.8  Leases may, where the transferred asset forms part of an agreement for the 
provision of services, be accompanied by a Service Agreement that will secure the 
longer term benefits of the CAT.  This will set out the agreed minimum standards, 
opening hours and activities, and how these will be measured and monitored.  It will 
also ensure that the VCSO meets all necessary requirements to achieve optimum 
community benefit and use of the asset. 
  
6.9  Leases longer than 7 years will normally only be granted to organisations that 
have an ‘asset lock’ and will contain clauses that prevent the asset being assigned or 
sold on for unintended financial gain and, where appropriate, the loss of the agreed 
benefits. 
  
6.10  The Council is committed to the successful transfer of assets to community 
based groups.  However, it is also recognised that running a building is an onerous 
commitment.  The Council does not want local people to be deterred from engaging in 
community asset transfer because they are apprehensive about the possible risks of 
transfer. 
 
6.11  Therefore the binding agreement leading to Community Asset Transfer, will 
include (a) transfer or return of building should the venture cease, including 
dissolution, insolvency or corruption, (b) the Council retaining the right to cease the 
agreement should conditions of transfer be breached ,(c) appropriate covenants 
regarding future use of property and (d) provisions to enable the Council to inspect the 
building and the services being provided to ensure that it is being used and managed 
appropriately.  In the case of (a) a dilapidations liability may well apply.  In accepting 
the return of an asset the Council will not normally assume any responsibilities or 
liabilities of the VCSO. In addition the Council will not normally act as guarantor for a 
VCSO when transferring an asset or subsequently after transfer. 
 
6.12  The Council will share with any interested VCSO its information regarding the 
condition and operating costs of any asset that may be transferred without warranty  
or liability to a third party.  The acquiring VCSO should take their own appropriate 
professional advice as to the condition, future repairs and maintenance liabilities and 
premises management issues.  The VCSO will be expected to satisfy the Council that 
they are able to maintain the building satisfactorily after transfer. 
 



8 
 

 
 
 
7.  How to apply for a Community Asset Transfer?  
 
7.1  On receipt of notification of an asset being considered for disposal or transfer by 
the Council a VCSO should complete an Initial Expression of Interest form and return 
that to the Council within the stipulated period.  The expression of interest will be 
assessed and if suitable the VCSO will be invited to make a Formal Expression of 
Interest Application to the Council. Examples of both forms are attached at Appendix B 
(i) and B (ii). 
 
7.2  The Formal Expression of Interest will include the requirement for the submission 
of a Business Plan.  The Council would expect the Business Plan to demonstrate the 
aims and objectives of the VCSO, the specific proposal for the asset, evidence of 
community need and project and management plans for the proposal.  Further detail 
of the sections of the Business Plan is set out in Section A7 in the Guidance Notes for 
completing the Formal Expression of Interest.  A wide range of help and support is 
available to organisations considering Community Asset Transfer and they are listed at 
Appendix D. 
 
 
8.  What is the assessment process for CAT applications?  
 
8.1  The table sets out the timetable for consideration of applications for Community 
Asset Transfer and reflects the timetable which is afforded to organisations seeking to 
exercise the Community Right to Bid.  
 

Steps  Elements  

Assessors / 
decision  
makers  

Timescales for 
outcomes by 
either Council or 
VCSO  

 
Initial expression of Interest stage 

1. Advertisement on the Community Asset 
Transfer Register . 
 
Initial expression of interest to be provided by 
VCSO within timetable required.  
  

VCSO body  
  
  
   
VCSO 
represent- 
ative  

  
 
 
IEOI to be 
submitted by 
the advertised 
closing date   

2. Notification to VCSO that the VCSO can 
proceed through the stages below 

Council 
officer 

1 Month from 
date of 
notification 

 
Formal Expression of Interest 

Stage 1: Submission of Formal Application to the 
Council 
 
 
 

VCSO 
represent- 
ative 

Max 6 weeks 

 Desktop Assessment 
 

Council 
Officers 

Max 2 Months 



9 
 

 
 
 

Stage 2 Preparation of detailed business case and 
feasibility assessment 
 
 

VCSO 
Body 

Max 3 Months 

Stage 3: i),    Full assessment of the Business case 
      against the assessment criteria 
ii),    Legal advice and professional support  
iii),   Written report 
iv),   Formal Decision by Senior Officer or  
      Cabinet if it is a lease longer than 10 
      years or a “Key Decision”. 
v),    written notification of decision 
 

Council 
Officers 

Max 2 Months 

Stage 4: i),    Issue Draft Heads of Terms 
ii),    Preparation of draft leas or contract and  
      service agreement ( if required) 
iii),   Obtain Secretary of State consent (where  
      necessary) 
iv),   Completion of all agreements and 
      documentation 
 

Council 
Officers, 
VCSO 
officers 
and their 
solicitors 

3 to 6 months 

 
8.2  An example of the assessment tool(s) that will be used at Stage 3 is attached at 
Appendix C.  
 
 
9.  Appendices:  
 
Appendix A:   VCSO organisational requirements  
 
Appendix B (i):  example of Initial Expression of Interest for Community Asset 
Transfer Application form  
 
Appendix B (ii) example of Formal Expression of Interest for Community Asset 
Transfer Application forms and Guidance notes   
 
Appendix C:   Assessment tool for Formal Expression of Interest  
 
Appendix D:  Organisations offering help and support  
 
Appendix E:   Glossary  
 
Hyperlink to Shropshire Council’s corporate plan:  
http://www.shropshire.gov.uk/shropshirecouncil.nsf/viewAttachments/RHUY-
8PREAU/$file/Shropshire-Council-Plan.pdf  
 
 
Hyperlink to Shropshire Partnership’s Community Strategy: 
http://www.2shrop.net/shropshirepartnership   

http://www.shropshire.gov.uk/shropshirecouncil.nsf/viewAttachments/RHUY-8PREAU/$file/Shropshire-Council-Plan.pdf
http://www.shropshire.gov.uk/shropshirecouncil.nsf/viewAttachments/RHUY-8PREAU/$file/Shropshire-Council-Plan.pdf
http://www.2shrop.net/shropshirepartnership


10 
 

                                                                   Appendix A 
Community Asset Transfer Policy – Organisational Requirements  
  
Shropshire Council’s requirements for organisations seeking approval for a 
Community Asset Transfer:  
  
In order to ensure consistency in considering applications we will look for evidence 
that the organisation has achieved a quality accreditation standard or exercise 
judgement that an organisation, that doesn’t have accreditation to a quality standard, 
meets all the criteria below.  
 
An organisation applying for a CAT under this policy should, where appropriate:  
 
a)  have an appropriate governing document  
 
b)  have clearly defined roles and responsibilities for management committee 
    members as directors and/or charity trustees  
 
c)  have elected officers, elections and regular meetings in accordance with its  
    governing document  
 
d)  comply with all Charity Commission and Companies House requirements as may 
be  
    required  
 
e)  understand conflicts of interest and have an appropriate process for dealing with 
    them  
 
f)  understand its community and its current needs, monitor the quality and relevance 
of  
   its services, seek feedback, and ensure that its services are fully accessible and  
   appropriate to its community  
 
g)  have regular financial updates for the organisation and Trustees/Directors or  
    Management Committee members understand their role and obligations  
 
h)  produce annual accounts, appropriately examined or audited, and  containing the  
    Annual Report  
 
i)  have written policies covering payment of Trustees/Directors/Management  
   Committee Members and volunteers, have a Reserves Policy, have procedures for 
   paying/reclaiming the correct amounts of tax, NI and VAT  
 
j)  operate a consistent charging and lettings policy that balances the needs of the 
    organisation with the needs of local groups  
 
k)  have a separate trading company with a clear legal relationship, where applicable  
 
l) a have a clear recruitment policy and written procedures for the recruitment, 
induction 
    and support of employees and volunteers  
 
m)  have contracts of employment and written conditions of service for all staff  
 



11 
 

n)  comply with relevant equal opportunities legislation in its work and  
    recruitment/employment of staff  
 
o)  have the correct licences, permissions and insurance cover, where applicable  
 
p)  comply with good health and safety practice and legislation  
 
q)  comply with The Children’s Act and The Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act  
    2006  
 
There are a range of quality accreditation assessment standards and these include:  
 
Locality ‘Healthcheck’  
 
Locality uses a ‘healthcheck’ approach which includes an assessment of a 
development trust’s organisational health, financial robustness and whether it is 
pursuing environmental, social and economic objectives.  For further information see 
www.locality.org.uk/locality/activities/services/healthcheck. 
 
Community/voluntary sector Code of Good Governance  
 
The Governance Hub (now part of the National Support Service of NCVO) has set out 
a code for good governance for the voluntary and community sector.  For further 
information see: www.ncvo-vol.org.uk/governanceandleadership. 
 
The Charities Evaluation Services PQASSO kite-mark  
 
The PQASSO kite-mark is an externally assessed quality assurance system for small 
organisations.  Areas covered include: governance, management, staff and 
volunteers, managing resources and monitoring and evaluation.  For further 
information see: www.ces-vol.org.uk/index.cfm?pg=42. 
 
VISIBLE CommunitiesTM   
 
The organisation offers accreditation and  assessment around seven key standards.  
It also offers an opportunity for review of an organisation in terms of its policies and 
procedures.  Further details of pre-VISIBLE can be downloaded from 
www.visiblecommunities.org.uk/index.php?page=10. 
 
Clubmark (Sport England)  
Clubmark is the only national cross sports quality accreditation scheme for clubs with 
junior sections.  It is built around a set of core criteria which ensure that accredited 
clubs operate to a set of consistent, accepted and adopted minimum operating 
standards.Sport England recognises and values the commitment made by sports 
clubs to develop high quality, welcoming environments for young participants.  The 
development of clubs that encourage young people to take-up sport, improve their 
talents and give them the option to initiate and maintain life-long participation in sport 
is an essential part of our work to support the sporting infrastructure in England.  For 
further details visit www.clubmark.org.uk. 
 
  

http://www.locality.org.uk/locality/activities/services/healthcheck
http://www.ncvo-vol.org.uk/governanceandleadership
http://www.ces-vol.org.uk/index.cfm?pg=42
http://www.clubmark.org.uk/about/about-sport-england
http://www.clubmark.org.uk/


12 
 

Appendix B (i) 

 

INITIAL EXPRESSION OF INTEREST FOR COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER 

If you want to express an interest in applying for a Community Asset Transfer of either land or a 

building under Shropshire Council’s Community Asset Transfer Policy, please fill in all the sections on 

this form.  The form can either be completed electronically or in writing. 

When completed you should send to:  

Strategic Asset Manager, Shropshire Council, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, SY2 6ND or by e-mail 

to: steve.law@shropshire.gov.uk.  Your enquiry will be acknowledged within 10 days of receipt. 

Data Protection Act 1998   

PLEASE READ CAREFULLY 

The details you provide on this form will only be used in connection with assessing your expression of 

interest Asset Transfer enquiry.  Your information may be shared with Elected Members, colleagues 

within Shropshire Council and other Voluntary and Community agencies. 

1. About You    

Your name        

Contact Address 

 
      

Telephone number        

Fax number        

E-mail address       

Please let us know if you have any particular communication needs 

      

 

2. If you represent an organisation; i.e Charity, Community Interest Company; please give details: 

Name of Organisation:       

Type of Organisation:       

Type/size of building required  

mailto:steve.law@shropshire.gov.uk


13 
 

 

3. About the Asset – please provide details of the asset you are interested in below: 

Name of Asset:       

Address of Asset: 

 
      

Community Benefits  - Please tell us, using no more than one side of A4 paper: 

 

a.  What do you want to use the Asset for? 

 

 

b.  What benefits will this bring to the local community? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date of Enquiry  …………………………………. 

 

Community Asset Transfer Expression of Interest allocated reference number……………………….. 

  



14 
 

Appendix B (ii) 

 
FORMAL EXPRESSION OF INTEREST FOR COMMUNITY ASSET 

TRANSFER 

You should not complete this form until you are invited to do so by The Council following 

confirmation that your initial expression of interest can proceed to the next stage.  Please 

read the accompanying guidance notes while you are filling in this form.  

We will not be able to process your application unless we receive all the information that is 

relevant to your asset transfer.  You should fill in all the sections of the form and write 'not 

applicable' if a section does not apply to you.  The form can be completed electronically or in 

writing. 

Data Protection Act 1998 

PLEASE READ CAREFULLY 

The details you provide on this form will only be used in connection with assessing your 

expression of interest Asset Transfer enquiry.  Your information may be shared with Elected 

Members, colleagues within Shropshire Council and other Voluntary and Community 

agencies. 

Name of Asset 

 

      

C.A.T. reference 

number: 

      

 

SECTION A – ABOUT YOU AND YOUR ORGANISATION 

1 Please provide the details of the organisation making the application 

Name of Organisation:       

Address of Organisation  

(inc postcode): 

      

 

Telephone number        

Fax number        

E-mail address       

 



15 
 

2 Please provide details of the contact person in relation to this application 

Full name        

Position in Organisation       

Telephone number        

Fax number        

E-mail address       

 

3 What type of organisation are you?  

Company limited by guarantee       ☐ 
Company Registration 

Number: 
      

Limited Company ☐  

Community Interest Company   ☐  

Unincorporated organisation ☐  

Co-operative  ☐  

Industrial & Provident Society ☐  

Registered Charity ☐  

Other (please specify)       

 

4 Is the organisation part of a bigger local or national organisation?   

Yes  ☐ 

No ☐ 

If yes please provide details including contact details, the services they provide and 

confirmation that they are aware of your application for this Transfer 

      

 

5 What are the current services provided by your organisation? 

      

 

 

 



16 
 

6 When was your organisation established? 

      

 

7 Please confirm that the organisation has prepared an Outline Business Plan for the 

proposal and attach a copy with this form.   

A full detailed business plan will be required if the application proceeds 

outline business plan available Yes ☐ 

 No ☐ 

Name of business plan       

Detailed Plan also available Yes ☐ 

 No ☐ 

 

8 What is the length of time you are requesting the Asset to be transferred for? 

A Lease for up to 10 years ☐ 

A Lease for 10-25 years ☐ 

A Lease in excess of 25 years ☐ 

A freehold transfer* ☐ 

*Please note: if you are requesting a freehold transfer this will be in exceptional circumstances only and you will 

need to fully demonstrate why a long lease will not suffice. 

9 Is this a joint or partnership application?  If yes, please give details 

Yes ☐ 

No ☐ 

If yes give details of all partners involved:       

 

10 Does your organisation's governing body endorse this application for Asset 
Transfer? 

If you answer no, please explain reason(s) why 

Yes ☐ 

No ☐ 

If No please explain the 

reason(s) 
      

  



17 
 

SECTION B – GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS OF THE 

ORGANISATION 

11 What are the aims and objectives of the organisation? 

      

 

 

 

12 Does the organisation have a set of governing documents?  

Please tick all that apply and attach a copy with your application. 

Yes ☐ 

No ☐ 

Constitution ☐ 

Articles ☐ 

Other (please give details)       

 

13 Does the organisation have an established Management Committee or Board of 

Trustees/Directors? If yes, please tick the type of governing body you organisation 

has and explain how many people are there on it. 

Yes ☐ 

No ☐ 

Management Committee ☐ 

Board of Trustees ☐ 

Board of Directors ☐ 

Other (please state)       

Number of People in 

Governing Body 
      

 

14 Does the organisation hold regular meetings? If yes please state frequency 

Yes ☐ 

No ☐ 



18 
 

Frequency 

 
      

14a Are the Meetings Minuted? 

Yes ☐ 

No ☐ 

14b Are signed copies of the Minutes Available? 

Yes ☐ 

No ☐ 

 

SECTION C – EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND OTHER POLICIES 

15 What policies does the organisation have and when were they last reviewed? 

Equal Opportunities ☐ Date last reviewed       

Health & Safety ☐ Date last reviewed       

Volunteers ☐ Date last reviewed       

Other (please state) ☐ Date last reviewed       

Other (please state) ☐ Date last reviewed       

 

SECTION D - FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY OF THE ORGANISATION 

16 What is the annual income of the organisation?  

Less than £10,000 ☐ £50,000 to £100,000 ☐ 

£10,000 to £30,000 ☐ Over £100,000 ☐ 

£30,000 to £50,000 ☐ Other (please state)       

 

17 What is the annual expenditure of the organisation?  

Less than £10,000 ☐ £50,000 to £100,000 ☐ 

£10,000 to £30,000 ☐ Over £100,000 ☐ 

£30,000 to £50,000 ☐ Other (please state)       

 



19 
 

18 How is the income generated? 

Room Hire ☐ External Grant Funding ☐ 

Fund Raising  ☐ Contracts/commissioning ☐ 

Trading ☐ Membership Fees ☐ 

Other (please specify)       

 

19 Does the organisation hold a Bank Account 

Yes ☐ 

No ☐ 

 

20 How many employees and volunteers are part of your organisation? 

      

 

 

21 Does the organisation currently manage / or have they previously managed any 

buildings and/or facilities?  

Yes ☐ 

No ☐ 

If yes give 

details: 
      

 

22 Does your organisation have a financial management policy and procedures in place? 

Yes ☐ 

No ☐ 

 

23 Does the organisation have audited accounts? 

Please append a copy of the last years audited accounts with your application. 

Yes ☐ 

No ☐ 

23a Are the Accounts Independently audited? 



20 
 

Yes ☐ 

No ☐ 

 

24 Please provide a short summary of the project including its forecast costs and 

timetable for completion 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

SECTION E - DECLARATION 

Declarer 1 

I declare that I have read and accept the guidance notes. As far as I know the information on this 

application is accurate and truthful. If any information should change, I will notify the Asset 

Transfer Team immediately in writing. 

Sign and date       

Print name       

Position in Organisation       

Telephone number        

Fax number        

E-mail address       

 

Declarer 2 

I declare that I have read and accept the guidance notes. As far as I know the information on this 

application is accurate and truthful. If any information should change, I will notify the Asset 

Transfer Team immediately in writing. 

Sign and date       

Print name       

Position in Organisation       



21 
 

Telephone number        

Fax number        

E-mail address       

 

 

Date Application Received by Shropshire Council:  …………………………… 

 

SECTION G – IMPORTANT NOTES  

Now that you have completed your application, please check that all sections have been 

completed in accordance with the guidance notes.   

 

We recommend that you retain a copy for your records and should your circumstances or 

contact details change then please notify the appropriate officer. 

 

Please attach; 

 A copy of the Outline Business Plan 

 Your Organisations Governance document(s)  

 Last years audited Accounts  
 

Please do not send any other supporting documents, with this application, however, they may 

be requested in the future. 

 

Please send your completed application form to the following address: 

 

Strategic Asset Manager, Shropshire Council, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, SY2 

6ND or by e-mail to steve.law@shropshire.gov.uk.  We will acknowledge your application 

within 10 working days of receipt. 

 
 
 
  

mailto:steve.law@shropshire.gov.uk


22 
 

 
 

GUIDANCE NOTES FOR COMPLETION OF FORMAL EXPRESSION 
OF INTEREST FOR COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER 

 
This document gives you information to help you fill in the Formal Expression of Interest for 

Community Assert Transfer application form.  You should not fill in this form unless you have 

previously submitted an Initial Expression of Interest form and have been invited to proceed to 

a full application.  Please take time to read these guidance notes before you complete the 

form.  

The following section takes you through each question on the application form. It is important 

to answer every question, which applies to your project as clearly and fully as you can.  If 

there is insufficient space provided to complete a question then a separate continuation sheet 

can be used, clearly stating the section and question number that the information refers to.  

If you have any problem filling out this form or answering any of questions you should contact 

Steve Law, Strategic Asset Manager either on 01743 253467 or by e-mail to 

steve.law@shropshire.gov.uk 

We look forward to receiving your application. 

 

 

SECTION A  – ABOUT YOUR ORGANISATION 

1 Please provide the name and address of the organisation making the application 

 Please give the name of your organisation as shown in your governing document.   

The address provided should be the official or registered address of your organisation, 

including the full postcode, and the area code in the phone and fax number.   

This will be the organisation that will receive the asset should the application be successful.   

 

2 Please provide details of contact person in relation to this application 

 Please provide details of the main contact person in the organisation in relation to your 

application.  The contact person must be someone from your organisation, and be able to 

provide detailed information about the application and the organisation.   

Please also let us know if this person has any particular communication needs. 

 

mailto:steve.law@shropshire.gov.uk


23 
 

 

3 What is the legal status of the lead organisation?  

 Please tick the appropriate box(es) and provide registration numbers if applicable. 

4 Is the organisation part of a bigger local or national organisation?   

If yes please provide details including contact details, the services they provide and 

confirmation that they are aware of your application for this Transfer 

 Tell us if your organisation is part of a bigger local or national organisation, it is important 

that you provide the name and contact details of the associated organisation.  Also 

include where the organisation operates from, the services it provides and confirmation 

that you have agreement from the larger organisation in relation to this transfer. 

5 What are the current services provided by your organisation? 

 Please provide information about the current services provided by the organisation and 

whether they are targeted at particular groups.  Include in this section the geographical 

area covered and the groups that benefit from your services. 

6 When was your organisation established? 

 Please provide information about how long the organisation has been established.  

7 Please confirm that the organisation has prepared a Business Plan for their 

proposal and attach a copy with this form. 

 Please confirm that your organisation has prepared a Business Plan, state the name of 

the document and attach a copy to this application form.  An outline plan will be 

sufficient at the first stage but a full detailed plan will be required if the application 

proceeds. 

We would expect that the business plan will include sections covering the topics set 

out below: 

Introduction A snapshot of what the organisation does, where you are 
now, where you want to go and how you will get there  
Background  
Description of the organisation  
Vision, aims and objectives  
Services you provide and who benefits 

Organisation and 

Management 

Governance  
Management structure (including skills, experience and 
knowledge held by members)  
Staffing (if appropriate) 
QA Standards held by organisation  
Policies, systems and procedures for 
   Health and safety  
   Equal opportunities  
   Environmental principles  
   Financial policy and agreements  
   Booking and hiring procedures (if appropriate) 

Proposal  Outcomes, aims, objectives and, if applicable, any targets 



24 
 

the proposal would achieve, including their monitoring and 
assessment over the life of the project. Identifying how these 
linked to Shropshire Council priorities and other relevant 
strategies.  

Community needs  Needs – evidence  
Other community facilities / gaps in provision  
Any local Consultation that has been undertaken  
Community Benefits – including potential projects, usage 
etc.  

Partnerships  Outline any key partnerships and relationships needed to 
deliver this proposal  

Property  Identify site.  
Proposals for site – building / refurbishment  
Length of lease  or proposed transfer arrangement 
If it is planned to refurbish or extend the building then 
reference should be made to any Planning issues and 
Project management arrangements  

Risk assessment  A risk assessment to show that you have undertaken a 
methodical review of the risks that may face your 
organisation over the life of the plan, have assessed the 
likelihood of them happening and their impact, and have 
formed a plan for dealing with those events, should they 
occur  

Project Plan  You should include a timeline of key tasks and activities. 
You should also explain how you will monitor and review 
your plan and who will be responsible for doing this.  
Description of any proposed development.  
Detailed breakdown of timings/costs for any proposed 
building works or refurbishment proposals, and how this 
would be funded  

 

Please note that a Business Plan will be required to be submitted for all proposed 

community asset transfers.  Support and advice on preparing Business Plans can be 

obtained from a wide range of sources and some of those are listed at Appendix C of 

the Community Asset Transfer Policy. 

 

8 What is the length of time you are requesting the Asset to be transferred for? 

 Please state the length of time you wish to have the asset transferred to your 

organisation for in terms of number of years. 

9 Is this a joint or partnership application?  If yes, please give details 

 Please tick Yes or No as appropriate  

If Yes provide information about the name of partner organisation(s) working with you 

and explain the capacity in which the partners are involved. 

10 Does your organisations’ governing body endorse this application for Asset 

Transfer? Please tick as appropriate. If you answer no please explain reason(s) why 

 Please confirm if your organisations' governing body are in agreement with this 

application for Asset Transfer or not by ticking the appropriate box.   



25 
 

If you answer No, please explain the reason(s) for this decision.   

 

SECTION B – GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS OF THE ORGANISATION 

11 What are the aims and objectives of the organisation? 

 Explain what the aims and objectives are of the organisation.  Aims are statements 

detailing the purpose of your organisation.  Objectives are about how you will achieve the 

aims. 

12 Does the organisation have a set of governing documents? Please tick as 

appropriate and please attach a copy with your application. 

 Please tick Yes or No to advise if your organisation has a set of governing documents.  If 

you have ticked Yes then advise on the name of the document by ticking the appropriate 

box.   

If you tick Other, please provide name of the governing document.   

13 Does the organisation have an established Management Committee or Board of 

Trustees/Directors? If yes, please tick the type of governing body you organisation 

has and explain how many people are there on it. 

 Provide information about the type of governing body your organisation has by ticking the 

appropriate box and stating the number of people on the Governing Body. 

14. Does the organisation hold regular meetings, are they minuted and are signed copies 

of the minutes available? 

 

SECTION C – EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES AND OTHER POLICIES 

15 What policies does the organisation have and when were they last reviewed? 

 Please indicate by ticking in the appropriate boxes for the policies which your organisation 

has.   

Where you have ticked a box for a particular policy please enter the date on which this 

Policy was last reviewed. 

Please note that depending on the intended use of the asset and services that you 

organisation provides details of other policies may be required (for example child 

protection, vulnerable adults etc.) 

 

SECTION D - FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY OF THE ORGANISATION 

16 What is the annual income of the organisation? 

 Please provide information on the annual income of the organisation by ticking the 

appropriate box. 

17 What is the annual expenditure of the organisation? 



26 
 

 Please provide information on the annual expenditure of the organisation by ticking the 

appropriate box. 

18 How is the income generated? 

 Please tick all income sources that apply (room hire, fund raising, external funding, 

trading, membership fees etc.) and provide information on any other income generated 

 

19 Does the organisation hold a bank account? 

 Please advise yes or no. 

20 How many employees and volunteers are part of your organisation? 

 Please advise of the numbers of employees and/or volunteers who are part of your 

organisation. 

21 Does the organisation currently manage / has previously managed any buildings 

and/or facilities? – Please give details 

 Please tick Yes or No as appropriate 

If Yes, provide information about the name and address of the buildings and /or facilities 

that have been or are under the management of your organisation.  Include information 

about the size of the building/facility, services operated, number of people involved – paid 

staff, volunteers etc. 

22 Does your organisation have a financial management policy and procedures in 

place? 

 Please indicate if your organisation has a financial management policy and procedures. 

23 Does the organisation have independently audited accounts? And are they audited?  

Please append a copy of the last years audited accounts with your application. 

 Please indicate if the organisation has independently audited accounts by ticking the 

appropriate box. 

24 Please provide a short summary of the project including its forecast costs and 

timetable for completion of any related improvement project 

 Please provide a short summary of the forecast costs and timetable for completion of your 

project for taking on the asset. This may include running costs as well as any 

improvements planned to the building. 

SECTION E - DECLARATION 

Please make sure that all sections are fully and accurately completed and date the application 

after signing.  The declaration must be signed by two appropriate members of the 

organisation of which one MUST be The Chairperson. One must be someone other than your 

contact person.  

 
 
  



27 
 

Appendix C 
Assessment tool for Formal Expression of Interest  
 
Scoring methodology for Application Form:  
 
Score   Definition  
0 Response does not meet criteria and/or is 

unacceptable 
2 Response fit for purpose. Good in many 

respects. No significant weaknesses, issues or 
omissions 

1 Response partially meets requirements 
but contains material weakness, issues or 
omissions and/or is inconsistent 

3 Response meets criteria to exceptional 
standard. Robust and detailed in all material 
respects. Minimal omissions 

 
 
 
Question 
number  

 
Information  

 
Assessment 
Criteria  

 
Score  

1  Details of the organisation  Completion of 
table  
 

Yes/no  

2  Details of contact person  Completion of 
table  
 

Yes/no  

3  Legal status/Type of 
organisation  

Completion of 
table  
 

Yes/no  

4  Is the organisation part of a 
larger local or national body  

Completion of 
table  
 

Yes/no  

5  What current services are 
provided by the organisation  

Completion of 
table  
 

Yes/no  

6  When was the organisation 
established  

Completion of 
table  
 

Yes/no  

7  Has the organisation prepared a 
Business Plan for their proposal  

Completion of 
table  
 

Yes/no. If no 
application to be 
rejected or held   
 

8  Length of time of Asset Transfer  Completion of 
table  
 

Yes/no  

9  Is it a joint or partnership 
application  
 

Completion of 
table  

Yes/no  

10  Does the organisation’s 
governing body endorse the 
application?  
 

Completion of 
table  

Yes/no. If no 
application to be 
held   

11  Aims and objectives  Completion of 
table  

Score  

12  Governing documents  Completion of 
table  

Score  



28 
 

13  Established management 
arrangements i.e Committee or 
Board  
 

Completion of 
table  

Score  

14  Frequency of meetings of 
management body  
 

Completion of 
table  

Score  

14a  Are meetings minuted?  Completion of 
table  
 

Score  

14b  Are signed copies of minutes 
available  
 

Completion of 
table  

Score  

15  Policies  Completion of 
table  
 

Score: 

16  Annual income  Completion of 
table  
 

Score: 

17  Annual expenditure  Completion of 
table  
 

Score: 

18  Income stream(s)  Completion of 
table  
 

Score: 

19  Organisation bank account  Completion of 
table  
 

Yes/no  

20  No of Employees and volunteers  
 

Completion of 
table  

Score: 

21  Management of other buildings 
  

Completion of 
table  

Score: 

22  Financial management policy 
and procedure 
 

Completion of 
table  

Score: 

23  Are accounts audited  
  
 

Completion of 
table  

Yes/no   

23b Is the audit independent Completion of 
table  
 

Yes/no   

24 Sort Summary provided  Completion of 
table  
 

Score:  

E 2 Declarers 
Are they related  

Completion of 
table  

Yes/no  

 
  



29 
 

Assessment of Business Plan Sections:  
 
Scoring Methodology for Business Case sections:  
  
0 Response does not meet 

requirements and/or is unacceptable        
1 to 2   Response partially meets requirements 

but contains material weaknesses, 
issues or omissions and/or is 
inconsistent 

3 to 4   

 
Response meets requirements to a 
minimum acceptable standard, 
however contains some 
weaknesses, issues or omissions.    
 Lacking detail and/or clarity. 

5 to 6. Fit for purpose. Good in many respects. 
No significant weaknesses, issues or 
omissions 

7 to 8  
 

Response meets requirements to a 
high standard. Robust and detailed 
in all material respects. Few 
weaknesses, issues or omissions. 

9 to 
10 

Response meets requirements to an 
exceptional standard. Robust and 
detailed in all material respects. Minimal 
or no omissions 

 
 

Topic  Information  Assessment criteria  Score  

Introduction  A snapshot of what the 
organisation does, where you 
are now, where you want to 
go and how you will get 
there,   
Background,   
Description of the 
organisation,   
Vision, aims and objectives,   
Services you provide and 
who benefits  
 

The Organisation should be able to 
demonstrate  
that it has a clear purpose together with 
an understanding of  
the activities it wishes to deliver. 

Out of 
10  

Organisation 
and 
Management  

Governance   
Management structure 
(including skills, experience 
and knowledge held by 
members)   
Staffing (if appropriate)  
QA Standards held by 
organisation   
Policies, systems, 
procedures   
  Health and safety   
  Equal opportunities   
  Environmental principles   
  Financial policy and 
        agreements   
  Booking and hiring 
   procedures (if appropriate)  

The organisation is able to demonstrate skills 
specific to managing community buildings in 
areas such as financial, Customer Care, 
Business Development, Project 
Management, Human Resources, Health and 
Safety, Safeguarding etc. They have a written 
policy and provided detailed induction 
process covering the roles and 
responsibilities of Trustees / Directors / 
Management Committee Members and 
essential information on the organisation. 
They have produced evidence of Trustee / 
Director / Board Member induction policy / 
procedures. The organisation has 
demonstrated that they operate in 
accordance with robust Policies around 
Inductions, payment of trustees, conflict of 
interest. The organisation has clearly 
demonstrated they are familiar with this 
document and have kept it under review to 
ensure it is up to date, still relevant to the 
organisation and meets the latest legislation. 
The organisation will need to be incorporated 
or have to agree to  incorporate in order to 

Out of 
10  



30 
 

take on the asset constituted for social 
benefit and, wherever possible within their 
legal structure, demonstrate an ‘asset  lock’ 
provision(for example through the dissolution 
clause in their  governing  document) to 
ensure that the asset is retained for 
community benefit. 
 

Proposal   Outcomes, aims, objectives 
and, if applicable, any targets 
the proposal would achieve, 
including their monitoring and 
assessment over the life of 
the project. Identifying how 
these linked to Shropshire 
Council priorities and other 
relevant strategies.   

The organisation has demonstrated how the 
interests of local people will be better served. 
This has included community involvement 
and explained how they build their capacity to 
get involved. The organisation has also 
demonstrated how they would engage locally 
especially with under-represented groups - 
they have shown how they would ensure 
equal access and that there was no 
dominance by one specific interest group 
 

Out of 
10  

Community 
needs   

Needs – evidence   
Other community facilities / 
gaps in provision   
Any local Consultation that 
has been undertaken   
Community Benefits – 
including potential projects, 
usage etc.   
 

The organisation has demonstrated how the 
organisation plans to safeguard or create 
new local services / activities. They have 
shown they can do this without duplicating 
activities, services or facilities provided in the 
local community.   

Out of 
10  

Partnerships   Outline any key partnerships 
and relationships needed to 
deliver this proposal   

They have demonstrated their ability to work 
collaboratively with other community interests 
to best use the assets available - they have 
also produced partnership working examples 
and have demonstrated real intent of their 
organisation. 
 

Out of 
10  

Property   Identify site .   
Proposals for site – building / 
refurbishment   
Length of lease  or proposed 
transfer arrangement  
Management plan for the 
asset  
If it is planned to refurbish or 
extend the building then 
reference should be made to 
any Planning issues and 
Project management 
arrangements   

Details of the management arrangements 
for  
the project should be provided. The 
application  
should show there is a clear process for 
making  
decisions in relation to the asset, e.g. who 
will be  
responsible for room bookings, site 
problems,  
compliance with legal issues such as 
Health and  
Safety and so on.  
 

Out of 
10  

Risk 
assessment   

A risk assessment to show 
that you have undertaken a 
methodical review of the risks 
that may face your 
organisation over the life of 
the plan, have assessed the 
likelihood of them happening 

Identification of the different risks 
associated with the project and a 
description of the implications of those 
risks occurring. Risks should be 
evaluated in two ways – the likelihood 
that the risk item will occur and the level 
of impact if the risk item does occur. A 

Out of 
10  



31 
 

and their impact, and have 
formed a plan for dealing with 
those events, should they 
occur   

description of what the organisation 
strategy will do to prevent the risk items 
occurring, or coping with them if they do, 
should also be provided.  
 

Project Plan   You should include a timeline 
of key tasks and activities. 
You should also explain how 
you will monitor and review 
your plan and who will be 
responsible for doing this.   
Description of any proposed 
development.   
Detailed breakdown of 
timings/costs for any 
proposed building works or 
refurbishment proposals, and 
how this would be funded   

Details of the project management 
arrangements   
should be provided.   
Details of the scheme, funding and 
management arrangements should be 
provided  
  

Out of 
10  

 
  



32 
 

Appendix D   

Organisations able to provide support and guidance  
 
Asset Transfer Unit   
This website has useful examples of asset transfer as well as good practice guides. 
www.atu.org.uk   
 
Locality  
A network of community enterprise practitioners dedicated to helping people and 
communities wishing to arrange for Community Asset Transfer. Call: 0845 458 8336 or 
email: info@locality.org.uk .  www.locality.org.uk   
 
Community Matters   
The National Federation for Community Organisations with over 110,080 member 
organisations in the UK. Provides advice on a range of community asset matters 
including legal issues, running a community organisation and they also provide 
benefits such as a community centre insurance scheme. You can make use of some 
services as a non-member. Call: 0845 847 4253 or email: 
advice@communitymatters.org.uk. www.communitymatters.org.uk   
 
Planning Aid   
Planning Aid provides free, independent and professional town planning advice and 
support to communities and individuals who cannot afford to pay planning consultant 
fees. It complements the work of local planning authorities, but is wholly independent 
of them.   
Call: 0121 214 2900 or email: info@planningaid.rtpi.org.uk . www.rtpi.org.uk   
 
ProHelp   
A service provided through Business in the Community offering the expertise of 
professionals free to community not for profit organisations. www.bitc.org.uk   
 
Sport England  
Among a wide range of advice and guidance they have a Community Asset Transfer 
Toolkit. Developed in partnership with Locality the toolkit aims to make the process as 
accessible as possible by providing a wide range of information, resources and case 
studies. www.sportengland.org   
 
Energize the County Sports Partnership for Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin can also 
provide first stop professional support, advice and access to an associated training 
workshop for Community Sports Clubs.  They can be contacted on 
info@energizestw.org.uk or www.energizestw.org.uk or telephone  01743 453494.  
 
Action with Communities in Rural England  
Their website provides a wide range of information particularly for rural communities 
and provides link to advice and guidance on community assets. www.acre.org.uk   
 
Community Council for Shropshire  
Based in Shrewsbury, the Community Council for Shropshire can provide advice and 
support and links to other bodies within the County, to organisations and bodies 
interested in community asset transfer. Community Council of Shropshire, 4 The 
Creative Quarter, Shrewsbury Business Park, Shrewsbury, SY2 6LG  Tel: 01743 
360641. www.shropshire-rcc.org.uk   
  

http://www.atu.org.uk/
http://www.locality.org.uk/
http://www.communitymatters.org.uk/
http://www.rtpi.org.uk/
http://www.bitc.org.uk/
http://www.sportengland.org/
mailto:info@energizestw.org.uk
http://www.energizestw.org.uk/
http://www.acre.org.uk/
http://www.shropshire-rcc.org.uk/


33 
 

APPENDIX E 

Glossary of terms:  
 
Agreement for or to lease  
Before the tenant takes a lease (confirming his leasehold ownership), the landlord 
might confirm in a written document called an agreement for lease that they will  
give the tenant a lease if certain conditions are met. If they are not met the tenant will 
not get the leasehold ownership. Therefore, you must be sure that you can meet the 
conditions of an agreement for lease if the grant depends on you having a leasehold 
ownership.  
 
Asset  
An item of property in ownership, guardianship or lease. In terms of asset 
management, relates to land and buildings, but may sometimes include other 
moveable items  
 
Asset Lock  
An asset lock is a restriction arising from an organisation’s legal status that means that 
any surpluses are reinvested in the project or the building, and used to support the 
organisation’s stated purpose. This provision ensures the asset always remains in 
community benefit.   
 
Asset management  
Systematic and coordinated activities and practices through which an organisation 
optimally and sustainably manages its assets and asset systems, their associated  
performance, risks and expenditures over their life cycles for the purpose of achieving 
its organisational strategic plan  
 
Assignable lease  
A term used for leasehold land and buildings to show whether the land and buildings 
can be sold to or given to another owner. The lease will say whether the land and 
buildings can be given to or sold to another owner and therefore if the lease is 
assignable. Often the lease  
will contain a number of conditions that have to be met before the lease is assignable. 
These conditions may include obtaining the consent of the landlord.  
  
Break clause  
A provision in a lease that allows the landlord or the tenant or both to bring the lease to 
an end before the full period of years has elapsed.  
  
Building and engineering works  
Work required to deliver the project such as extension, modernisation or conversion.  
  
Buildings insurance certificate  
Certificate to show that there is insurance for the building and its use.  
  
Building professional  
A professional adviser, or consultant, with specialist training and knowledge employed 
by you to act for you.  
  
Business Case   
A business case sets out the justification for a project, together with financial and non-
financial assessment of various options, and makes recommendations.   



34 
 

Business Plan   
A business plan is a written document that describes a business, its objectives, its 
strategies, the market as it is and its financial forecasts.  
  
Capital Assets  
Assets that have a large monetary value such as land, buildings, equipment and 
vehicles  
  
Community of interest  
A collaborative group of people who share a common interest, goal, mission or 
business process and therefore may not be easily defined by a particular geographical 
area.  
  
Community Interest Company (CIC)   
CICs are limited companies created for the use of people who want to conduct a 
business or other activity for community benefit. This is achieved by a ‘community 
interest test’ and ‘asset lock’ (see above). Registration of a company as a CIC has to 
be approved by the Regulator  
  
Community Amateur Sports Club  
A sports clubs which is recognized as a form of charity by HMRC – for further details 
visit http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/charities/casc/index.htm  
  
Covenant  
A formal promise to another person to take action or not to take action.  
  
Dilapidations  
The repairs that are required to be undertaken to a property by the tenant on surrender 
or termination of the Lease.  
  
Easements  
Rights over property that is owned by someone else e.g. rights to cross land with 
vehicles or by laying pipes and cables.  
  
Freehold  
A form of ownership of land or buildings where ownership cannot be taken away from 
the owner unless they agree. This is the most permanent way in which someone can 
own land or buildings. The owner owns the property forever, or until they sell it or give 
it away.  
They do not have to pay anyone for the use of the land and buildings.  
  
Land Registry  
The national land database where landowners can record their ownership. If they do 
so their land is registered land. Anyone can find out who owns a piece of land if it is 
registered at the Land Registry.  
  
Lease  
An agreement between landlord and tenant granting the tenant the right to possess 
the leasehold property subject to payment of rent. Under normal circumstances, the 
tenant is free to do what they want with the property for the duration of the lease, 
provided  
they comply with the requirements of the lease.  
  
Leasehold  

http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/charities/casc/index.htm


35 
 

A form of land ownership that the tenant holds from a landlord for a limited number of 
years.  
  
  
  
Legal charge  
A legal document that registers the interest of the person who lent or granted the 
money/ interest over the property. The legal charge prevents the property owner from 
selling the land without the consent of the lender, so the charge is the lenders  
security for the loan/grant. If the owner goes bankrupt or fails to keep to the rules 
about how the money must be used, the legal charge should mean that some or all of 
the money could be recovered.  
  
Management committee  
Members of your organisation’s governing body (who may be called trustees, 
directors, members of the management committee).  
  
Planning permission or planning consent  
The permission required from the Local Authority to  
build on land, or change the use of land or buildings.  
  
Peppercorn rent  
Minimal rent paid to keep a claim, or title, in force.  
  
Private sector  
Sole traders and organisations run for private profit and  
that are not controlled by the state.  
  
Refurbish  
To renovate, re-equip, or restore  
  
Registered land  
Registered land is governed and maintained by the Land Registration system. Land 
and buildings that are registered at the Land Registry are allocated a unique title 
number. The particular piece of land is documented by a land registry ‘official copy of 
title’, which shows the title number, the property description, the name of the 
landowner (registered proprietor) and any other matters relevant to the land and 
recorded by the land registry.  
  
Restriction (on title)  
An entry made on the official copy of title at the land registry (see registered land) 
notifying someone of the lender’s interest in the property. The restriction will warn 
anybody having possible dealings with that property that the landowner needs the 
lender’s consent before selling or leasing the land.  
  
Restrictive covenant  
A covenant acknowledged in a deed or lease that restricts the free use or occupancy 
of property.  
  
Searches  
Questions asked before land or buildings are bought to check if there are any rights, 
restrictions, covenants or other matters affecting the property that may cause  
the new owner a problem.  
  



36 
 

  
  
Security of Tenure  
A good, strong and usually well documented right to own or use a property for a period 
of time.  
  
Social enterprise  
A business with primarily social objectives whose surpluses are principally reinvested 
in the business or in the community, rather than being driven by the need to maximise 
profit for shareholders and owners.  
  
State aid  
State aid is an EC term for any public support given  selectively to an undertaking that 
could potentially affect competition and intra-community trade. State aid provided by 
European Union Member States can distort the market, which in turn can result in 
lower  
competitiveness for business, less innovation and ultimately higher prices for 
consumers. There is therefore a need for effective State aid control in order to 
maintain a level playing field for free and fair competition in the single market.  
  
Tenant  
The holder or owner of a lease who pays rent to the landlord for the use of the 
property.  
  
Tender  
A formal process that allows contractors to bid to supply a service or carry out work at 
a stated cost.  
  
Tenure  
The form of right (title) under which land or a building is held or occupied (freehold or 
leasehold or licence).  
  
Title  
The legal right by which property is owned or occupied.  
  
  
  



COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER   (CAT)   FLOWCHART 
 

Please note Timescales are for Guidance only 

 

 

An asset is declared surplus 

 Council notifies VCSO 

Notify VCSO asset is suitable for 

CAT 

VCSO submit initial expression of 

interest  

STAGE 1 
  

Formal Expression of Interest by 

VCSO 

Desktop assessment by Council 

Officers 

Stage 2 
  

Preparation and submission of a 

detailed Business Case by VCSO 

Stage 3 
  

Detailed evaluation of the business 

case against assessment criteria 

Stage 4 
  

Issue of Heads of Terms Completion 

1 Month 

1 Month 

6 Weeks 

2 Months 

3 Months 

2 months 

Community Asset Identified 

 
3 – 6 Months 

VCSO 





Committee and Date

Cabinet

21st June 2017

PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER FOR SHREWSBURY TOWN CENTRE

Responsible Officer Rod Thomson
e-mail: Rod.thomson@shropshire.gov.uk Tel: 01743 251739

1. Summary

1.1 A Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) is being proposed in response to growing 
concern and evidence that anti-social behaviour (ASB) within Shrewsbury Town 
Centre is affecting local businesses, residents, visitors and local agencies.

1.2 At the Cabinet meeting on the 21st December 2016 a report was considered which 
introduced a draft PSPO.  Cabinet agreed for the Trading Standards and Licensing 
Operations Manager to initiate an eight week period of consultation and to arrange 
for the results to be brought back to Cabinet for further consideration and any 
necessary amendment/s.

1.3 This report sets out the results of the consultation along with the amendments 
proposed for the draft PSPO.

1.4 The PSPO has received significant support from respondents of the consultation 
along with suggested amendments and inclusions; however, the main body of the 
PSPO remains largely unaltered.  It consists of two prohibitions covering 
urinating/defecating and leaving personal belongings in a public space along with 
the condition that controls the consumption of alcohol in certain circumstances and 
a wider enabling provision to require a person to leave an area if causing ASB.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That Cabinet agrees, with any necessary amendments, that the Local Authority 
implements the Public Spaces Protection Order as detailed in Appendix A with an 
effective commencement date of 1st August 2017.

2.2 That Cabinet agrees that the Authority use Fixed Penalty Notices, in appropriate 
circumstances, where there is reason to believe that an offence under the Public 
Space Protection Order has been committed by any person.

2.3 That Cabinet agrees that the level of the Fixed Penalty Notice for a breach of the 
Public Space Protection Order be set at £75.00 and that if paid within 10 days of the 
date of the Fixed Penalty Notice a reduced fee of £50.00 will be accepted.

2.4 That Cabinet instructs the Trading Standards and Licensing Operations Manager to 
publish the Public Spaces Protection Order as detailed in Appendix A and cause to 



2

be erected notices in accordance with Regulations made under the Anti-social 
Behaviour and Policing Act 2014.

2.5 That Cabinet, for the purpose of discharging the Public Spaces Protection Order as 
detailed in Appendix A, instructs the Trading Standards and Licensing Operations 
Manager publish and cause to be erected notices in accordance with Regulations 
made under the Anti-social Behaviour and Policing Act 2014.

REPORT

3. Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

3.1 The proposed introduction of the PSPO is part of a series of measures aimed at 
improving the commercial nature of the town (including the evening and night time 
economy and visitor experience) whilst ensuring that public spaces are enjoyed by 
the majority and not spoiled by the actions of the minority.

3.2 The Council is under a legal duty to consult on any proposed PSPO with the Chief 
Inspector of Police, the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and any other 
relevant bodies in particular any community representatives within the local 
authority and the owner or occupier of land.  A consultation was authorised by 
Cabinet at a meeting held on 21st December 2016 and this ran from the 9th January 
2017 to 12th March 2017.

3.3 An Equality and Social Inclusion Impact Assessment (ESIIA) was presented at the 
Cabinet meeting on the 21st December and this has been updated to reflect the 
responses received from the consultation.  The overall conclusions from the 
updated ESIIA have not changed with the impact on the ‘Protected Characteristic 
groups and other groups in Shropshire’ remaining in the ‘low positive or negative 
impact’ category.  The revised ESIIA is set out at Appendix B to this report.

3.4 A challenge to the validity of a PSPO can be made up to 6 weeks after an order or 
any variation to an order is made.  The basis upon which the draft PSPO had been 
derived followed an assessment of the data retained by various agencies and 
businesses together with on-going consultation with key stakeholders prior to 
October 2016.  This data has been updated with an additional report covering the 
period of October 2016 to March 2017 inclusive.  This data again provides further 
evidence for the need for the PSPO whilst demonstrating the persistent and 
continuing nature of the issues being experienced.  This additional data is set out at 
Appendix C to this report.

3.5 When making a PSPO a local authority must have particular regard to the rights of 
freedom of expression, freedom of assembly and protection of property set out in 
the European Convention on Human Rights and the Human Rights Act 1998.  The 
recommendations in this report can be made by the Local Authority by virtue of the 
provisions of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (‘the Act’).  
Having undertaken the consultation in accordance with the Act and by acquiring the 
evidence to satisfy the conditions necessary to implement a PSPO the 
recommendations are not at variance with the Human Rights Act 1998 and is 
unlikely to result in any adverse Human Rights Act implications.



3

3.6 The wording of the PSPO is intended to avoid any allegation that the Council is 
targeting any specific group or type of individuals and specifically does not prohibit 
begging or rough sleeping.  It is recognised that these individuals are vulnerable 
with complex needs and it is inappropriate to prohibit these activities where the 
infrastructure and support is not sufficiently available to prevent individuals resorting 
to these measures.

3.7 Nevertheless, a letter was received from The National Council for Civil Liberties 
known as ‘Liberty’ that sought to challenge the introduction of the PSPO.  This letter 
is attached to this report at Appendix K and the officer response at Appendix L.

3.8 In summary the submission from ‘Liberty’ raised the following concerns:
 The PSPO represents a significant and unjustified threat to civil liberties.
 The inclusion of a dispersal power which is claimed to be unlawful.
 The inclusion of a provision that will target and criminalise the homeless and 

rough sleepers for leaving their belongings in public spaces.
 The inability of the homeless and rough sleepers to pay Fixed Penalty Notices or 

Magistrates’ Court fines.
 The PSPO is an attempt to mask the problems of homelessness and rough 

sleeping and will not address the causes.

3.9 Officers have fully considered the concerns raised by ‘Liberty’ in conjunction with 
the views expressed by other consultees.  The main considerations relevant to the 
points raised in paragraph 3.11 are:
 In drafting the PSPO, officers and partners have been very conscious of the 

potential impact the PSPO may have on the homeless and rough sleepers.  The 
focus was specifically on prohibitions that will address certain behaviours that 
have a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in Shrewsbury Town 
Centre. This is as opposed to including specific prohibitions that would simply 
ban or criminalise rough sleeping.

 Officers do not consider the request to leave the area and not to return within 48 
hours, i.e. the ‘specific thing to be done’ to be an unreasonable ‘thing’ when and 
individuals behaviour causes nuisance, alarm, harassment or distress.  
Accordingly it is believed that this provision of the PSPO satisfies the wording of 
section 59(4) of the Act and is not considered unlawful.

 The prohibition relating to the leaving of personal belonging will impact on 
anyone and not only those who are homeless and rough sleeping.  Given the 
heightened security threat and the risk to the public it is considered that the 
prohibition is justified.

 The PSPO will form part of the toolkit used by officers.  FPNs will be issued in 
line with the Councils Better Regulation and Enforcement Policy which provides 
for an escalated enforcement approach.  FPNs and legal action would only be 
used where help, assistance and guidance fails to address the unacceptable 
behaviour of an individual.  A person’s inability to pay a fine does not preclude 
them from the rule of law.

 The complex issues associated with the homeless and rough sleepers are 
recognised and the Council already works in partnership to provide appropriate 
help and assistance to these vulnerable people.  Measures, as identified in 
paragraph 5.16 below, are already in place and have reduced the number of 
people who are rough sleeping.



4

3.10 Despite the issues raised by ‘Liberty’, the evidence available to the Council together 
with the results of the consultation demonstrate (refer to paragraphs 5.6 to 5.13) 
that the test required by Section 59 of the Act, i.e. that behaviour is having, or likely 
to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality; be 
persistent or continuing in nature; and be unreasonable, has been satisfied and that 
a strong case remains to justify and support the implementation of the PSPO as 
identified in Appendix A to this report.  

3.11 There is an anticipated positive environmental impact associated with the 
recommendation in this report through a reduction in urinating / defecating in the 
street and the public not leaving their personal belongings in the town centre.

4. Financial Implications

4.1 There are a number of financial implications that members need to be aware of in 
the event that a proposed PSPO is implemented.

4.2 Regulations made under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
(the Act) require that where a PSPO is made, extended or varied, the PSPO is 
published on the Councils website and also that sufficient signage is erected on or 
adjacent to the public area to which the order relates.  Given the size of the area in 
question there will be a financial implication for the Council in respect of erecting 
adequate signs at Highway entrance points into the area and also within the town 
centre area itself.  This is currently estimated to be in the region of £4000 to £5000 
depending on the signage used.

4.3 An identified breach of a PSPO is a criminal offence and a person guilty of an 
offence is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 (maximum 
£1000).  However, the legislation enables such offences to be dealt with, where 
appropriate, by way of a fixed penalty notice (FPN) which if paid would discharge an 
individual’s liability to conviction for the offence.  The amount of any FPN can be set 
by the Council to a maximum of £100 with the option of a reduction in the event of 
early payment.  The use of FPNs for environmental crimes (e.g. littering and dog 
fouling) is set at £75.00 reduced to £50.00 if paid within 10 days.  For consistency, it 
is suggested that the FPN process for the PSPO adopts similar fees and terms.

4.4 Utilising the FPN regime will require a system to be set up.  Currently the Trading 
Standards and Licensing Service administers and manages the system of FPNs 
issued for a variety of environmental crimes such as littering and dog fouling in 
conjunction with Shropshire Council’s Environmental Maintenance Service.  It is 
anticipated that this system would be further developed to include FPNs for 
breaches of a PSPO should the PSPO is implemented.  The costs associated with 
new recording books for officers and updates to the system would be relatively 
modest and will be incorporated within other updates to the system.  There is the 
potential to recover such costs from FPN income although this is not expected to be 
significant and will not be relied upon for the delivery of services.

4.5 Where a FPN is not considered appropriate or where a FPN is not paid then 
consideration will need to be given to the commencement of legal proceedings.



5

4.6 Only the Council may bring proceedings for a breach of the PSPO; the Police (CPS) 
will not be able to commence legal proceedings for a breach of a PSPO even where 
enforcement was undertaken by police officers.  Ultimately, the Council will need to 
consider any such breaches and where appropriate having taken into account the 
Councils Better Regulation and Enforcement Policy (adopted by the Council on 27 
February 2014) pursue matters through the courts.  Any costs associated with legal 
proceedings, which are not recovered, will be borne by the Council.

5. Background

5.1 At the Cabinet meeting on the 21st December 2016 a report for a proposed Public 
Spaces Protection Order for Shrewsbury Town centre was presented for 
consideration.  The report and accompanying documentation is outlined on the 
Councils website with a link provided in the Background papers section below.

5.2 Cabinet agreed at this meeting for the Trading Standards and Licensing Operations 
Manager to initiate an eight week period of consultation and to arrange for the 
results to be brought back to Cabinet for further consideration and any necessary 
amendments.

5.3 The consultation period started on the 9th January 2017 and continued until the 
12th March 2017.

5.4 The consultation consisted of an online survey accompanied by a copy of the 
proposed PSPO and a ‘FAQ’ document providing information on PSPO’s, the 
process being undertaken and what the implications are.  The Consultation was 
published on the Shropshire Councils website with notices posted on town council 
notice boards.  In addition the Shropshire Council Community Hub at 1a Castle 
Gates, Shrewsbury assisted so that individuals visiting in person could make use of 
the facilities present at the Hub in order to complete the on-line survey.

5.5 A press release was issued when the consultation began and a media briefing held 
which resulted in press and radio coverage.  Specific notice was provided to the 
Chief Inspector of Police, the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and other 
relevant bodies in particular community representatives believed to have an interest 
in line with statutory requirements.

5.6 In total there were 108 respondents to the online survey and a single hard copy 
response to the survey received.

5.7 For the prohibition relating to urinating/defecating in a public place over 65% of 
online respondents stated it was a problem in the area with over 82% of 
respondents in support of this prohibition remaining in the PSPO.  The results of 
this part of the survey including the comments from the respondents on the effects 
this particular behaviour has had on them is included at Appendix D to this report.

5.8 For the prohibition relating to leaving personal effects in a public area over 71% of 
online respondents stated it was a problem in the area with over 79% of 
respondents in support of this prohibition remaining in the PSPO.  50% of 
respondents had felt this behaviour had worsened over the last 12 months with a 
further 24% thinking it had remained the same and just over 4% believing the 



6

behaviour had improved. The results of this part of the survey including the 
comments from the respondents on the effects this particular behaviour has had on 
them is included at Appendix E to this report.

5.9 For the prohibition relating to alcohol and stopping people drinking in a public place 
over 67% of online respondents stated excessive alcohol consumption in the area 
was a problem in the area with over 81% of respondents in support of this 
prohibition remaining in the PSPO. The results of this part of the survey including 
the comments from the respondents on the effects this particular behaviour has had 
on them is included at Appendix F to this report.

5.10 For the prohibition requiring individuals to disperse from a public area over 78% of 
online respondents stated there were behaviours that would be preventable with 
over 78% of respondents in support of this prohibition remaining in the PSPO.  The 
results of this part of the survey including the comments from the respondents on 
the effects this particular behaviour has had on them is included at Appendix G to 
this report.

5.11 The single hard copy response to the consultation questions supported the proposal 
with some suggested alterations and is included at Appendix H to this report.

5.12 As part of the consultation respondents were also invited to provide any additional 
comments concerning each PSPO prohibition and whether there are any other 
matters that ought to be included in the PSPO.  All these comments have been 
considered and compiled into one document with associated officer comments and 
observations and included at Appendix I to this report.

5.13 Having considered the comments received from the consultation, as set out in 
Appendix I, there are a number of common concerns and suggestions that 
consultees have proposed be included in the PSPO including provisions relating to:
 Charity collectors (chuggers).
 Busking/Buskers
 Littering
 Rough Sleeping
 Drug related matters
 Vomiting, spitting and abusive language.
 Parking on yellow lines and traffic speeds.
 Alcohol related matters associated with the Licensing of premises.

5.14 Whilst there is evidence to support some of these matters there is no proposal at 
this time to include them in the proposed PSPO.  This is because they are either 
already controlled by existing legislation/policies, e.g. those relating to littering, 
drugs, licensing controls, parking and traffic matters, or there are initiatives recently 
commenced or being proposed that are anticipated will help address some of these 
concerns.  In particular the Site Management Agreement (SMA) with the Public 
Fundraising Association (PFRA) within Pride Hill to control charity collectors 
(chuggers) and the Evening and Night Time Economy Planning Guidance 
(ENTEPG) together with the retention of the Purple Flag status for the town centre.

5.15 Whilst there were views for action to be taken against rough sleeping there was 
equally a number of comments received that demonstrated clear support for the 
continued efforts being made to help and assist rough sleepers.  There was also 



7

concern expressed that the PSPO should not specifically target this vulnerable 
group.  The drafting of the PSPO was intended not to stop rough sleeping but it was 
recognised that a minority of people who may be rough sleeping undertake other 
actions/activities that should be curbed and these should be addressed by the 
PSPO.

5.16 Irrespective, there are measures in place to help vulnerable people who are 
homeless and rough sleeping from a variety of agencies including the Council, 
Shrewsbury Ark, Shropshire Recovery Partnership, Police and the medical 
profession.  A recent initiative is the Homeless Outreach Street Triage (HOST) 
service which consists of a new outreach vehicle containing a combination of a 
plain clothes Police Officer, a mental health social worker from The Redwoods 
Centre, an Ark Outreach worker, Shropshire Recovery Partnership worker and a 
housing officer from Shropshire Council.  The team seek out and visit Rough 
Sleepers on the street with the aim of fast-tracking the help and support available to 
them, working as a team to get Rough Sleepers accommodated quicker than ever 
before.  The Council also provides support to the Alternative Giving Scheme which 
operates within the Town centre.  This allows people to provide donations which are 
specifically used to assist homeless people.

5.17 In addition to the specific responses to the consultation questions, 3 emails and 2 
letters were also received.  The emails are included at Appendix J to this report 
and include the response from West Mercia Police to the proposal along with a 
response from the Churches Conservation Trust and Shrewsbury Town Council.  A 
letter received from the National Council of Civil Liberties is included at Appendix K 
which raises a number of concerns with the proposed PSPO and a letter from the 
Police and Crime Commissioner is included at Appendix M to this report.  Both the 
Police and the PCC have indicated their support for the implementation of the 
proposed PSPO.

5.18 Despite not including any further prohibitions suggested by consultees at this time 
the following amendments have been made to the proposed PSPO:
 The area defined by the map has been amended very slightly to take into 

account the area of land immediately in front of the University building to the 
river bank which is immediately adjacent to the Frankwell playing fields and car 
park which has experienced levels of ASB.  

 The removal from prohibition 3c and 3d of the words ‘or to prevent public 
disorder’.  It is accepted that this is not necessary as public disorder would fall 
into a higher level of inappropriate behaviour for which the police already have 
appropriate powers.  

6. Additional Information

6.1 In the event that a breach of the PSPO requires the need for legal proceedings, the 
Director of Public Health and the Trading Standards and Licensing Operations 
Manager have delegated responsibility under the Constitution to undertake this 
action and so no further delegation is required.

6.2 Any enforcement action including consideration of legal proceedings by officers of 
the Council will be undertaken in line with the Councils Better Regulation and 
Enforcement Policy.  The police will be required to have due regard to this policy 



8

whilst undertaking any enforcement activity under the PSPO.  The Memorandum of 
Understanding that was proposed as part of the report to Cabinet on 21st December 
2016 was not subject to any comments as a result of the consultation and therefore 
remains in place as originally agreed.

6.3 Appeals against a PSPO can be lodged by anyone who lives in, or regularly works 
in or visits the area in the High Court within six weeks of issue (under s66 of the 
Act).  The grounds on which such a challenge can be made are that:

a) The local authority did not have power to make the order or variation, or to 
include particular prohibitions or requirements imposed by the order; or

b) The interests of the applicant have been substantially prejudiced by a failure 
to comply with a requirement under the Act.

Further appeal can be made when a PSPO is varied by the local authority.

6.4 It should also be noted that national bodies may seek a judicial review and that this 
can be made at any time.  Given the concerns expressed by ‘Liberty’, Members 
need to be mindful that despite the work undertaken to mitigate the risk of a legal 
challenge, the legislation is still relatively new and as such what is and is not 
permitted by a PSPO is ultimately a decision for the courts.

6.5 Online respondents to the consultation were also asked to confirm their relationship 
to Shrewsbury Town Centre in order to help assess the makeup of respondents.  
The results are included in Appendix M to this report.  The highest number of 
respondents were local residents who lived outside the restricted area accounting 
for just over 64% and visitors which accounted for just over 29%.  Residents in the 
area and local business owners accounted for just over 15% and 11% respectively 
whilst people working in the area accounted for just over 21%.

7. Conclusions

7.1 PSPOs are intended to deal with nuisance/s or problem/s in a particular area that is 
detrimental to the local community’s quality of life, by imposing conditions on the 
use of that area.  Evidence obtained shows that there are activities carried on in the 
proposed area that is affecting the quality of life of those in the locality and that 
these are unreasonable behaviours of a persistent or continuing nature which could 
be tackled through to implementation of the proposed PSPO.

7.2 The implementation of the PSPO should help ensure that the public can use and 
enjoy the public spaces in the area by reducing the risk that they will encounter 
incidents of antisocial behaviour.  It is with this in mind and having considered the 
representations made to the Authority, the evidence available and the responses 
received to the public consultation that the proposed PSPO should be implemented.

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does 
not include items containing exempt or confidential information)

Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014: Reform of anti-social behaviour 
powers. Statutory guidance for frontline professionals.

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/35256
2/ASB_Guidance_v8_July2014_final__2_.pdf

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/352562/ASB_Guidance_v8_July2014_final__2_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/352562/ASB_Guidance_v8_July2014_final__2_.pdf


9

Better Regulation and Enforcement Policy

https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/shropshire-council/policies/better-regulation-and-
enforcement-policy/

Cabinet report for the meeting on 21st December 2016

http://shropshire.gov.uk/committee-
services/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=3260&Ver=4

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)
Cllr Robert Macey

Local Member
Cllr Nathaniel Jacob Green (Coton Hill and Quarry)

Cllr Julian David Geoffrey Dean (Porthill)

Appendices
Appendix A – Proposed Public Spaces Protection Order

Appendix B – ESIIA for proposed PSPO

Appendix C - PSPO Baseline Report Oct 16 - Mar 17

Appendix D – Online consultation results for questions 1-5 concerning the urinating / 
defecating prohibition including the effects this behaviour has had on respondents.

Appendix E – Online consultation results for questions 17-21 concerning the leaving 
of personal effects prohibition including the effects this behaviour has had on 
respondents.

Appendix F – Online consultation results for questions 7-11 concerning alcohol and 
stopping people drinking prohibition including the effects this behaviour has had on 
respondents.

Appendix G – Online consultation results for questions12- 16 concerning the 
dispersal from the public area prohibition including the effects this behaviour has had 
on respondents.

Appendix H – Single hard copy response to consultation.

Appendix I – Additional comments received from all survey respondents including 
officer response and observation.

Appendix J – Emails received in response to the Consultation.

Appendix K – Letter from Liberty to Shropshire Council re Shrewsbury PSPO

https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/shropshire-council/policies/better-regulation-and-enforcement-policy/
https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/shropshire-council/policies/better-regulation-and-enforcement-policy/
http://shropshire.gov.uk/committee-services/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=3260&Ver=4
http://shropshire.gov.uk/committee-services/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=3260&Ver=4


10

Appendix L – Officer comments in response to points raised by Liberty.

Appendix M - Response from the PCC to the consultation.

Appendix N – Online respondent’s relationship to Shrewsbury Town Centre.



Shropshire Council
 

Anti Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014

Part 4 Section 59

SHREWSBURY TOWN CENTRE 
PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER (No 1) 2017

Shropshire Council in exercise of its powers under section 59 Anti Social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (The Act) being satisfied that the 
conditions set out in Section 59 of the Act have been met, makes the following 
Order:

1. The order applies to the public areas shown within the lined area on 
the plan Appendix 1 attached to this order (the Restricted Area).  For 
the purpose of this order, public area shall include the doorway or 
alcove of any premises or any other outdoor location to which the 
public would normally have free access but does not include any area 
covered by a premises license issued under the Licensing Act 2003.

2. An authorised officer includes a Police Constable, Police Community 
Support Officer (PCSO) or an authorised officer of Shropshire Council.

3. PROHIBITIONS

a) No person shall urinate or defecate in a public area not being a 
facility intended for such use.

b) No person shall, for any duration of time, leave unattended in a 
public area any personal effects or belongings or any other 
material or paraphernalia including anything that may be 
considered discarded or waste material.

c) No person shall refuse to stop drinking alcohol or hand over any 
containers (sealed or unsealed) which are believed to contain 
alcohol, when required to do so by an authorised officer, 
provided that officer has reason to believe that that person is 
causing or is likely to cause nuisance, alarm, harassment or 
distress to any other person.

d) No person shall refuse to disperse from a public area and not to 
return to that public area for 48 hours when required to do so by 
an authorised officer, provided that officer has reason to believe 
that that person is causing or likely to cause nuisance, alarm, 
harassment or distress to any other person.

4. Any person who without reasonable excuse fails to comply with the 
requirements of the Order commits an offence and shall be liable, on 



summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard 
scale.

5. This order shall come into force on 1st August 2017 and shall remain in force, 
unless renewed, for a period of not more than three years or until such time 
as the Order is no longer considered necessary, whichever is the sooner.

Dated:

Signed:



Appendix 1 – The Restricted Area





1
lois dale, rurality and equalities specialist, standard template version for officer use as from august 2016

Shropshire Council Equality and Social Inclusion Impact Assessment (ESIIA)

Name of service change: Proposed Public Spaces Protection Order Shrewsbury Town 
Centre

Contextual Notes 2016

The What and the Why:

The Shropshire Council Equality and Social Inclusion Impact Assessment (ESIIA) approach 
helps to identify whether or not any new or significant changes to services, including policies, 
procedures, functions or projects, may have an adverse impact on a particular group of people, 
and whether the human rights of individuals may be affected.

This assessment encompasses consideration of social inclusion. This is so that we are thinking 
as carefully and completely as possible about all Shropshire groups and communities, including 
people in rural areas and people we may describe as vulnerable, for example due to low income 
or to safeguarding concerns, as well as people in what are described as the nine 'protected 
characteristics' of groups of people in our population, eg Age. We demonstrate equal treatment 
to people who are in these groups and to people who are not, through having what is termed 
'due regard' to their needs and views when developing and implementing policy and strategy 
and when commissioning, procuring, arranging or delivering services.

It is a legal requirement for local authorities to assess the equality and human rights impact of 
changes proposed or made to services. Carrying out ESIIAs helps us as a public authority to 
ensure that, as far as possible, we are taking actions to meet the general equality duty placed 
on us by the Equality Act 2010, and to thus demonstrate that the three equality aims are integral 
to our decision making processes. These are: eliminating discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation; advancing equality of opportunity; and fostering good relations.

The How:

The guidance and the evidence template are combined into one document for ease of access 
and usage, including questions that set out to act as useful prompts to service areas at each 
stage. The assessment comprises two parts: a screening part, and a full report part.

Screening (Part One) enables energies to be focussed on the service changes for which there 
are potentially important equalities and human rights implications. If screening indicates that the 
impact is likely to be positive overall, or is likely to have a medium or low negative or positive 
impact on certain groups of people, a full report is not required. Energies should instead focus 
on review and monitoring and ongoing evidence collection, enabling incremental improvements 
and adjustments that will lead to overall positive impacts for all groups in Shropshire.

A full report (Part Two) needs to be carried out where screening indicates that there are 
considered to be or likely to be significant negative impacts for certain groups of people, and/or 
where there are human rights implications. Where there is some uncertainty as to what decision 
to reach based on the evidence available, a full report is recommended, as it enables more 
evidence to be collected that will help the service area to reach an informed opinion.



2
lois dale, rurality and equalities specialist, standard template version for officer use as from august 2016

Shropshire Council Part 1 ESIIA: initial screening and assessment
Please note: prompt questions and guidance within boxes are in italics. You are welcome to type over them when 
completing this form. Please extend the boxes if you need more space for your commentary.
Name of service change

Proposed Public Spaces Protection Order for Shrewsbury Town Centre

Aims of the service change and description

This proposed Public Space Protection Order (PSPO), and the rationale behind the service 
change, was reported to Cabinet in December 2016, ahead of public consultation proposed to 
be held with stakeholders identified at that point and with the wider community. An initial 
ESIIA was completed at that stage. This set out the evidence that had been collected at that 
point, together with results of engagement with stakeholders, which had led to the drafting up 
of a set of proposals to be consulted upon about how such an Order could operate in 
Shrewsbury Town Centre, should Cabinet approve such a move.

By way of brief reminder here of the context, Cabinet were previously advised about the Anti-
Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, which sets out a range of provisions to help 
target antisocial behaviours (ASB) that have a detrimental impact on the lives of those within 
a community.  One of the provisions within the Act enables local Authorities to introduce 
Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO’s) which are intended to provide the means of 
preventing individuals or groups committing anti-social behaviour in a public space where the 
behaviour is having, or likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the 
locality; be persistent or continuing in nature; and be unreasonable.

Whilst local authorities are responsible for making a PSPO, they must do so in consultation 
with the police, the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) and other relevant bodies who 
may be affected.  A PSPO can be created to cover any public space within the local 
authority’s administrative boundary and this will include any place to which the public or any 
section of the public has access, on payment or otherwise, as of right or by virtue of express 
or implied permission.  

A PSPO can be in force for any period up to three years maximum after which the Local 
Authority must consider whether or not to put in place another PSPO.  A breach of a PSPO 
can be dealt with through the issuing of a Fixed Penalty Notice of up to £100, or a level 3 fine 
(max £1000) on prosecution.

Tackling ASB is a Shropshire Council priority and will often be linked with other core Council 
services around Social care, vulnerable adults, safeguarding and hate crime, Highways and 
public health. It was therefore considered that a measure to help reduce ASB would go some 
way to help achieve the Council’s corporate aims. Cabinet accordingly approved public 
consultation about this proposed PSPO.

The intention behind this order is to provide a mechanism to allow the police and other 
authorised officers to address behaviours that are causing concern without the order targeting 
any particular group of the community and in particular those that may be considered 
vulnerable or in need of help.  This has often been a criticism of PSPOs and this is not the 
intention behind this order.  This is about targeting an individual whose behaviour is causing 
community alarm, distress etc..



3
lois dale, rurality and equalities specialist, standard template version for officer use as from august 2016

  The following prohibitions were proposed for inclusion in the PSPO:

a) No person shall urinate or defecate in a public area not being a facility intended for 
such use. 

b) No person shall, for any duration of time, leave unattended in a public area any 
personal effects or belongings or any other material or paraphernalia including 
anything that may be considered discarded or waste material.

c) No person shall refuse to stop drinking alcohol or hand over any containers (sealed or 
unsealed) which are believed to contain alcohol, when required to do so by an 
authorised officer, provided that officer has reason to believe that that person is 
causing or is likely to cause nuisance, alarm, harassment or distress to any other 
person.

d) No person shall refuse to disperse from a public area and not to return to that public 
area for 48 hours when required to do so by an authorised officer, provided that officer 
has reason to believe that that person is causing or likely to cause nuisance, alarm, 
harassment or distress to any other person.

The proposed PSPO was drafted to take into account these specific behaviours and activities.

Only two behaviours are actually being criminalised outright (see (a) and (b) above) with the 
other two prohibitions simply providing an ability for authorities to respond effectively to 
concerns by stopping unacceptable individual behaviour and where necessary to remove the 
cause.  Only where a reasonable request from an authorised officer is refused would that 
individual commit a criminal offence under the PSPO.

The PSPO therefore does not stop any activity, where that activity is being undertaken in an 
appropriate manner and therefore does not criminalise specific activities (although some 
activities may already be a criminal act by virtue of other legislation) other than urinating and 
defecating and leaving belongings in a public place for which there are strong arguments to 
prohibit outright.

It should be noted that prohibition c) is a continuation of a prohibition from a previous 
order/bye law brought about by Shrewsbury and Atcham Borough Council so in effect this is 
not a new restriction for the town centre and simply updates and renews a historical issue.

In establishing a PSPO, appropriate signage must be displayed in accordance with the 
requirements of the Act and regulations made under it.  This requires the PSPO to be made 
available on the Councils website and for adequate signage to be placed on entry points to 
the public area and within the said area.

Intended audiences and target groups for the service change

The intended audiences and target groups are considered to be:

 Residents and visitors of the town centre.
 Local businesses operating within the town centre.
 Shrewsbury Town Council.
 Shropshire Council (Environmental Maintenance, Public Health, Housing Options, 

Highways, Safeguarding, Social Care).



4
lois dale, rurality and equalities specialist, standard template version for officer use as from august 2016

 Chief inspector of West Mercia Police.
 Police and Crime Commissioner.
 Shrewsbury MP
 Shrewsbury BID
 Shrewsbury Town Centre Residents Association
 The Ark (Outreach Service)
 Team Shrewsbury
 Street Pastors
 Accommodation providers (Shropshire Housing Alliance, Parish rooms)
 Shropshire Fire and Rescue Service.
 Shropshire Tourist Board (Visit Shrewsbury)
 The Marches Local Enterprise Partnership
 Fairness, Respect Equality Shropshire (FRESh)
 Shropshire Community Health Trust
 South Staffs and Shropshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
 The Shrewsbury and Telford Hospital NHS Trust 
 Shropshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
 Voluntary Groups (see below)

This list was not intended to be exhaustive or in order of priority and will be added to and 
amended as and when appropriate.  The following Voluntary Groups and organisations were 
also included in a general notification and request to consider the consultation.

Aquarius
Barnabas Church Centre (Foodbank Plus)
British Red Cross
Churches Together in Shrewsbury
Citizens Advice Shropshire
Energize Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin
Hope Church Centre (Shrewsbury)
Impact Addiction Services
Landau Limited
Royal Air Forces Association Shrewsbury Branch
Royal British Legion 
Shrewsbury Christian Centre Association
Ark
Shrewsbury Furniture Scheme
Shrewsbury Homes for All
Shropshire Housing Alliance
Shropshire Football Association
Shropshire RCC
Shropshire Youth Association
Sova Staffordshire & Shropshire Young People Project
SPC
SSAFA Shropshire
Stonham
Street Pastors (Ascension Trust)
The Roy Fletcher Centre
The Hive
Trident Reach
Victim Support



5
lois dale, rurality and equalities specialist, standard template version for officer use as from august 2016

Youth Support Services Ltd (YSS)
Evidence used for screening of the service change

Full details about the evidence collected to inform the initial proposal was presented to 
Cabinet at its meeting on 21st December 2016. Cabinet agreed that the public consultation 
exercise be undertaken to further inform the process and to gather the views of the 
community as a whole, prior to a further report coming back to Cabinet in May 2017.  

Formal analysis of the data collated between October 2016 and April 2017 has now been 
undertaken to provide additional evidence of the ongoing issues still being experienced in the 
proposed area for the PSPO.  The data collection processes were developed towards the end 
of September 2016 to help reflect the issues identified within the PSPO and enable the impact 
of the PSPO, if implemented, to be monitored.  

An extract of the data from this report is produced below: 

Supporting data: Alcohol related 
Data Source: Team Shrewsbury, SCC and Police

Supporting data: General Behaviour
Data Source: Team Shrewsbury, SCC and Police

DATASET OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR
Alcohol Related 
Incidents

13 10 2 6 9 18

Alcohol Litter 4 7 0 2 2 8

Total 17 17 2 8 11 26

INCIDENT TYPE OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR TOTAL
Alcohol litter 4 7 0 2 2 8 23
Alcohol related 13 10 2 6 9 18 58
Aggressive begging 0 1 0 0 1 2 4
Begging 2 4 5 2 3 8 24
Nuisance busking 0 1 0 1 0 0 2
Congregation 8 14 2 11 8 19 62
Damage/Arson 13 11 7 9 8 5 53
Dog control 2 3 0 2 2 5 14
Dog fouling 1 1 1 2 0 3 8
Drug litter 15 17 11 20 19 24 106
Drug misuse 11 7 1 2 3 7 31
Drug dealing 2 2 0 0 1 1 6
Urinating/Defecting 9 7 1 3 5 4 29
Fly tipping/Littering 13 7 2 6 14 3 45
Personal items left 3 4 1 9 2 1 20
Graffiti 1 0 0 1 0 1 3
Suspicious 
behaviour 4 3 2 3 1 11 24

Grand Total 101 99 35 79 78 120 512



6
lois dale, rurality and equalities specialist, standard template version for officer use as from august 2016

POLICE Alcohol related Crimes (red dots) and incidents (blue dots) with hotspot.
1st October 2016 – 20th February 2017

POLICE Alcohol related Crimes (red dots) and incidents (blue dots) with hotspot.
21st February 2017 – 3rd April 2017



7
lois dale, rurality and equalities specialist, standard template version for officer use as from august 2016

Supporting Data: Belongings and possessions
Data Source

a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)

Supporting Data: Excrement and urination
Data Source: Team Shrewsbury, SCC and Police

INCIDENT TYPE OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR
Personal 
Belongings

3 4 1 9 2 1

Alcohol Litter 4 7 0 2 2 8
Drug Litter 15 17 11 20 19 24
Fly 
Tipping/Littering

13 7 2 6 14 3

Total 35 35 14 37 37 36

INCIDENT TYPE OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR
Urinating/Defecating 9 7 1 3 5 4

Specific consultation and engagement with intended audiences and target groups for 
the service change

The public consultation focussed on the actual content and the prohibitions set out in the draft 
PSPO as well as providing opportunity to provide additional comments in respect to other 
concerns within the proposed town centre area.

The consultation ran from the 9th January 2017 to 12th March 2017 and consisted of an 
online survey with a copy of the proposed PSPO and a FAQ document to provide information 
on what a PSPO is, the process being undertaken and what the implications are, being made 
available too.

It was published on the Shropshire Council website with notices posted on town council notice 
boards.  In addition the Shropshire Council Community Hub at 1a Castle Gates, Shrewsbury 
was set up so that individuals visiting in person could make use of the facilities present at the 
Hub in order to complete the on-line survey.  A press release was issued when the 
consultation began and a media briefing with Councillor Mal Price was held which resulted in 
good media take up by local radio and press.

Further, all consultees detailed in the section above were made aware of the consultation 
either through email or via a news update sent by the Councils Feedback and Insight Team.



8
lois dale, rurality and equalities specialist, standard template version for officer use as from august 2016

All consultees were encouraged to complete the on-line survey. A small number of comments 
were received directly including a full written response from the National Council for Civil 
Liberties (‘LIBERTY’).  Feedback will continue to be encouraged through all channels in 
recognition of digital inclusion challenges.

The consultation focused specifically on the prohibitions set out in the draft PSPO but also 
gave the opportunity for consultees to provide additional comments.

The consultation whilst enabling the Council to engage with the community and any interested 
parties, has also helped to assess if the correct measures have been identified and will help 
reduce the risk of a legal challenge as to the validity of the PSPO.  An appeal against a PSPO 
can be lodged by anyone who lives in, or regularly works in or visits the area in the High Court 
within six weeks of issue.  Further appeal can be made when a PSPO is varied by the local 
authority.  In addition to the above the process can be the subject of a Judicial Review at any 
time.

The information and data received from the consultation indicate strong support for each of 
the four proposed prohibitions.

For the prohibition relating to urinating/defecating in a public place over 65% of respondents 
stated it was a problem in the area with over 82% of respondents in support of this prohibition 
remaining in the PSPO.

For the prohibition relating to leaving personal effects in a public area over 71% of 
respondents stated it was a problem in the area with over 79% of respondents in support of 
this prohibition remaining in the PSPO.  50% of respondents had felt this behaviour had 
worsened over the last 12 months with a further 24% thinking it had remained the same and 
just over 4% believing the behaviour had improved.

For the prohibition relating to alcohol and stopping people drinking in a public place over 67% 
of respondents stated excessive alcohol consumption in the area was a problem in the area 
with over 81% of respondents in support of this prohibition remaining in the PSPO.

For the prohibition requiring individuals to disperse from a public area over 78% of 
respondents stated there were behaviours that would be preventable with over 78% of 
respondents in support of this prohibition remaining in the PSPO.

In total there were 108 respondents to the online survey, 1 hard copy survey completed and in 
addition 3 emails and 1 letter were also received during the consultation period.  One of the 
emails suggested a slight amendment to the proposed area; an email from the Police 
confirming their support for the PSPO, and email from the town council clarifying the area to 
be covered and an email from a representative of one of the churches providing yet more 
evidence of their experiences including £30,000 worth of damage to the church.  The letter, 
from Liberty, challenges the validity of the content of the PSPO whilst claiming it is intended to 
target the homelessness.  The letter has been considered and reviewed with comments made 
in respect to the points raised, and has been produced as an Appendix to the May 2017 
Cabinet report. 

The consultation has highlighted a number of other behaviours which cause concern to the 
respondents including busking, chuggers, littering, rough sleepers, drug taking, vomiting, 
abusive language, better licensing of pubs with zonal areas, begging, inconsiderate cycling, 
parking on yellow lines and traffic speed.  In the main these are issues where legislation 



9
lois dale, rurality and equalities specialist, standard template version for officer use as from august 2016

already exists to tackle the problem/s or where another initiative has been put into place to 
tackle, for example, from December 2016 chuggers are controlled through the use of a Site 
Management Agreement in partnership with the Public Fundraising Association (PFRA).

Whilst mainly in favour of the PSPO there were a small number of concerns expressed that 
the PSPO would be targeting rough sleepers, which is a perception shared by Liberty.  

The PSPO contains no prohibition that directly prohibits rough sleeping itself as an activity 
and this is certainly not the intention.  However, it is reasonable to expect anyone sleeping 
rough to act and display appropriate behaviour whilst in the area just like any other person.  
Where that behaviour fails to meet the standards expected, irrespective of who carries on the 
behaviour, then those individuals should expect to be challenged by the Authorities using all 
the tools available to them including the PSPO.

Potential impact on Protected Characteristic groups and on social inclusion 

Using the results of evidence gathering and specific consultation and engagement, please 
consider how the service change as proposed may affect people within the nine Protected 
Characteristic groups and people at risk of social exclusion.

1. Have the intended audiences and target groups been consulted about:
 their current needs and aspirations and what is important to them;
 the potential impact of this service change on them, whether positive or negative, 

intended or unintended;
 the potential barriers they may face.

2. If the intended audience and target groups have not been consulted directly, have their 
representatives or people with specialist knowledge been consulted, or has research 
been explored?

3. Have other stakeholder groups and secondary groups, for example carers of service 
users, been explored in terms of potential unintended impacts?

4. Are there systems set up to:
 monitor the impact, positive or negative, intended or intended, for different groups;
 enable open feedback and suggestions from a variety of audiences through a 

variety of methods.
5. Are there any Human Rights implications? For example, is there a breach of one or more 

of the human rights of an individual or group?
6. Will the service change as proposed have a positive or negative impact on:

 fostering good relations?
 social inclusion?

Initial assessment for each group
Please rate the impact that you perceive the service change is likely to have on a group, through inserting 
a tick in the relevant column. Please add any extra notes that you think might be helpful for readers. 
Protected Characteristic 
groups and other 
groups in Shropshire 

High 
negative 
impact
Part Two 
ESIIA 
required

High 
positive 
impact
Part One 
ESIIA 
required

Medium 
positive or 
negative 
impact
Part One ESIIA 
required

Low positive 
or negative 
impact
Part One 
ESIIA 
required



10
lois dale, rurality and equalities specialist, standard template version for officer use as from august 2016

Age (please include children, young 
people, people of working age, older 
people. Some people may belong to 
more than one group eg child for whom 
there are safeguarding concerns eg 
older person with disability)

YES

Disability (please include: mental 
health conditions and syndromes 
including autism; physical disabilities or 
impairments; learning disabilities; 
Multiple Sclerosis; cancer; HIV)

YES

Gender re-assignment 
(please include associated aspects: 
safety, caring responsibility, potential 
for bullying and harassment)

YES

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership (please include 
associated aspects: caring 
responsibility, potential for bullying and 
harassment)

YES

Pregnancy & Maternity 
(please include associated aspects: 
safety, caring responsibility, potential 
for bullying and harassment)

YES

Race (please include: ethnicity, 
nationality, culture, language, gypsy, 
traveller)

YES

Religion and belief (please 
include: Buddhism, Christianity, 
Hinduism, Islam, Judaism, Non 
conformists; Rastafarianism; Sikhism, 
Shinto, Taoism, Zoroastrianism, and 
any others)

YES

Sex (please include associated 
aspects: safety, caring responsibility, 
potential for bullying and harassment)

YES

Sexual Orientation (please 
include associated aspects: safety; 
caring responsibility; potential for 
bullying and harassment)

YES

Other: Social Inclusion 
(please include families and friends 
with caring responsibilities; people with 
health inequalities; households in 
poverty; refugees and asylum seekers; 
rural communities; people for whom 
there are safeguarding concerns; 
people you consider to be vulnerable)

YES

Guidance on what a negative impact might look like

High 
Negative

Significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating 
measures in place or no evidence available: urgent need for consultation with 
customers, general public, workforce

Medium Some potential impact, some mitigating measures in place but no evidence 



11
lois dale, rurality and equalities specialist, standard template version for officer use as from august 2016

Negative available how effective they are: would be beneficial to consult with customers, 
general public, workforce

Low 
Negative

Almost bordering on non-relevance to the ESIIA process (heavily legislation led, 
very little discretion can be exercised, limited public facing aspect, national policy 
affecting degree of local impact possible)

Decision, review and monitoring

Decision Yes No
Part One ESIIA Only? YES

Proceed to Part Two Full 
Report?

NO

If Part One, please now use the boxes below and sign off at the foot of the page. If Part 
Two, please move on to the full report stage.

Actions to mitigate negative impact or enhance positive impact of the service change

This proposal is considered likely to have an overall ‘Low positive impact’ for the community 
and for Protected Characteristic groupings.  The proposal stems from provisions within the 
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 legislation and is intended to benefit the 
community as a whole by reducing ASB and providing a mechanism to resolve issues quickly 
and efficiently, and therefore also be of benefit to Protected Groupings within the community.  

The PSPO along with other initiatives will form part of the toolkit available to the police and 
the Local Authority to tackle the challenges within the restricted area, which it is anticipated 
will help to improve the public places for the majority of the community. This does not 
necessarily mean the use of Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) or legal action.  This is also 
reflected in the Council’s Better Regulation and Enforcement Policy which enables the 
Council to also consider other sanctions including warning and simple cautions.

The PSPO is intended to tackle behaviours which are considered unacceptable within the 
community. This is demonstrated through the strong support received via public consultation.  

The public consultation has provided clear evidence to support the implementation of the 
PSPO with the current prohibitions receiving significant support from respondents. Whilst 
other behaviours have also been identified it is not considered appropriate or necessary to 
include these within the PSPO at this time, especially where primary legislation already exists 
to challenge those issues.  

In response to the consultation, it is proposed that the PSPO be amended to remove the 
reference to public disorder which was included in two of the prohibitions.  Further, that the 
area covered by the PSPO also be amended to include the small area of land in front of the 
Guildhall which adjoins the Frankwell Car Park and playing fields area; an area which has 
been the subject of ASB.



12
lois dale, rurality and equalities specialist, standard template version for officer use as from august 2016

An action to mitigate any perceived negative impact of the measures on vulnerable people, 
including rough sleepers, will be to proactively communicate to all groupings within the 
community and to stakeholders and respondees such as Liberty that the PSPO is not a 
mechanism that sets out to punish poverty related issues - it sets out to punish unacceptable 
behaviours caused by individuals acting inappropriately irrespective of status / wealth and 
applies equally to matters also commonly associated with the night time economy.

The aims of communication will be to address the small number of concerns expressed that 
the PSPO would be targeting vulnerable groupings including rough sleepers; to continue to 
work with advocates for the vulnerable, such as Liberty; and to continue to visibly welcome 
feedback on this matter in line with the Council’s values around openness and transparency. 
This is further evidenced by the publication of the full list of Liberty’s concerns and responses 
to them, as part of Cabinet papers about this proposed service change.

The service area will seek to work with the Council’s corporate communications team and 
portfolio holder to develop and implement a media strategy accordingly, including actions 
already in place to help individuals as well as society.

For example, there are measures in place to help vulnerable people who are homeless and 
rough sleeping and this includes support from a variety of agencies including the Council, 
Shrewsbury Ark, Shropshire Recovery Partnership, Police and the medical profession.  A 
recent initiative is the Homeless Outreach Street Triage (HOST) service which consists of a 
new outreach vehicle containing a combination of a plain clothes Police Officer, a mental 
health social worker from The Redwoods Centre, an Ark Outreach worker, Shropshire 
Recovery Partnership worker and a housing officer from Shropshire Council.  The team seek 
out and visit Rough Sleepers on the street with the aim to fast-track the help and support 
available to them, working as a team to get Rough Sleepers accommodated quicker than ever 
before.  Further, the Council supports the Alternative Giving Scheme which operates within 
the Town centre.  This allows people to provide donations which are specifically used to assist 
homeless people.

Actions to review and monitor the impact of the service change

Having assessed the evidence collected over the last 12 months, improvements to the 
recording process are resulting in more focus around individual behaviours, as opposed to 
generic data.  This should enable a clear and improved monitoring process which can be 
utilised by Team Shrewsbury to help identify the effectiveness of the PSPO, where additional 
support may be needed and to react to any emerging threats. This improved data will enable 
the PSPO to respond to changes happening in the area through the inclusion of new 
prohibitions or removal of others as well as amending the area covered by the PSPO.

A PSPO can be put in place for a maximum period of three years and then must be reviewed 
if it is proposed to renew the order.  

During this period, evidence of the issues affecting the town centre will continue to be 
gathered.  Through the use of the ASB reporting form Team Shrewsbury will be able to 
monitor the effects of the PSPO on an ongoing basis and if necessary throughout the life of 



13
lois dale, rurality and equalities specialist, standard template version for officer use as from august 2016

the Order it can be amended to remove specific elements where the evidence demonstrates 
that the prohibitions/requirements have been sufficiently effective or indeed to include new 
prohibitions/requirements to tackle emerging problems.

The Trading Standards and Licensing Service will undertake to work with the police where 
enforcement is required and will monitor any offences reported by the police.   Shropshire 
Council is the only Authority able to prosecute a case in the Court where a breach of a PSPO 
is identified.  Any such case will be assessed in line with the Council Better Regulation and 
Enforcement Policy which can be found on the Shropshire Council website at 

https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/media/892162/Better-regulation-and-encorcementPolicy-Aug-
13.pdf

This will ensure that any enforcement action undertaken in respect to the PSPO is consistent 
and in line with that of any other enforcement process undertaken by the Council.

Feedback from the local members covering the geographical area for the PSPO along with 
the Portfolio holder, local MP and the Police and Crime Commissioner will be key to aiding 
understanding of the impact on the local community as these are key engagement channels 
for the community alongside direct feedback to the service area.

It is anticipated that they will therefore be able to help to feedback on the effectiveness and 
continued need or otherwise of the PSPO, along with ongoing liaison with the Town Council 
and local businesses and residents.

Scrutiny at Part One screening stage

People involved Signatures Date
Grant Tunnadine

 
Investigation, Compliance and 
Intervention Team Manager

11th May 2017

Frances Darling

Trading Standards & Licensing 
Operations Manager

11th May 2017

Lois Dale

Rurality and Equalities Specialist
11th May 2017

Rod Thomson

Director of Public Health for 
Shropshire

11th May 2017

*This refers to other officers within the service area

https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/media/892162/Better-regulation-and-encorcementPolicy-Aug-13.pdf
https://www.shropshire.gov.uk/media/892162/Better-regulation-and-encorcementPolicy-Aug-13.pdf


14
lois dale, rurality and equalities specialist, standard template version for officer use as from august 2016

**This refers either to support external to the service but within the Council, eg from the Rurality and 
Equalities Specialist, or support external to the Council, eg from a peer authority

Sign off at Part One screening stage

Name Signatures Date
Grant Tunnadine

 
Investigation, Compliance and 
Intervention Team Manager

11th May 2017

Rod Thomson

Director of Public Health for 
Shropshire

11th May 2017



OFFICIAL

Nikki Armstrong-Smith 030417

PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER: BASELINE DATA REPORT

SHREWSBURY TOWN CENTRE

 OVERVIEW

During December 2016, a proposal for a Public Spaces Protection Order to be enforced in Shrewsbury 
Town Centre was submitted to Shropshire Council Cabinet for consideration. The proposal has since 
been subject to a period of consultation which ended on 14/03/2017.

During this consultation period, the required reporting routes and data collection processes have been 
developed in order to establish a baseline position to ensure the impact of the PSPO can be monitored 
and measured.

The following report highlights data collated by Shropshire Council (Community Protection and Team 
Shrewsbury) as well as West Mercia Police, in relation to the conditions proposed within the PSPO. 
Data collated between 1st October 16 – 31st March 17 has been amalgamated and displayed in the 
tables below. Data analysis is in line with the geographical boundary covered by the proposed PSPO.

Data available to Shropshire Council is presented in relation to each of the conditions of the PSPO in 
order to highlight reporting trends, and establish a baseline in order to assess the impact of the order. 

 REPORTING CATEGORIES

Following a review of the existing datasets collated by Shropshire Council and partner agencies in 
relation to crime and anti-social behaviour, the following reporting categories have been established 
in order to monitor the impact of the order. These categories were introduced as of 1st October, and 
are aligned with the behaviours the PSPO aims to prohibit. Other categories relevant to wider ASB 
issues will still be collated by a number of agencies, however the categories detailed below have been 
developed to reflect the most problematic issues encountered within the town centre.

Datasets are collated monthly by the ‘Team Shrewsbury’ multi agency operational group, Shropshire 
Council Community Protection Team and West Mercia Police. Please note, multiple categories may be 
selected in relation to a single incident.

Alcohol litter Drug litter
Alcohol related Drug misuse
Aggressive begging Drug dealing
Begging Excrement/Urinating
Nuisance busking Fly tipping/Littering
Congregation Personal items left
Dog fouling Graffiti
Dog control Suspicious behaviour
Damage/Arson



OFFICIAL

Nikki Armstrong-Smith 030417

 ANALYSIS OF DATA  - PSPO CONDITIONS

a) No person shall urinate or defecate in a public area not being a facility intended for 
such use.

b) No person shall, for any duration of time, leave unattended in a public area any 
personal effects or belongings or any other material or paraphernalia including 
anything that may be considered discarded or waste material.

c) No person shall refuse to stop drinking alcohol or hand over any containers (sealed 
or unsealed) which are believed to contain alcohol, when required to do so by an 
authorised officer, provided that officer has reason to believe that that person is 
causing or is likely to cause nuisance, alarm, harassment or distress to any other 
person.

The maps overleaf display all alcohol related crimes and incidents recorded by West Mercia Police 
during the review period, and committed within the Shrewsbury Urban section. The red points 
represent alcohol related crimes, and blue points are alcohol related incidents.

INCIDENT TYPE OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR
Urinating/Defecating 9 7 1 3 5 4

INCIDENT TYPE OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR
Personal Belongings 3 4 1 9 2 1

Alcohol Litter 4 7 0 2 2 8
Drug Litter 15 17 11 20 19 24

Fly Tipping/Littering 13 7 2 6 14 3
Total 35 35 14 37 37 36

DATASET OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR
Alcohol Related 

Incidents
13 10 2 6 9 18

Alcohol Litter 4 7 0 2 2 8
Total 17 17 2 8 11 26



OFFICIAL

Nikki Armstrong-Smith 030417

1st October 2016 – 20th February 2017;

21st February – 3rd April 2017;

The hotspot areas continue to be mainly within the river loop, with the exceptions of small hotspots 
around the Castle Gates area, and Abbey Foregate. This is primarily due to the concentration of 
licensed premises, fast food establishments and taxi ranks.



OFFICIAL

Nikki Armstrong-Smith 030417

d) No person shall refuse to disperse from a public area and not to return to that public 
area for 48 hours when required to do so by an authorised officer, provided that 
officer has reason to believe that that person is causing or likely to cause nuisance, 
alarm, harassment or distress to any other person.

All reporting categories can be considered relevant to this particular condition. However, it should be 
recognised that certain issues such as drug misuse, drug dealing, littering and dog fouling will 
potentially be dealt with via more appropriate and effective primary legislation.

 RECOMMENDATIONS

To ensure all relevant incidents are captured within the established datasets, it is important that all 
partner agencies encourage reporting via the ASB reporting line, and also utilise the ‘Team 
Shrewsbury’ recording route.

Data regarding incidents occurring outside the PSPO boundary will also need to be monitored in order 
to establish any displacement. This will require all data to be geocoded in order to ensure the data 
can be mapped. 

 CONCLUSION

Following the development and clarification of reporting routes and data recording processes, the 
initial 6 month trends indicate that the established categories are still relevant and issues continue to 
be reported within the PSPO boundary.

INCIDENT TYPE OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR TOTAL
Alcohol litter 4 7 0 2 2 8 23
Alcohol related 13 10 2 6 9 18 58
Aggressive begging 0 1 0 0 1 2 4
Begging 2 4 5 2 3 8 24
Nuisance busking 0 1 0 1 0 0 2
Congregation 8 14 2 11 8 19 62
Damage/Arson 13 11 7 9 8 5 53
Dog control 2 3 0 2 2 5 14
Dog fouling 1 1 1 2 0 3 8
Drug litter 15 17 11 20 19 24 106
Drug misuse 11 7 1 2 3 7 31
Drug dealing 2 2 0 0 1 1 6
Urinating/Defecting 9 7 1 3 5 4 29
Fly tipping/Littering 13 7 2 6 14 3 45
Personal items left 3 4 1 9 2 1 20
Graffiti 1 0 0 1 0 1 3
Suspicious behaviour 4 3 2 3 1 11 24
Grand Total 101 99 35 79 78 120 512



OFFICIAL

Nikki Armstrong-Smith 030417

The impact of seasonal trends must also be taken into account, and it is likely reported incidents will 
increase during the spring and summer months as people spend more time in public places.

An element of under-reporting during the initial baseline period must also be recognised, as agencies 
familiarise themselves with the new categories and revised reporting format.

































































































































































Hindlip Hall, Worcester, WR3 8SP. Tel: 01905 331656 Email: opcc@westmercia.pnn.police.uk 
Web: www.westmercia-pcc.gov.uk  Twitter: @WestMerciaPCC  Facebook: West Mercia PCC

Public Spaces Protection Order Consultation
Community Protection Team
Public Protection
Shropshire Council
Shrewsbury
Shropshire
SY2 6ND

27th February 2017

Dear Sirs,

Public Spaces Protection Order Consultation

I am writing to confirm my support to the proposed public space protection order for an 
area within Shrewsbury town centre.  The Safer West Mercia Plan 2016-2021 sets out my 
vision for a safer West Mercia, including the police, partners and communities working 
together to prevent, resolve and reduce crime and disorder.  

Last year I received a letter from a former councillor and resident of Shrewsbury 
expressing concerns about areas in and around Shrewsbury town suffering from drug 
problems, rough sleepers and people who are alcohol dependent.  I asked my 
Ambassador for Shropshire, Graham Oliver, to make contact.  Graham visited her with 
Sergeant Richard Coles to listen to her concerns.

Following that meeting Graham instigated a meeting through Team Shrewsbury between 
the Business Improvement (BID) and the Council to discuss the wider issues and agree to 
the development of a draft public space protection order.

No doubt residents and businesses within the town will wish to comment in more detail on 
the four prohibitions within the order and the extent of the area the order would cover and I 
look forward to hearing the outcome of your consultation.

Yours sincerely

John Campion
Police and Crime Commissioner
West Mercia













1

Committee and Date

Cabinet

21 June 2017

Shropshire Council Local Plan Review

Responsible Officer Adrian Cooper, Planning Policy & Strategy Manager
Email: adrian.cooper@shropshire.gov.uk Tel: 01743 254601

1. Summary
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the publication of a revised version 

of the Council’s Local Development Scheme (LDS) (attached as Appendix A) and to 
provide a summary of the feedback received from the recent consultation on ‘Issues 
and Strategic Options’ for the Shropshire Local Plan Review. The LDS is the ‘Project 
Plan’ that describes the current documents which make up the statutory 
Development Plan for Shropshire and the Local Plan documents that are to be 
prepared over the next 3-year period to replace existing policies;

1.2 Shropshire Council is required by legislation and national policy to make the LDS 
available on its website and to keep it up-to-date so that local communities and 
interested parties can keep track of progress with the Local Plan. As reported to 
Cabinet on 18 January 2017, the Local Plan needs to be reviewed to ensure that it 
remains up to date and can be given full weight in planning decisions;

1.3 The current published version of the LDS dates from October 2014 and therefore 
needs to be updated. Unfortunately, it has not been possible to prepare an update 
any earlier because of the extensive uncertainty generated by successive changes 
to the Local Plan process in national policy. The updated LDS covers the period 
2017 to 2020 and will be kept up to date by considering the need to revise it on an 
annual basis.

2. Recommendations
A. That Cabinet approves the updated Local Development Scheme (LDS) 

attached (Appendix A) subject to the need for minor amendments and editing;

B. That authority is delegated to the Director of Place and Enterprise in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Regulation to approve 
and publish the final version of the document.



2

REPORT

3. Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal
3.1 There are significant risks that could impact upon delivery of the Local Plan to the 

schedules set out within this Local Development Scheme. In order to minimise 
possible impacts, risk management has been embedded in the Local Plan 
production processes in order that risk can be evaluated and where possible 
eliminated. The Risk Management Log (Appendix 2) of the LDS contains an analysis 
of the main areas of uncertainty and risk involved in reviewing and updating the 
Local Plan. Risks with a significant potential impact include: inadequate resourcing; 
staff turnover and recruitment difficulties; receipt of large numbers of objections; and 
delays generated by the Planning Inspectorate or further changes in national policy. 
Whilst proposed responses or mitigation measures have been set out, seeking 
where possible, to manage these risks, some areas of risk are outside the Council’s 
control. In addition, financial pressures could curtail many of the proposed mitigation 
measures. 

3.2 The risk assessment suggests that the Local Plan programme remains extremely 
challenging. For example, where individual project production milestones are missed 
it could be difficult to get “back on track” without impacts on other elements of the 
overall programme. Given however, that the production of a Local Plan is a statutory 
requirement in order to provide local planning policy coverage and deliver housing 
land, these risks must be accepted by the Council. The most fundamental overall 
mitigation measures that can be made are to ensure sufficient resources are 
available throughout the timescale of the LDS and build-in realistic document 
production timescales into this LDS at the outset.

4. Financial Implications
4.1 There are no financial implications arising from the LDS itself, but financial 

implications potentially arise from slippage in the timetable leading to delays in Local 
Plan production with subsequent impacts on development management decision 
making, housing land supply and infrastructure funding. Recommendations from the 
government’s Local Plans Expert Group (LPEG) and national regulations (yet to be 
published) from the Housing and Planning Act suggest that the government will 
apply sanctions in the form of reduced New Homes Bonus for when an authority fails 
to meet its LDS milestones. Informal guidance from the Department for Communities 
& Local Government strongly suggests that for councils like Shropshire with a Local 
Plan or part of a Plan adopted before the publication of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), the government is expecting prompt progress towards the 
formal submission of a replacement Local Plan.

5. Background
Local Plan Issues & Strategic Options Consultation

5.1 Following approval from Cabinet on 18 January 2017, consultation documents for 
this initial stage of the Local Plan Review were published on 23 January 2017 for a 
period of 8 weeks. About 400 responses were received to the consultation and these 



3

will be used to inform the preparation of ‘Preferred Options’ as described in the LDS 
in Appendix A. Analysis of the responses indicates that:
i. Housing Requirement:  Whilst there was a slight preference for the ‘moderate’ 

growth option, there was also a good level of support for ‘high’ levels of housing 
growth. Many of those who favoured ‘moderate’ growth cited the need to protect 
rural areas from development and the impact on environmental and amenity 
values.  Many respondents favouring ‘significant’ growth argued that this option 
would achieve a balance between the need to deliver economic growth and 
infrastructure and environmental impacts, and most closely represented the 
current levels of growth identified in the Core Strategy.  Of those favouring the 
‘high’ growth option, many considered it represented the best opportunity to 
deliver flexible growth and would help enable greater inward investment. 
Common themes across all responses were the need to support additional and 
timely infrastructure provision, prioritising brownfield development and supporting 
a greater focus on the type of housing built, including the need to deliver more 
affordable housing.  Several responses suggested a much lower housing 
requirement of around 17,000 dwellings over the Plan period, whilst others 
suggested the ‘high’ growth option did not go far enough.    

ii. Spatial Distribution: Whilst responses to this question were well spread, there 
was a slight preference to see a greater urban focus for development. Many who 
favoured a continuation of ‘Rural Rebalance’ argued this distribution, which 
reflects the current development strategy, is working well.  Several comments 
cited the need to sustain rural services and facilities as a reason to continue to 
pursue 35% of housing in the rural area.  Of those supporting an ‘Urban Focus’, 
many argued that this option would push development to more sustainable 
settlements with better access to infrastructure provision and employment 
opportunities.  Many who favoured ‘Balanced Growth’ considered this option 
would help protect rural areas whilst continuing to allow necessary development 
in appropriate locations.  Other comments highlighted a desire to see greater 
distinction between market towns to reflect differences in their scale, role and 
location, the need to capitalise on cross border opportunities e.g. HS2 and 
Midland Engine, and the need to give weight to Community-Led Plans.   

iii. Economic Growth Strategy: Each of the three economic growth options 
presented was recognised, to varying degrees, as offering a sustainable and 
viable growth option for the Shropshire economy, although uncertainty derives 
from the recent economic downturn and the potential effects of Brexit.  Whilst a 
new economic approach was preferred, the economic and employment 
objectives already presented in the Core Strategy were still considered 
appropriate and relevant.  This desire for a new approach sought a ‘step change’ 
in economic productivity and the quality of employment provided in the County 
reflecting the aims of the draft Shropshire Economic Growth Strategy published in 
March 2017; 

iv. Delivery of Employment: The proposed investment in national infrastructure 
projects including HS2, highway projects and the creation of sub-regional 
investment zones around these developments were seen as opportunities to help 
deliver the new approach to economic growth in Shropshire.  However, the real 
challenge is seen to arise from the need to ensure that Shropshire’s networks of 
market towns, key centres and their road and rail infrastructure could 



4

accommodate these new opportunities. Responses emphasised the significant 
economic potential of Shropshire’s existing economy, workforce and 
environment, together with the need to integrate our existing economic strengths 
with future investment opportunities in and around the County;

v. Community Hubs: Most respondents supported the proposed criteria-based 
approach to identifying Community Hubs. Many felt that this provides a clear and 
objective assessment which would encourage development in sustainable 
locations. However, some respondents had concerns about the implications of 
this approach for the location and scale of future development and felt that the 
final decision should rest with the local community concerned. A range of 
comments were received on the proposed methodology and these have been 
used to make a number of amendments to the methodology. A final version of the 
methodology will be made available on the Shropshire Council website alongside 
the summary of the consultation responses received;

vi. Community Clusters: Whilst concerns were expressed about the impact and 
pace of recent development in some Community Cluster settlements, most 
respondents were content for existing Clusters to remain unchanged, and for no 
additional Clusters to be identified. Whilst some felt that Clusters should be 
identified using a methodology similar to that proposed for Hubs, others that it 
should continue to be up to the community and the Parish Councils who 
represent them;

vii. Criteria-based Approach: Both the use of criteria-based policies and the 
proposed criteria which will be used to manage development in Hubs and 
Clusters were considered appropriate by most respondents. However, some 
respondents commented that development should help to meet local needs and 
they would like community views to carry more weight in the decision making 
process;

viii.Development Boundaries: There was an almost exactly even split of responses 
concerning the proposed removal of development boundaries for Community Hub 
and Cluster settlements. Some considered that development boundaries are 
crucial to provide clarity, certainty and consistency whilst others considered that 
they can often be inappropriately restrictive, ruling out sensible proposals just 
because they fall the wrong side of a boundary. 

5.2 The consultation also presented a draft methodology for the identification of 
Community Hubs. Respondents to the consultation were generally supportive of the 
proposed approach. 

5.3 A detailed summary of the representations received will be published on the 
Council’s webpages shortly. Key stakeholders such as parish councils and those 
who have previously registered to receive updates regarding the Local Plan Review 
will be notified of its availability.

Local Development Scheme
5.4 The spatial planning system is based on a portfolio of Local Plan documents and 

other components.  Some are mandatory, whilst local authorities have a certain 
amount of discretion over whether others are needed.  The programme of Local Plan 
work must be set out in a project timetable or Local Development Scheme (LDS), 
which must be published, and then monitored and kept up to date.



5

5.5 The updated LDS (Appendix A) sets out: 

 The Local Plan documents that are to be prepared by Shropshire Council over 
the forthcoming 3-year period to replace existing policies;

 The current documents which make up the statutory Development Plan for 
Shropshire, including the Neighbourhood Plans (not prepared by Shropshire 
Council) which have been adopted and are in force;

 The subject matter and the geographical area to which each of the proposed 
documents relates;

 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) that are to be prepared over the 
forthcoming 3-year period to clarify and provide further guidance; 

 Which organisation is to lead the process of each document preparation and 
which, if any, are to be prepared jointly with other local planning authorities; 

 The arrangements for monitoring of the Local Plan;
 A risk assessment which sets out an analysis of the areas of uncertainty and risk 

facing production of the Local Plan.

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not include 
items containing exempt or confidential information)

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)  

Robert Macey, Portfolio Holder for Planning and Regulatory Services

Local Members  
All

Appendices

A. Draft Shropshire Council Local Development Scheme 2017





1

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
April 2017

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

 SHROPSHIRE COUNCIL
LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 

2017



2

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
April 2017

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

1. Introduction
What is a Local Development Scheme?

1.1 The Shropshire Local Plan currently comprises the Core Strategy (adopted 2011) 
and the Site Allocations and Management of Development (SAMDev) Plan 
(adopted 2015), together with the adopted Neighbourhood Plans for Much 
Wenlock and Shifnal. These documents set out proposals for the use of land and 
policies to guide future development in order to help to deliver the sustainable 
growth in Shropshire for the period up to 2026.

1.2 The LDS is the ‘Project Plan’ that identifies the documents the Council will prepare 
as part of the Local Plan over the next 3-year period. The Local Development 
Scheme (LDS) explains: 

 The purpose of the Local Plan documents; 
 The resources the Council will require; and
 Timescales for producing Local Plan documents, including when public 

consultation will take place.
1.3 This LDS will cover the period 2017 to 2020. It replaces the existing LDS draft LDS 

(October 2014). The LDS will be kept up to date by considering the need to revise 
it on an annual basis.

1.4 The LDS can be viewed:

 On the Shropshire Council website at: http://shropshire.gov.uk/planning-
policy/local-plan/local-development-scheme-(lds)/

 At the Council’s office at Shirehall, Shrewsbury

1.5 Individual documents may be reviewed as directed in regulations or when 
monitoring indicates that this is required.

Why is the LDS being amended?
1.6 The main changes are due to:

 The need to ensure that the Local Plan is kept up to date and consistent with 
changes in national policy guidance;

 To update key elements of the evidence base

If I need further information about the LDS, who should I contact?
1.7 Further advice on this LDS or other planning policy documents can be obtained 

from the Council’s Planning Policy team on 0345 678 9004 or email: 
planning.policy@shropshire.gov.uk

2. The Development Plan and Related Documents

2.1. The statutory Development Plan for Shropshire comprises: 

http://shropshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/local-plan/local-development-scheme-(lds)/
http://shropshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/local-plan/local-development-scheme-(lds)/
mailto:planning.policy@shropshire.gov.uk


3

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
April 2017

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

 The Local Plan which is prepared by Shropshire Council and is subject to 
independent testing by the Planning Inspectorate; and

 Neighbourhood Plans prepared by local communities and subject to testing by 
an independent examiner.

2.2. More detailed advice or guidance on the policies in the Local Plan may be 
provided through the preparation of Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD’s) 
which are subject to rigorous community involvement, but are not subject to 
independent testing and do not form part of the statutory Development Plan. 

2.3. The stages of preparing a Local Plan comprise:

1.Pre-
production

Evidence gathering stage to develop the evidence base 
to inform the preparation of a ‘sound’ Local Plan.

2. Production

Preparation of Issues and Options by involving the 
community and other stakeholders and consultation on 
these. 
A final or Pre-Submission draft version of the Local Plan 
is prepared for gathering representations on ‘soundness’ 
for the Examination. Should significant new issues be 
raised there is the opportunity to go back to a previous 
stage before submitting the Local Plan for Examination to 
the Secretary of State in the light of the representations 
received.

3. Examination
Independent examination by a Planning Inspector to 
consider the ‘soundness’ of the Plan;

4. Adoption

The Inspector prepares a report possibly with 
modifications to make the Local Plan sound which may 
require further consultation. Once undertaken if required 
the Council adopted and publish the Local Plan.

2.4. The stages of preparing a Neighbourhood Plan comprise:

1.Designation

The qualifying body submits an application to designate a 
neighbourhood area to the local planning authority, which 
publicises and consults on the area application for 
minimum of 6 weeks;

2. Production

The qualifying body develops proposals advised by the 
local planning authority. This comprises:
 gathering baseline information and evidence;
 engaging and consulting with those living and working 

in the neighbourhood area and those with an interest in 
or affected by the proposals (eg service providers)

 talking to land owners and the development industry
 identifying and assessing options



4

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
April 2017

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

 determining whether a plan or an Order is likely to 
have significant environmental effect

 starting to prepare proposals documents 

3. Pre-
submission 
consultation

The qualifying body invites representations on the draft 
plan and considers consultation responses and amends it 
if appropriate. The qualifying body prepared a 
consultation statement.

4. Submission 
to the Local 
Planning 
Authority

The qualifying body submits the plan to the local planning 
authority, which checks that submitted proposal complies 
with all relevant legislation. If the local planning authority 
finds that the plan or order meets the legal requirements 
it:
 publicises the proposal for minimum 6 weeks and 

invites representations;
 notifies consultation bodies referred to in the 

consultation statement;
 appoints an independent examiner (with the 

agreement of the qualifying body)

5. Independent 
Examination

The local planning authority sends the draft plan and 
representations to the independent examiner, who 
undertakes examination and issues a report to the local 
planning authority and qualifying body. The local planning 
authority publishes the report and reaches its own view 
on whether to send the plan to referendum.

6. Referendum 
and Making the 
neighbourhood 
plan

Shropshire Council publishes an information statement 
and a notice of referendum. Polling takes place and the 
results are declared. Subject to the results, the local 
planning authority ‘makes’ the neighbourhood plan, 
bringing it into force.

2.5. The process of preparing Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) is shorter 
and does not involve independent examination:

1. Preparation 
of Draft SPD

Includes evidence gathering and the involvement of the 
community and stakeholders from an early stage.

2. Consultation 
on Draft SPD Representations invited on a published draft.

3. Adoption Council considers representations received and finalises 
SPD before adoption.

2.6. Accompanying the Local Plan documents will be additional documents describing:

 The sustainability implications of the new documents (Sustainability Appraisal 
or SA which incorporates Strategic Environmental Assessment or SEA).



5

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
April 2017

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

 A Habitat Regulations Assessment or HRA, assessing the implications of 
development for European sites in and adjoining the Plan Area. This will 
include Appropriate Assessment as necessary.

 A Statement of Community Involvement or SCI which shows how Shropshire 
Council intends to achieve continuous and meaningful community involvement 
in the production of Local Plans to help build consensus regarding their 
content.

 The results of annual monitoring (Authority’s Monitoring Report or AMR).

3. Purpose and content of the Local Development Scheme 

3.1 This document is the Council’s ‘Project Plan’ for the period from 2017 to 2020. Its 
main purposes are:

 To inform the community and other stakeholders of the Local Plan documents 
for the area and the timescales they can expect for their preparation and 
subsequent review, and; 

 To establish the Council’s priorities for the preparation of the Local Plan and 
its associated work programme. 

3.2 The LDS sets out: 

 The Local Plan documents that are to be prepared over the forthcoming 3-
year period to replace existing policies;

 The current Local Plan documents which make up the statutory Development 
Plan for Shropshire and any existing policies that will be saved;

 The subject matter and the geographical area to which each document 
relates;

 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) that are to be prepared over the 
forthcoming 3-year period to clarify and provide further guidance; 

 Which organisation is to lead the process of each document preparation and 
which, if any, are to be prepared jointly with other local planning authorities; 

 The arrangements for monitoring of the Local Plan. 

4. Structure and Operation of the Shropshire Local Plan 
Local Plan Review

4.1 The Council considers that to provide further certainty and clarity for development 
and investment, it is sensible and pragmatic to carry out an early review of the 
Local Plan. Reflecting the advice in Paragraph 153 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) for flexibility to respond to changing circumstances and as 
acknowledged by the Inspector for the SAMDev Local Plan document in her 
Inspectors Report (October 2015).

4.2 An initial draft scope and timetable is set out in this LDS. However, this may 
change in response to changes in the evidence base; changes in national 
government policy and guidance; and Council resources. The LDS will therefore 
be kept under regular review. 



6

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
April 2017

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

4.3 The draft content and programme for review and production of the Local Plan and 
associated evidence base are set out in the Schedule of Proposed Documents 
(Table 1) which follows this section and the Individual Document Profiles in 
Appendix 1.



7

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

Table 1: SCHEDULE OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENTS

Document Title
Status
(Local 
Plan/SPD)

Brief Description Chain of Conformity Date of Issues & 
Options Consultation 

Date for Submission 
to Secretary of State

Proposed Date 
for Adoption

Local Plan 
Review
2016-2036

Local Plan 
document

Document identifying 
revised growth 
requirements and 
additional sites proposed 
to deliver this growth 
during the revised plan 
period.

General conformity with 
National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and 
National Planning 
Practice Guidance 
(PPG)

January 2017 December 2018 March 2020

Neighbourhood 
Plans

Dev Plan 
document

Neighbourhood Plans 
setting out local 
objectives, development 
management policies and 
allocations

Core Strategy, SAMDev, 
future Local Plan 
documents

tbc tbc tbc



8

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
April 2017

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

4.4 The current (adopted) Local Plan for Shropshire comprises:
Core Strategy

4.5 The Core Strategy sets out the approach and strategic framework for development 
in Shropshire.  It incorporates the spatial elements of the Sustainable Community 
Strategy and other corporate strategies. The Core Strategy underwent independent 
examination during November and December 2010 was found to be “sound” and 
adopted by Shropshire Council in March 2011. The Core Strategy:

 Sets out the broad community vision and spatial strategy;
 Identifies key strategic sites for development;
 Sets out a settlement strategy, with criteria-based policies to enable 

development to come forward;
 Provides strategic guidance for development management in conjunction with 

national and other guidance but  does not contain numerous development 
control policies; and

 Sets out an investment/implementation plan, including priorities and 
mechanisms for infrastructure delivery.

4.6 Further information on the adopted Core Strategy can be found via: 
http://shropshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/local-plan/core-strategy-2006-2026

Site Allocations and Management of Development (SAMDev)
4.7 Although strategic site allocations are set out in the Core Strategy, it is necessary to 

ensure that sufficient land is allocated specifically to meet Shropshire’s needs for 
housing employment, retail and services.  In particular, it is imperative that we can 
meet housing needs and the government requirement to identify a 5 year supply of 
available housing land. It is also important to ensure that the range of strategic 
policies in the Core Strategy is complemented by a suite of more detailed policies in 
this Local Plan document. This is to make sure there are no ‘gaps’ with national and 
regional policies and that a suitable policy framework is in place to enable a 
‘development management’ approach to be delivered. 

4.8 Therefore a single Site Allocations and Management of Development (SAMDev) 
Local Plan document for Shropshire was prepared.  It was not the intention to 
identify every single site for development over the next 15-20 years, as criteria-
based policies within the Core Strategy and SAMDev provide a framework for 
additional sites to come forward. The SAMDev was examined during November 
and December 2014 and adopted in December 2015. 

4.9 Further information on the SAMDev Local Plan document can be found via: 
http://shropshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/local-plan/samdev-plan-2006-2026/

Saved Policies
4.10 Whilst the Local Plan Review will result in a new, single Local Plan document, many 

of the existing policies in the Core Strategy & SAMDev do not need to be amended 
and will be carried forward. The review will focus on key areas of change, including 
options for the level and distribution of new housing and strategies for employment 

http://shropshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/local-plan/core-strategy-2006-2026
http://shropshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/local-plan/samdev-plan-2006-2026/


9

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
April 2017

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

growth during the period to 2036, together with any amended policies and new site 
allocations which are needed to demonstrate that these requirements can be 
delivered. The existing Core Strategy & SAMDev Plan will remain in force until any 
new Plan is adopted which is anticipated around 2019.

Neighbourhood Plans
4.11 Parish and Town Councils can prepare Neighbourhood Development Plans (NDPs) 

putting in place policies to guide the future development of the area. Shropshire 
Council has a legal duty to support the preparation of any NDP, including the 
provision of information and evidence, advice on sustainability assessment, the 
appointment of a suitable person who will publicly examine the NDP and holding a 
referendum within the area covered by the NDP.

4.12 Neighbourhood Plans have currently been prepared and adopted for the towns of 
Much Wenlock and Shifnal, although they are also being prepared in a number of 
other parts of the county.

4.13 Any NDP must be in general conformity with ‘strategic policies’ in the Local Plan 
and with national policy. NDPs are not able to propose lower levels of development 
than those set out in up to date Local Plans but could propose higher levels. Before 
an NDP is adopted it must be subject to a referendum. If over 50% of the votes are 
in favour the local planning authority would have a duty to ‘make’ (adopt) the NDP.

4.14 The Much Wenlock Neighbourhood Plan sets out a range of locally derived and 
supported objectives to be delivered through locally specific development 
management policies and a housing targets rather than a site allocation. The NP 
successful passed a referendum in May 2014 (85% in favour) and was adopted or 
‘made’ by Shropshire Council in July 2014.

4.15 The Shifnal NP sets out a range of locally derived and supported objectives to be 
delivered through locally specific development management policies. No housing 
site allocations are proposed and the plan’s aspirations are limited to infill 
developments within the settlement boundary. The NP successful passed a 
referendum in September 2016 (93% in favour) and was adopted or ‘made’ by 
Shropshire Council in December 2016.

4.16 Further information on neighbourhood planning can be found via 
http://shropshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/much-wenlock-neighbourhood-plan/

Authority’s Monitoring Report
4.17 An Authority’s Monitoring Report (AMR) is a requirement of every planning authority 

and should be published in December of every year.  The Council will monitor 
annually how effective its policies and proposals are in meeting the vision and 
objectives set out in the Core Strategy. It will aim to prepare an AMR before 31 
December each year that will cover the previous financial year (1 April to 31 
March). The task of monitoring and producing the AMR will, in effect, become part 
of the process of maintaining an up to date evidence base and tracking plan-
making progress. 

4.18 The AMR will include:

http://shropshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/much-wenlock-neighbourhood-plan/


10

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
April 2017

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

 A survey and review of the area’s characteristics, including: published statistics 
that help paint a social, environmental, economic, physical and demographic 
background; and local indicators on particular local issues, concerns or policy 
objectives;

 Whether the Council is meeting, or is on track to meet, the targets and milestones 
set out in the LDS, and if not the reasons why;

 An assessment of the extent to which policies in the Local Plan are being 
implemented and, if not, the reasons why;

 The actions required to address any identified issues (the AMR itself will not revise 
or amend policies, but it will set out the steps the Council will take to address those 
issues, e.g. bring forward a review); and

 Indicate whether any new Local Plan documents need to be prepared.

4.19 The latest AMR covering the financial year 2015-2016 was published in January 
2017. Further information can be found at: http://shropshire.gov.uk/planning-
policy/annual-monitoring-report-(amr)/ 

Supplementary Planning Documents
4.20 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) are intended to expand upon policy or 

provide further detail to policies in adopted Local Plan Documents. Supplementary 
Planning Documents replace the old system of supplementary planning guidance, but 
act in a similar way. SPDs give further information to the policies contained in the 
development plan documents, and can cover a wide variety of issues.  The Council 
currently has three adopted SPDs: The Developer Contributions SPD and Sustainable 
Design SPD (both adopted in 2011); and the Type and Affordability of Housing SPD 
(adopted in 2012). A draft version of an updated Type and Affordability of Housing 
SPD has been prepared and it is anticipated this will be finalised and adopted in 
December 2017.  Whilst SPD’s have also been drafted to provide additional guidance 
to support Local Plan policies on the Historic Environment and the Natural 
Environment, further progress with these documents is currently a lower priority than 
the Local Plan Review.

4.21 Further information on Shropshire Council’s SPD’s can be found via:
http://shropshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-(spds)/

5 Community Infrastructure Levy

5.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge on new development to help fund 
supporting infrastructure.  The CIL process is closely related to but not part of the 
statutory planning framework. Statute for the CIL is provided by Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as Amended). Shropshire Council’s CIL levy is 
based on the size, type and location of new development. CIL liability is calculated 
using the Gross Internal Area of a development.  In order to secure the necessary 

http://shropshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/annual-monitoring-report-(amr)/
http://shropshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/annual-monitoring-report-(amr)/
http://shropshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents-(spds)/


11

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
April 2017

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

infrastructure funding, Shropshire Council have an adopted Charging Schedule in 
place and have been implementing the CIL since 1st January 2012. The Charging 
Schedule sets out CIL rates per square metre of floorspace for all open market 
residential development only.

5.2 No review of the Council’s CIL Charging Schedule is currently proposed, but may be 
required in future in response to changes in national legislation announced in the 
recent Housing White Paper. Further information on CIL can be found via:
http://shropshire.gov.uk/CIL

http://shropshire.gov.uk/CIL


12

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

Table 2: Preparation Programme 
Document Jan

Feb

M
ar

A
pr

M
ay 

Jun

Jly

A
ug

S
ept

O
ct

N
ov

D
ec

Jan

Feb

M
ar

A
pr

M
ay 

Jun

Jly

A
ug

S
ept

O
ct

N
ov

D
ec

Jan

Feb

M
ar

A
pr

M
ay 

Jun

Jly

A
ug

S
ept

O
ct

N
ov

D
ec

Jan

Feb

Annual Monitoring
Annual Monitoring Report including Local Aggregates Assessment P P P P P
5 Year Housing Land Supply Statement P P P

Shropshire Local Plan Review 2016 - 2036
Draft Plan 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 C3 C©4 6 ® C©7 P
Sustainability Appraisal
Habitats Regulations Assessment

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD's)
Type & Affordability of Housing C2 C7

Key: Preparation Stages Milestones
C  Cabinet Pre-Production stage Adoption 0 - Start of preparation

©  Council Production stage Formal Consultation 1 - Development of Issues & Alternative Options; 

♦ Pre-Hearing Meeting (if required) Examination 2 - Targeted Consultation on Preferred Options  

® Inspector's Report Sustainability Appraisal & HRA 3 - Publication of Final Plan/Pre-Submission Draft

P Final Publication SA refining alternatives & assessing effects 4 - Submission to Secretary of State;

SA Final Draft  Habitat Regulations assessment 6 - Examination Hearing

SA Submission Report  Habitat Regulations Final Report 7 - Proposed Adoption;

2017 2018 2019 2020



13

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

6 Risk Management

6.1 The Risk Management Log (Appendix 2) contains analysis of the areas of 
uncertainty and risk facing production of the Local Plan, with risks of a 
critical or significant potential impact and of a very high or high likelihood 
including for example: staff turnover and recruitment difficulties or receipt 
of large numbers of objections. 

6.2 There are significant risks that could impact upon delivery of the Local 
Plan to the schedules set out within this Local Development Scheme. In 
order to minimise possible impacts, risk management has been 
embedded in the Local Plan production processes in order that risk can 
be evaluated and where possible eliminated. Whilst proposed responses 
or mitigation measures have been set out, seeking where possible to 
manage these risks, some areas of risk are outside the Council’s control. 
In addition, financial pressures could curtail many of the proposed 
mitigation measures. 

6.3 In conclusion, the risk assessment would suggest that the Local Plan 
programme remains extremely challenging. For example, where individual 
document production milestones are missed it could be difficult to get 
“back on track” without impacts on other elements of the overall 
programme. The most fundamental overall mitigation measure that can 
be made is to ensure sufficient resources are available throughout the 
timescale of the LDS and to build-in realistic document production 
timescales into this LDS at the outset.



14

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

Appendix 1: Document Profiles

Shropshire Local Plan Review 2016 - 2036
Document Overview

Role & subject:

Sets out the vision, objectives, targets and spatial 
strategy for the development of Shropshire together with 
site allocations to meet development requirements for 
this period and detailed development management 
policies.

Geographical area: Shropshire

Status: Statutory Local Plan document

Conformity: General conformity with NPPF and NPPG

Timetable

Commence preparation June 2016

Consultation on Draft Plan  January – March 2017

Targeted engagement on 
Preferred Options October 2017 – June 2018

Publication of Pre-Submission 
draft Plan October 2018

Submission to S of S December 2018

Hearing March 2019

Inspector’s Report October 2019

Adoption December 2019

Arrangements for Production 

Lead for production process Planning Policy & Strategy Manager

Political Management 
arrangements Local Plan Member Group, Cabinet & Council

Resource requirements Core Planning Policy staff supported by contractors and 
by staff across a wide range of other council services 



15

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

Habitat Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) and 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) 
(incorporating Strategic 
Environmental Assessment or 
SEA).

HRA and combined SA incorporating SEA carried out 
in-house 

Evidence Base Resource data held by Councils, statutory bodies, 
consultation responses

Involvement of stakeholders & 
the community

Compliance with the published Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) and Duty to Co-operate requirements

Monitoring and Review

Monitoring requirements Monitored on an annual basis (AMR) and subject to 
review if the monitoring highlights a need

Review timescale
The document will be formally reviewed at least once 
every five years or linked to the implications of new 
evidence.



16

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

Appendix 2: Local Plan production Risk Management Log

Area of Uncertainty/Risk Effect Likelihood Impact Total Risk 
Score Response / Counter Measures

1 Revision/change of LDS 

 Approval of LDS 
delayed. 

 Causes slippage in 
overall Local Plan 
programme 

3 3 9
(low)

 Close relationship and advocacy with 
members and directors

2

Constrained Council financial 
resources – insufficient budgetary 
provision to adequately finance 
Local Plan Review project
Rising Inspectorate fees are also 
noted

 Work cannot be 
progressed

 Objectives on quality 
compromised

4 4 16
(medium)

 A strong a case for setting an 
appropriate budget to deliver Local 
Plan and costs/budget kept under 
review.

 Use of funding for Service 
improvements.

 Maximise use of matrix management 
to draw on suitable staff resources 
within the Council

 Expand partnership working to draw 
upon the skills and resources within 
other organisations

 Review LDS timetables where 
necessary 

3
Lack of in-house skills for 
specialised areas of policy 
work/background studies 

 Slow progress 
causing a slippage in 
programme

 Evidence base 
challenged or 
undermined

 Quality compromised

4 4 16
(medium)

 Obtain training for areas where 
expertise is lacking.

 Review the adequacy of staffing as 
part of annual service reviews.

 Expand partnership working
 In some cases it will be more efficient 

to engage consultants where specialist 
skills are required to short timescales 
and in-house development is 
unrealistic.

4.
Project Team required to do other 
unforeseen work (eg: Planning 
Appeals)

 Diverts Team from 
Local Plan causing a 
slippage in 

4 4 16
(medium)

 Make Local Plan a Corporate Priority 
 Identify key staff to be ‘shielded’ from 

other work 



17

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

Area of Uncertainty/Risk Effect Likelihood Impact Total Risk 
Score Response / Counter Measures

programme.  Increase size of team 

5.

Staff turnover and recruitment 
difficulties – Some staff turnover 
might be expected over the LDS 
period and this could have a 
considerable impact. 

 Reduced capacity 
causing slippage in 
programme or failure 
to prepare Local 
Plan

3 5 15
(high)

 Take prompt action to fill vacancies 
with staff with the required skills 

 Pay recruitment/ retention incentives
 Where recruitment difficulties are 

encountered, consider interim 
arrangements such as temporary 
appointments, use of agency staff or 
secondment of staff.

6. Staff absence e.g. long term 
sickness, maternity leave.

 Reduced capacity 
causing slippage in 
programme or failure 
to prepare Local 
Plan

4 2 8
(low)

 Consider interim arrangements such 
as temporary appointments, buying in 
agency staff or secondment of staff.

 The adequacy of staffing levels will be 
evaluated through the monitoring of 
the preparation of the Local Plan.

7.
Joint working with other internal 
departments and / or external 
authorities causes delay 

 Causes a slippage in 
programme 3 4 12

(medium)

 Ensure that timescales for the Local 
Plan Review realistically reflect partner 
organisations ability to contribute to 
joint working 

 Ensure commitment to milestone dates 
and resource allocation is obtained 
from relevant parties in advance in 
particular HE, NE and EA

 Consider involvement mechanisms 
carefully, seeking to ensure 
stakeholders feel engagement is 
worthwhile. 

 Consider ways to help improve the 
ability of local stakeholders to get 
involved and where possible will look 
to achieve efficiencies by linking with 
Community Enablement Team 
processes for example.  

8. Volume of work greater than  Causes slippage in 3 5 15  Ensure timetable is realistic but has 



18

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

Area of Uncertainty/Risk Effect Likelihood Impact Total Risk 
Score Response / Counter Measures

anticipated e.g. higher level of 
representations than expected 

programme. (high) some flexibility built in 
 Monitor progress against LDS 
 Consider additional resources 

9
Planning Inspectorate unable to 
meet the timescale for 
examination and/or reporting 

 Examination and/or 
report is delayed 

 Key milestones in 
programme not met 

3 5 15
(high)

 Once the LDS is in place there is a 
Service Level Agreement with PINS 
regarding the proposed public 
examination dates in this Scheme.

 Close liaison with PINS to ensure early 
warning of any problems (e.g. 
consultation on LDS)    

 Experience has shown that PINS 
delays occur post examination in the 
reporting phase leading to problems 
with decision taking and at appeal

11

Political considerations – all key 
Local Plan preparation steps 
involve Member decisions. 
Reports also need to be prepared 
around a month before the date of 
decision. 

 Change in 
membership of Local 
Plan Member Group

 Change in 
approach/priorities 
arising from new 
members

5 3 15
(medium)

 lead-in-time to member decisions has 
been allowed for in all document 
timetables in this LDS

 Members involved in the Local Plan 
preparation process in order to provide 
ownership, leadership and 
commitment to future implementation

 It is proposed that quarterly 
performance against these indicators 
will be included in the Council’s 
performance management framework.



19

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

Area of Uncertainty/Risk Effect Likelihood Impact Total Risk 
Score Response / Counter Measures

12 Local Plan Review found unsound

 Local Plan cannot be 
adopted without 
significant additional 
work

3 5 15
(high)

 Ensure Local Plan is sound, founded 
on a robust evidence base with 
sustainability appraisal and well 
audited community and stakeholder 
engagement   

 Keep in view best practice elsewhere.
 Obtain training for areas where 

expertise is lacking.

13 Legal Challenge on procedural 
grounds

 Adopted Local Plan 
quashed 

 Additional workload 
2 5 10

(high)
 Ensure all relevant regulatory 

procedures are complied with 

14

National policy changes e.g. 
arising from Housing White Paper 
or new Government (General 
Election 8 June) 

 Uncertainty & delay
 Need to revise 

scope, content or 
timetable for review

4 4 16 
(medium)

 Officer level / political engagement 
with CLG / new minister;

 Careful project design and 
management, including particularly the 
measures identified under 2-8 above.



20

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

Explanation of Risk Scoring 
Likelihood (With current controls in place):

Score Definition
Very Low 1 Rare May occur only in exceptional circumstances

Low 2 Possible Risk may occur in the next 3 years

Medium 3 Likely The risk is likely to occur more than once in the next 3 years.

High 4 Almost Certain The risk is likely to occur this year

Very High 5 Certain The risk has occurred and will continue to do so without action being taken

Impact (Potential impact that could occur):

Score Definition

Very Low 1 No Impact No notable impact identifiable

Low 2 Minor
Affects only one group of stakeholders, with minimum impact.  Organisationally localised, with 
position recoverable within the financial period. 
For example: failure to meet minor project deadlines.  No external interest.

Medium 3 Significant
Affects more than one group of stakeholders, with widespread but short-term impact.  May 
attract the short-term attention of legislative/regulatory bodies.  
For example: short-term failure of key systems, high-profile litigation.

High 4 Major

Affects more than one group of stakeholders, with widespread but short-term impact.  Attracts 
the medium-term attention of legislative/regulatory bodies.  

For example: prolonged failure of a key system, severely adverse external report (such as 
from Best Value inspectorate).

Very High 5 Catastrophic

Medium to long term impact on performance.  Affects all groups of stakeholders, with a long-
term impact.  National impact, with the rapid intervention of legislative/regulatory bodies.  

For example:  total failure of key systems and services.



21

Shropshire Local Development 
Scheme 2017
June 2017

The Risk Matrix

4321

1

2

3

4

5

5

VL VL VL L

VL VL L M

VL L L M M

L L M M H

H H H

LIKELIHOOD

I
M
P
A
C
T

H H

L

L

The risk matrix which is used to help assess and prioritise risks. It has been designed to ensure that all high priority risks are given 
urgent attention and is so a considerable advance on what had been used previously.

All risks have countermeasures identified; those in the High categories i.e. numbers 4, 5, 8, 9, 12, 13, and 14 may be given associated 
action plans.





1

Committee and date

Cabinet

21 June 2017

Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy, 2018 to 2023

Responsible Officer George Candler, Director of Place and Enterprise 
e-mail: George.candler@shropshire.gov.uk Tel:(01743)255003 

1.0 Summary

This report seeks approval for an Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy (the strategy) for 
Shropshire. As an established brand, leisure facilities have enormous potential to 
meet the sport, recreation and other needs of local communities. However, since the 
Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy was originally written in 2009 severe pressures on 
the public finances makes it increasingly difficult to support a sustainable, affordable 
and future proofed offer. 

In 2016, expert leisure consultants supported the Council in the development of a 
new draft strategy. A public consultation was undertaken between 29th July and 30th 
September 2016. 90 responses were received to the consultation, and alongside key 
stakeholder contributions provided from Energize the Shropshire and Telford & 
Wrekin County Sports Partnership, Sport England, Telford & Wrekin Council and 
others, these helped to inform the development of a revised draft strategy.

A further public consultation was carried out on a revised strategy between 20th 
March and 8th May 2017. 119 responses and eight stakeholder responses were 
received. Responses were weighted towards Bishops Castle and to a lesser extent 
Church Stretton. 70% of respondents agreed with the vision, principles and aims and 
56% with the proposed minimum leisure facility provision set out within the strategy.

In the context of the outcome of the two public consultations, an emerging agenda 
that places physical activity at the heart of individual and community wellbeing, and 
the Council’s on-going financial situation, the strategy has now been finalised. 

In summary the strategy is firmly embedded within a range of opportunities that 
increase physical activity levels, and use physical activity and sport to raise 
aspirations, support health improvements, tackle inequality in communities, grow the 
economy, create more jobs and underpin the continued social, physical and 
economic regeneration of neighbourhoods. 

The strategy sets out a vision in which the provision of indoor leisure facilities will 
support a wider vision in which “Shropshire will be a county where healthier, active 
lifestyles are encouraged, supported and facilitated for everyone”. 

The strategy sets out a hierarchy of leisure facility provision and describes, based on 
an assessment of need, how the Council will meet the recreational and sporting 
needs of Shropshire residents by supporting:

mailto:George.candler@shropshire.gov.uk


2

 Six Tier 1 Leisure Hubs – “destination” facilities within Shropshire’s larger 
market towns that provide a wide range of facilities and leisure opportunities

 Four Tier 2 Community Leisure Centres – “local” facilities within smaller towns 
and settlements potentially providing a more limited range of leisure 
opportunities

89% of Shropshire residents will be able to access leisure facilities within one of 
these ten locations within a 20-minute drive time. In setting this out we recognise that 
the way that people access leisure provision is much more complicated than this 
simple analysis suggests, for example, not everyone has access to a car, and that 
public and community transport options in rural areas while available are more 
limited.

The hierarchy of leisure facility provision provides a framework for future Council 
investment and support, rather than a list of all community accessible indoor leisure 
facilities. Fundamentally leisure facility provision in Shropshire, notwithstanding the 
rurality of the county, will continue to be defined going forward by local mixed and 
varied provision including village halls, high street gym fitness providers, schools, 
community and civic centres, etc. The hierarchy does not set out to close any 
existing leisure facility with public access, but it does recognise that the Council will 
need to prioritise where it provides financial support.

The strategy also clarifies the role of Shropshire Council as a commissioner and 
partner and/or enabler of leisure facility provision.

The Council will work with a broad range of interested parties to develop a co-
ordinated and jointly owned five-year implementation plan within the context set out 
in the strategy and the Council’s financial position.  

The strategy sets out the Council’s preferred course of action, but, the ability of the 
Council to support leisure facilities beyond the end of 2018/19 will be determined in 
due course as the Council’s medium term financial position becomes more clearly 
defined.  Any proposals for the decommissioning of leisure facilities will be brought 
back to Cabinet for determination.

2.0 Recommendations

Cabinet are asked to:

A. Approve the Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy, 2018 to 2023

B. Delegate responsibility to the Director of Place and Enterprise in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Leisure & Culture and a broad range of interested 
parties to co-develop, implement and review a detailed five-year action plan 
linked to the delivery of the strategy.  

REPORT

3.0 Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

A number of risks related to the successful implementation of the strategy have been 
identified.



3

Risk Mitigation actions
Adoption of the strategy results 
in a detrimental impact to 
participation in sport and 
physical activity resulting in poor 
individual and community health 
outcomes

The Council recognises that it will take time and 
resources, staff and financial, to support the 
development of sustainable local delivery 
models for the leisure facilities that it currently 
supports.  This is why the strategy proposes to 
phase in new arrangements and, where 
appropriate, to support these with initial one off 
investment. 

Lack of stakeholder engagement 
and public involvement in the 
development of the strategy 
results in challenge to the 
strategy and resultant delay to 
its adoption as a framework for 
future Council investment and 
support

Two public consultations on the draft strategy 
were undertaken between 29th July and 30th 
September 2016 and between 20th March and 
8th May 2017. 90 and 119 individual responses 
were received respectively alongside a number 
of responses from local stakeholders. 

Key stakeholder contributions were also 
provided from Energize the County Sports 
Partnership, Sport England and Telford & 
Wrekin Council.

The key themes from the consultations have 
informed the development of the final strategy, 
and will be further picked up within the 
development of a detailed action plan.

Lack of staff and financial 
resources to implement the 
strategy, including capital 
investment in improvements to 
facilities and ongoing revenue 
support 

The Council will continue to apply dedicated 
expert staff resources to the implementation of 
the strategy and will use the Community 
Enablement Team to support local facilitation.

Where appropriate investment will be sought 
from external funding organisations, such as 
Sport England.

Capital investment proposals will be appraised 
through the Council’s capital programme on an 
“invest to save” basis.

The strategy will be regularly reviewed in light 
of the Council’s Financial Strategy, and any 
required action will be taken accordingly. 

There is no statutory requirement for the Council to provide leisure facilities. 
However, requirements for high quality physical education are embedded within the 
National Curriculum including instruction in swimming and water safety. 

The Council has a responsibility to meet the Disability Discrimination Act, Equality 
Act and broader social inclusion requirements. An Equality and Social Inclusion 
Impact Assessment (ESIIA) has been prepared by the Council (included as 
Appendix 4), and this will be kept under review in the context of the development 
and implementation of a detailed delivery plan.  



4

The hierarchy of provision described within the strategy does not set out to close any 
existing leisure facility with public access, but it does recognise that the Council will 
need to prioritise where it provides financial support. Any individual proposals for 
significant investment and / or decommissioning will be brought back to Cabinet with 
further individual ESIIAs. These assessments will consider the potential impact for 
people in, for example, the groupings of Disability, Gender Reassignment, Race, 
Gender, and Religion and Belief.  Points to be considered will include considerations 
about programming, changing room provision, physical layout, etc.

4.0 Financial implications

Shropshire Council is projected to have a funding gap of £36.6 million by the end of 
2019/20. 

This report is written on the assumption that the Council would wish to continue to 
support the availability of indoor leisure facilities across the county for the benefit of 
the community, but that this needs to do this based on a thorough understanding of 
need and budget constraints.

The current Council annual revenue budget in support of the delivery of leisure 
facilities breaks down as follows (note that the headings used reflect the approach 
set out in section 9.0 of this report):

Leisure Facilities Net Controllable* 
Budget for 2017/18

Tier 1 Leisure Hubs £1,005,360

Tier 2 Community Leisure Centres £250,090

Tier 3 Community Leisure Centres £238,360

Total £1,493,810

*excludes the cost of internal support services and ‘below the line’ costs

Going forward the strategy sets out an approach in which:

1. There is a potential year on year revenue commitment to supporting the 
provision of Tier 1 Leisure Hubs within six key locations, with the aim of 
moving them to a cost neutral position where possible.  

2. There is a requirement to move to cost neutral provision for Tier 2 Community 
Leisure Centres within four locations, while recognising that in some cases 
this may require time limited investment and support.  The strategy aims to 
achieve cost neutral provision to the Council at all four facilities by the end of 
2022/23.

3. For a further six Tier 3 Community Leisure Centres, currently supported by 
the Council (three currently still under the Council’s direct management), the 
aim is to achieve cost neutral position to the Council by the end of 2018/19.  



5

This can be summarised as follows:

Leisure Facilities Financial 
Support

Number 
of 
Facilities

Facility Description

Tier 1 Leisure Hubs Ongoing 
revenue 
support, as 
required

7 Shrewsbury Sports Village
Quarry Swimming and Fitness Centre
Oswestry Leisure Centre
Market Drayton Swimming Centre
South Shropshire Leisure Centre
SpArC
Bridgnorth Leisure Centre

Tier 2 Community 
Leisure Centres

Cost neutral 
to the Council 
by the end of 
2022/23

4 Church Stretton Leisure Centre
Whitchurch Swimming Centre
Whitchurch Sports Centre
Cleobury Mortimer Sports Centre

Tier 3 Community 
Leisure Centres 

Cost neutral 
to the Council 
by the end of 
2018/19

6 Much Wenlock Leisure Centre
Roman Road Sports Centre
Idsall Sports Centre
Wem Swimming and Lifestyle Centre
The Severn Centre
Craven Arms Community Centre

Revenue support to each of the Tier 1 Leisure Hubs is currently subject to existing 
operating agreements, but it is envisaged that following the end of these agreements, 
ongoing revenue support will be determined in the context of required outcomes, 
priorities and the financial situation at the time.  

Revenue support (during the strategy period) to the four Tier 2 facilities that will not 
be supported beyond the end of 2022/23 and the six Tier 3 facilities that will not be 
supported beyond the end of 2018/19 will be negotiated on an individual basis. 

Growing a facility’s individual ‘facility mix’ through investment and innovation has and 
will continue to show an increase in usage at those particular sites.  The Council will 
continue to work in partnership with Sport England to acquire external funding to 
ensure the future sustainability of leisure facilities, particularly Tier 1 and Tier 2 
facilities.  Access to the Council’s Capital Programme will also be pursued.  Projects 
will be appraised on an individual basis.  Where the responsibility for the 
management of centres is being transferred to new organisations, we will adopt an 
“invest to save” approach within the context of wider commercial discussions and 
considerations.

It is recognised that the detailed approach described here will need to be reviewed in 
the light of the Council’s financial strategy and emerging forecast financial position.  

5.0 Background

Cabinet approved an Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy, 2009 – 2019, and Playing 
Pitch Strategy, 2010 to 2020, on the 29th June 2011. 



6

This report is not concerned with the Playing Pitch Strategy, which will be the subject 
of a separate review in due course.

As an established brand, leisure facilities have enormous potential to meet the sport, 
recreation and other needs of local communities. However, it should be recognised 
that since the Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy was originally written in 2009 the 
severe pressures on the public finances make it increasingly difficult to support a 
sustainable, affordable and future proofed offer.

The key objectives of the strategy review were to:
 Analyse the supply and demand of facilities and to identify gaps in provision 

and opportunities for improved facility provision.
 Ensure that the delivery of indoor leisure provision is undertaken with full 

reference to relevant strategic and local influences including well-being 
considerations and financial constraints.

 Clarify the role of the Council as a commissioner, partner and/or enabler of 
leisure facility provision.

 Confirm an approach for Council support for the future provision of indoor 
leisure facilities. 

 Maximise engagement with key stakeholders.

The strategy does not make recommendations for the many leisure facilities that are 
run independently of Shropshire Council, although it is recognised that these will 
continue to make a significant contribution to opportunities for residents to take part 
in sporting and recreational pursuits.

6.0 Current situation

Following the creation of the unitary Council in 2009 Shropshire Council supported 
the provision of 24 leisure facilities:

 18 were managed directly by the Council
 4 were operated under a management agreement by a trust
 2 were supported financially to provide community use.

In early 2017, all 24 leisure facilities are continuing to provide community use, 
although in some cases this is limited. However, there have been significant changes 
to the management arrangements of these leisure facilities and this is described 
below.

Managed by Shropshire Council • Much Wenlock Leisure Centre
• Idsall Sports Centre, Shifnal 
• Roman Road Sports Centre, Shrewsbury

Managed by two Trusts, Shropshire 
Community Leisure Trust and Teme 
Leisure within management 
agreements 

• Shrewsbury Sports Village
• Quarry Swimming & Fitness Centre
• Oswestry Leisure Centre
• Market Drayton Swimming Centre
• Whitchurch Swimming Centre
• South Shropshire Leisure Centre, Ludlow
• SpArC, Bishops Castle
• Church Stretton Leisure Centre 
• Cleobury Mortimer Sports Centre



7

Managed by schools within tapered 
funding agreements with the 
Council

• Whitchurch Sports Centre
• Bridgnorth Leisure Centre
• Lakelands Sports Centre, Ellesmere
•

Managed by local community 
organisations within tapered 
funding agreements with the 
Council

• Wem Swimming & Lifestyle Centre
• Craven Arms Community Centre
• Severn Centre, Highley

Managed by schools and colleges 
with no financial support provided 
by Shropshire Council 

• Rhyn Park Leisure Centre, St Martins
• Thomas Adams Sports Centre, Wem
• Mary Webb Sports Centre, Pontesbury
• Ellesmere Pool
• London Road, Shrewsbury
• The Grange, Shrewsbury

Recent trends in participation at indoor leisure facilities are shown below.

Shropshire Leisure 
Centres

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

All facilities 1,981,616 2,092,407 2,105,225 2,004,968 2,001,122

Shropshire Council 
managed 

763,452 583,797 524,045 261,337 226,084

Shropshire Community 
Leisure Trust

628,874 949,000 997,946 1,001,101 1,063,765

Teme Leisure 413,722 418,709 418,111 393,784 405,987

Independently 
managed

175,568 140,901 165,123 348,776 305,286

It is difficult to establish precise participation trends as the breakdown of individual 
facilities has altered over time, for example since 2016/17 three facilities no longer 
provide user information. The figures do suggest that overall usage has remained 
relatively stable, but that the larger “destination” facilities managed by the Shropshire 
Community Leisure Trust have shown an increase.

With respect to future investment, since 2014 the Council has been developing 
options for sustaining future swimming provision in Shrewsbury. The Quarry 
Swimming and Fitness Centre in Shrewsbury is a well-used pool that has been in 
operation for over 100 years.  The strategy does not make any specific 
recommendations with respect to the location of future swimming provision in 
Shrewsbury beyond confirming the requirement for ongoing provision. Future 
swimming provision in Shrewsbury will be determined within a process set out within 
detailed Terms of Reference confirmed by Shropshire Council Cabinet on the 
28 September 2016.



8

7.0 Development of the Leisure Facilities Strategy and key outcomes from 
the public consultations

Leisure consultants, Strategic Leisure Ltd, supported the Council in the development 
of the strategy, and in particular in the development of a detailed Needs Assessment. 

Key stakeholder contributions have been provided by Energize the County Sports 
Partnership, Sport England and Telford & Wrekin Council.

Two public consultations were undertaken, firstly on a draft strategy between 29th 
July and 30th September 2016, and secondly on a revised draft strategy between 20th 
March and 8th May 2017. 

While not exhaustive, the main themes emerging from these two consultations 
together with a Council response are summarised within Appendix 1.

We made significant changes to the strategy following the first consultation and in 
particular set out a detailed proposed hierarchy of leisure facility provision. 

No changes were made to the strategy following the second consultation, although 
we have confirmed three groupings (tiers) within the hierarchy of provision. A number 
of points will be picked up within the context of the development of a detailed action 
plan.

8.0 Leisure Facilities Strategy, 2018 to 2023

The proposed final Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy, 2018 to 2023, is included within 
Appendix 2. The approach set out within the strategy is underpinned by an 
understanding of the unique character of Shropshire and the opportunities and issues 
facing its residents.  This is brought together within the Needs Assessment, which is 
included as Appendix 3.

Key aspects and recommendations from the strategy are included within this report.

The strategy is firmly embedded within a range of opportunities that increase physical 
activity levels, and use physical activity and sport to raise aspirations, support health 
improvements, tackle inequality in communities, grow the economy, create more jobs 
and underpin the continued social, physical and economic regeneration of 
neighbourhoods. 

The strategy sets out a vision in which the provision of indoor leisure facilities will 
support a wider vision in which “Shropshire will be a county where healthier, active 
lifestyles are encouraged, supported and facilitated for everyone”. 

A set of core principles underpins the delivery of the vision:

 Support for the creation of a high quality and sustainable indoor sports facility 
mix, which provides accessible and inclusive activities for all Shropshire 
residents leading to increased participation and active lifestyles, thereby 
meeting community need.

 The importance of leisure facilities as relevant community spaces, accessible 
to all and offering opportunities for the delivery of a wide range of activities, 
services, support and entertainment to local communities and people.



9

 A commitment to work with a wide range of partner organisations and 
individuals as co-creators and co-deliverers of leisure facilities so that they 
best reflect the differing needs of local communities.

In taking forward the strategy vision and core principles, three strategic aims have 
been developed:

1. To support effective strategic and local partnerships that deliver a modern, 
efficient and sustainable community sport and leisure facility offer

2. To support the provision of leisure facilities that are fit for purpose to meet 
demands for participation now and in the future

3. To align sport and leisure priorities to support national and local priorities 
including healthy, prosperous, safe and strong communities

Shropshire Council’s role will be to create the context that enables leisure facilities to 
impact positively on the lives of the people of Shropshire.  The Council will have a 
facilitating and enabling role working in partnership with a range of potential 
providers.  Above all, local communities and people will make leisure facilities 
sustainable and successful.

In developing this strategy, the Council recognises two important considerations:
 It will take time to develop and nurture new approaches.  Time will be needed 

to develop collaborative community working, to up-skill the local community 
workforce and to widen the market of leisure providers

 Each community / town is different and whilst there are some common issues, 
a one-size fits all approach is unlikely to work.

We have also worked on the basis that, as far as possible, all Shropshire residents 
should have reasonable access, as a minimum, to:

 Sports Halls - badminton, indoor football, basketball, cricket, netball, 
volleyball, etc.

 Swimming Pools – recreational, learn to swim, clubs, etc.
 Health and Fitness -   gyms, work outs and activities

9.0 What this means in practice

To guide future Council investment and revenue support, and in order to meet the 
current and future sporting and recreational needs of Shropshire’s residents outlined 
within the Needs Assessment, the strategy sets out a hierarchy of leisure facilities 
provision. The hierarchy does not set out to close any existing leisure facility with 
public access, but it does recognise that the Council will need to prioritise where it 
provides financial support.



10

Hierarchy of Leisure Facilities provision 

Leisure Facility Provision

Currently supported by Shropshire Council:
 Shrewsbury - Quarry Swimming & Fitness Centre 

and Shrewsbury Sports Village1

 Oswestry - Oswestry Leisure Centre 
 Ludlow - South Shropshire Leisure Centre
 Bridgnorth - Bridgnorth Leisure Centre
 Market Drayton - Market Drayton Swimming Centre 
 Bishops Castle - SpArC

Other significant community facilities, not supported by 
Shropshire Council, also contribute significantly to local 
provision including:

 Shrewsbury – London Road and Roman Road
 Bridgnorth – Oldbury Wells School
 Market Drayton – The Grove School and The 

Maurice Chandler Centre
Tier 1 Leisure 
Hubs
(urban centres and 
larger market 
towns)

 “Multi facility leisure hubs” within main population 
areas (existing and planned growth), serving 
significant urban and rural catchments 

 Provide access to 93% of the Shropshire population 
within a 25-minute drive time

 “Destinations” that provides a wide range of activities 
(either at the same venue or via a network of linked 
venues).  Minimum of strategic sized [ie.3 badminton 
courts +] sports halls, swimming facilities, fitness 
provision and other complementary activities, e.g. 
outdoor facilities, arts and entertainment, etc. 

 Recreational, school, competition and club use 
 Conveniently located multifunctional spaces, 

gateways to a range of services, co-location of 
partner services

 Proactive approach to supporting outreach 
community activity within the surrounding catchment

 Focuses for support for local community leisure 
centres 

1 Note that, based on a detailed assessment of the options and affordability issues, the 
Council’s preferred location for improved swimming provision in Shrewsbury is at the 
Shrewsbury Sports Village. However, potentially interested organisations have been given 
until the 27th October 2017 to submit Full Business Cases to retain swimming provision at the 
existing Quarry site or other town centre location. Detailed Terms of Reference, 31 October 
2016, describe the process to be followed, the evaluation criteria and the evaluation 
methodology.  A decision will be taken by Cabinet on the final location.  Reference: Cabinet 
report, 28th September 2016
For further information visit: http://www.shropshire.gov.uk/swimming-provision-in-shrewsbury/

http://www.shropshire.gov.uk/swimming-provision-in-shrewsbury/


11

 Fully staffed
 Managed by third parties
 Ongoing revenue funding support with the aim to be 

profitable with no public subsidy required over an 
agreed timeframe

 Opportunity for Community Asset Transfers to 
suitable local groups in support of social, economic 
or environmental benefit, dependent on local 
circumstances.

Currently supported by Shropshire Council:
 Church Stretton – Church Stretton Leisure Centre
 Whitchurch – Whitchurch Swimming Centre and 

Whitchurch Leisure Centre
 Cleobury Mortimer – Cleobury Mortimer Sports & 

Fitness Centre
 Ellesmere - Lakelands Sports Centre

Other community facilities, not supported by Shropshire 
Council, also contribute to local provision including:

 Ellesmere – Ellesmere Swimming Centre and 
Ellesmere College Sports Facilities

 Flexible provision that responds to local 
circumstances 

 Provides access (including the Leisure Hubs) to 89% 
of the population within a 20-minute drive time 

 Minimum of sports halls and fitness provision and 
other complementary activities, including swimming, 
where appropriate

 Recreational, school and club use 

Tier 2 Community 
Leisure Centres
(smaller market 
towns)

 Flexible staffing, volunteer staffing where appropriate
 Flexible opening hours and activity programmes 

responding to local community circumstances and 
site location.

 Managed by local community organisations, for 
example schools, independent operators, community 
organisations, etc. within community access 
agreements where appropriate

 Maximum of five year time-limited tapered revenue 
support linked to a plan to achieve sustainable and 
cost neutral provision (to the Council) by the end of 
2022/23

 Opportunity for Community Asset Transfers to 
suitable local groups in support of social, economic 
or environmental benefit, dependent on local 
circumstances



12

 Potential closure as last resort in the event of no 
sustainable alternative management options. Would 
be subject to separate consultations and a Cabinet 
decision.

Currently supported by Shropshire Council:
 Much Wenlock Leisure Centre
 Roman Road Sports Centre, Shrewsbury
 Idsall Sports Centre, Shifnal
 Wem Swimming & Lifestyle Centre
 Severn Centre, Highley
 Craven Arms Community Centre

Independently managed and operated community leisure 
facilities

Tier 3 Community 
Leisure Centres
(smaller market 
towns)

 Reflect local circumstances
 No financial support from Shropshire Council beyond 

the period of the existing Shropshire Council Medium 
Term Financial Strategy i.e. to the end of 2018/192.  It 
is recognised that individual negotiations will need to 
take place to achieve satisfactory outcomes to all 
parties

 Professional advice and guidance where appropriate

It is expected that all leisure facilities supported by Shropshire Council should 
provide, in the context of local circumstances, a balance between:

 Casual bookings 
 Pay and play activities 
 Programmed courses and activities e.g. Learn to Swim, Exercise Referrals, 

etc.
 Club use - It is important to highlight the role that local clubs play in each 

activity programme and their contribution to supporting active communities.  
Programmes should include appropriate provision of coached sessions, and 
co-ordination and links with sports development programmes elsewhere in 
the area.

 Activities for young children – Both formal day time school use and holiday, 
weekend and evening activities for young people 

 Events and competitions

With regards to pricing, the Council expects that the operators of these leisure 
facilities will provide a comprehensive concessionary pricing regime to support 
participation amongst the vulnerable and disadvantaged. 

Based on our assessment of need the Council considers that it can best meet the 
recreational and sporting needs of Shropshire residents by supporting:

2 Note that a different approach is proposed for the Severn Centre, Highley, which is subject 
to a funding agreement that encompasses a range of community services of which leisure 
provision is just one component,



13

 Six Tier 1 Leisure Hubs – “destination” facilities within Shropshire’s larger 
market towns that provide a wide range of facilities and leisure opportunities

 Four Tier 2 Community Leisure Centres – “local” facilities within smaller 
towns and settlements potentially providing a more limited range of leisure 
opportunities

The table below summarises the percentage of the Shropshire population that live 
within 20 minutes of a Tier 1 and Tier 2 leisure facility, and 25 minutes of a Tier 1 
leisure hub.

Distance Number Population 
estimate 

Within 20 minutes’ drive time of 10 Tier 1 Leisure 
hubs and Tier 2 Community Leisure Centres 

276,400 89%

Within 25 minutes’ drive time of 6 Tier 1 Leisure 
Hubs 

286,900 93%

In setting this out we recognise that the way that people access leisure provision is 
more complicated than this simple analysis suggests, for example, not everyone has 
access to a car, and public and community transport options, while available are 
more limited in rural areas. We also recognise that residents have access to a broad 
variety of local provision provided entirely independently of the Council and to leisure 
facilities in neighbouring local authority areas.

Finally, we recognise that the provision of a leisure facility is not simply a question of 
proximity but also of accessibility, availability and quality. 

10.0 Implementation and review of the Leisure Facilities Strategy 

The Council will work with a broad range of interested parties to develop a co-
ordinated and jointly owned five-year implementation plan within the context set out 
in the strategy and the Council’s financial position.  

The strategy, its delivery and review, is set in the context of Shropshire Council’s 
three high-level outcomes and Performance Management Framework:

 Prosperous economy
 Healthy people
 Resilient communities

Our ambition is to add value to the physical activity levels, health wellbeing and 
sporting excellence of the people of Shropshire.

Specifically, we aim to have:
 Fit for purpose and relevant leisure centres that lie at the heart of their 

communities.
 A better understanding of the needs and aspirations of the people of 

Shropshire.
 Enabled local people, communities and partner organisations to be more 

involved with service creation and delivery.



14

 A vibrant mixed economy of leisure facilities that respond to the needs and 
aspirations of the people of Shropshire.

 Raised physical activity levels amongst all sections of the community and 
improved the health and wellbeing of Shropshire residents

 A skilled and qualified workforce with a strong voluntary basis
 Understood, and be able to demonstrate, the value and impact of indoor 

leisure facilities.

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not 
include items containing exempt or confidential information)
Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy 2009 - 2019 and Playing Pitch Strategy 2010 – 2020, 
Cabinet, 29 June 2011
Future Swimming Provision in Shrewsbury, Cabinet, 28 September 2016
Towards an Active Nation Strategy, 2016–2021, Sport England

Cabinet Member: 
Cllr Lezley Picton, Portfolio Holder for Leisure and Culture

Local Members:
All

Appendices:
Appendix 1: Outcomes to the public consultations
Appendix 2: Indoor Leisure Facility Strategy, 2018/19 to 2022/23
Appendix 3: Indoor Leisure Facility Strategy, Needs Assessment, 2016 – Available 
separately by request to peter.davis@shropshire.gov.uk
Appendix 4: Equality and Social Inclusion Impact Assessment

 

mailto:peter.davis@shropshire.gov.uk


1

Appendix 1 Outcomes to the Public Consultations on the Leisure 
Facilities Strategy

(1) Public consultation on the draft Leisure Facilities Strategy, 29th July to 
30th September 2016.

90 individual responses were received and 13 formal responses were received from 
various organisations.  5 Shropshire Council members also responded. Respondents 
were weighted towards Church Stretton and Bishops Castle which reflected relatively 
high profile local concerns at the future of the facilities within these towns.

Key themes raised during the public consultation are summarised below along with a 
Shropshire Council response on how the second draft strategy addressed them.

Theme: ‘the strategy is based on finances’

Council response: We have sought to embed the strategy in a wider recognition 
of the positive benefits of physical activity, while accepting that 
the pressure on public finances is inevitably a key 
consideration.  Since the draft strategy was consulted on the 
Council has committed to supporting discretionary service, 
including leisure facilities, until March 2019; furthermore the 
final strategy sets out a five year plan to support minimum 
leisure facility provision to meet the needs of Shropshire 
residents, comprising Leisure Hubs within six locations and 
Community Leisure Centres in a further four locations. This is 
an improved offer to that suggested within the draft strategy. 

Theme: ‘written to justify Council decision to relocate swimming 
provision in Shrewsbury’

Council response: The draft strategy confirmed the Council’s preferred option to 
relocate swimming in Shrewsbury to a site with existing leisure 
facilities. However, the draft strategy also notes that until a 
final decision is made on the future of the Quarry Swimming 
and Fitness Centre it is difficult to state whether there should 
be one or two (tier 1 Leisure Hubs) sites in Shrewsbury. The 
strategy does not make any specific recommendation for the 
location of future swimming in Shrewsbury and it is noted that 
this is currently the subject of a process set out within detailed 
Terms of Reference.

Theme: ‘recommendations are discriminatory to people living in 
rural areas, mothers, less abled users’

Council response: This point is recognised and has been reflected in our 
reanalysis of the accessibility of indoor leisure facilities.  We 
have designed a minimum leisure facility provision that 89% of 
the population will be able to access within a 20-minute drive 
time. In setting this out we recognise that the way that people 
access leisure provision is much more complicated than this 
simple analysis suggests, for example, not everyone has 



2

access to a car, and public transport options are more limited 
in rural areas. We also recognise that residents have access to 
leisure facilities in neighbouring authority areas and that there 
are many other options available to residents including private 
discount gyms, health spas, community halls, school 
community facilities, etc.

Our final strategy confirms that, while we want to provide a 
universal offer for everyone we also want to support the needs 
of people at both ends of the age spectrum and people living 
within disadvantaged communities. 

A detailed Equality and Social Inclusion Impact Assessment 
has been prepared, and will be kept under review alongside 
the delivery of the strategy

Theme: ‘conflicts with Sport England strategy’

Council response: The Needs Assessment supporting the final strategy has been 
completed using the Sport England Assessing Needs and 
Opportunities Guidance approach for facility planning.  We 
have also reflected Sports England’s recent ‘Towards an 
Active Nation’ strategy, 2016 and its emphasis on the benefits 
of physical activity.  Throughout the development of both the 
draft and final strategy, the Council has worked closely with 
Sport England officers, and sought the advice of Energize, the 
local county sports partnership. 

Theme: ‘public transport and actual distances do not allow access 
within a 30 minute drive time’

Council response: We recognise this point and have adopted a 20-mintue drive 
time in our design work. Sports England use a 20-minute drive 
time catchment in their Facilities Planning model tool, which is 
based on observed behaviour through benchmarking work.  
89% of the population of Shropshire live within 20 minutes’ 
drive time of the proposed minimum leisure facility provision.

Theme: ‘assumptions that everybody has access to a car’

Council response: The 2011 census identified that 84.2% of households own one 
car or more.  However, we recognise that public transport 
options are limited in rural areas, and that not everyone who 
wants will be able to easily access a local leisure facility local 
to them. 

A detailed Equality and Social Inclusion Impact Assessment 
has been prepared, and will be kept under review alongside 
the delivery of the strategy



3

Theme: ‘conflicts with Shropshire Council vision and Core 
Strategy’

Council response: The revised levels of provision within the minimum leisure 
facility provision will strongly support the Council’s high-level 
outcomes for healthy people, resilient communities and a 
prosperous economy.

The first draft Sports Facilities Strategy set out seven recommendations. We have 
summarised below how these were subsequently reflected within the final draft 
strategy. 

RECOMMENDATION 1 (R1)
Shropshire Council aims to invest in and support three main community leisure hubs 
– these will be strategically located, multi-facility sites in the market towns of Ludlow, 
Shrewsbury and Oswestry.

The final strategy sets out minimum leisure facility provision to meet the needs of 
Shropshire residents.  Within this, rather than suggesting three main leisure hubs it 
proposes leisure hubs in six locations - Shrewsbury, Oswestry, Ludlow, Bridgnorth, 
Market Drayton, Bishops Castle.  These leisure hubs will provide access to 93% of 
the Shropshire population within a 25-minute drive time. 

RECOMMENDATION 2 (R2)
The replacement Quarry swimming facility is developed on a site where there are 
existing leisure facilities to maximise participation and participative opportunities, 
optimize investment benefits and reduce overall operational expenditure.

The draft strategy noted that until a final decision is made on the future of the Quarry 
Swimming and Fitness Centre it is difficult to state whether there should be one or 
two (tier 1 Leisure Hubs) sites in Shrewsbury. 

The final strategy does not make specific comment about detailed future provision of 
swimming in Shrewsbury beyond confirming that there should be swimming provision 
in the context of the development of Leisure Hubs (see R1).  A decision on future 
swimming provision within Shrewsbury will be subject to a separate process already 
underway and described within detailed Terms of Reference. See: 
http://www.shropshire.gov.uk/swimming-provision-in-shrewsbury/

RECOMMENDATION 3 (R3)
SC works in partnership with local partners and key organisations over the next 12 
months to identify alternative future funding models to take on Market Drayton and 
SpArC facilities, particularly the swimming pools.

Based on a detailed analysis of accessibility the final strategy confirms that provision 
within Market Drayton and Bishops Castle should form two of six Leisure Hub 
locations (see R1). The strategy sets out the Council’s expectations for the day-to-
day operation of these facilities:
 Fully staffed
 Managed by third parties
 Funding support for five years plus, dependent on local circumstances. 
 Opportunity for Community Asset Transfers to suitable local groups in support of 

social, economic or environmental benefit, dependent on local circumstances.

http://www.shropshire.gov.uk/swimming-provision-in-shrewsbury/


4

 Aim to be profitable with no public subsidy required with operational surplus 
reinvested into the facility

RECOMMENDATION 4 (R4)
Two swimming pools (Church Stretton Pool and SpArC’s) need significant 
investment, therefore based on the review, would not form part of SC’s investment 
Strategy going forward. However, SC will need to work in partnership with these 
communities to support them in raising the necessary investment needed if these 
pools are still wanted by these local communities.

The final strategy confirms that the pool in Bishops Castle (SpArC) should form one 
of six Leisure Hubs (see R1 and R3).

Based on a detailed analysis of accessibility the final strategy confirms that the pool 
in Church Stretton should form one of four Community Leisure Centres. The strategy 
sets out the Council’s expectations for the day-to-day operation of these facilities:

 Maximum of five year time-limited tapered revenue support 
 Opportunity for Community Asset Transfers to suitable local groups in support 

of social, economic or environmental benefit, dependent on local 
circumstances

 Potential closure as last resort in the event of no sustainable alternative 
management options. Would be subject to separate consultations and 
Cabinet decision.

With respect to future investment, the final strategy states that the Council will 
continue to work in partnership with Sport England to acquire external funding to 
ensure the future sustainability of leisure facilities within its minimum leisure facility 
provision at all levels.  Access to the Council’s Capital Programme will also be 
pursued.  Projects will be appraised on an individual basis.  Where the responsibility 
for the management of centres is being transferred to new organisations, we will 
adopt an “invest to save” “approach within the context of wider commercial 
discussions and considerations. 

RECOMMENDATION 5 (R5)
SC withdraws from all remaining joint use funding arrangements as soon as is 
practicable, but works with local partners to secure future community access.

The final strategy confirms the Council’s approach to “supporting” minimum leisure 
facility provision within ten locations.  The strategy also confirms the Council’s 
commitment to work with a wide range of partner organisations and individuals as co-
creators and co-deliverers of leisure facilities so that they best reflect the differing 
needs of local communities.

In a number of these locations revenue support is currently provided within the 
context of joint use funding agreements. The final strategy sets out the Council’s aim 
to either reduce this to zero within a defined time period or to seek to review it.

RECOMMENDATION 6 (R6)
Through partnership working, SC ensures it is aware of any changes in sports facility 
provision in neighbouring authorities which might impact on accessibility for 
Shropshire residents.

In drawing conclusions for a minimum leisure facility provision the final strategy has 
considered the opportunity for residents to access provision within neighbouring 



5

authority areas. This will continue to form a significant factor within the review of the 
strategy.

RECOMMENDATION 7 (R7)
This Strategy and analysis is reviewed and updated every 5 years to ensure the 
needs analysis remains robust and relevant and properly informs decisions about 
sports facility provision beyond 2037.

The final strategy will be reviewed every five years in the context of progress 
achieved and the circumstances prevailing at the time. 

(2) Public consultation on the revised draft Leisure Facilities Strategy, 20th 
March to 8th May 2017

119 responses and eight stakeholder responses were received. Responses were 
again heavily weighted towards Bishops Castle and to a lesser extent Church 
Stretton. 70% of respondents agreed with the vision, principles and aims and 56% 
with the proposed minimum leisure facility provision set out within the strategy.

87% of respondents use a leisure facility at least once a week, while only 6.7% of 
respondents do not use leisure facilities at all.

73% of respondents use leisure facilities for swimming, 54% for health and fitness 
and 30% for badminton, indoor football, etc.

Below is a summary of the main themes emerging from the second public 
consultation and also a Shropshire Council response.

Theme Council response

Reclassify Church 
Stretton Leisure 
Centre as a Leisure 
Hub

Church Stretton is 27 minutes’ drive time from Shrewsbury, 
which explains why this location is identified as a 
“Community Leisure Centre within a hierarchy of leisure 
facility provision. Council funding will be provided on a 
tapered basis for the next five years.

We recognise that it meets some of the “criteria” for a 
Leisure Hub, but it otherwise falls of short of being a 
“destination” location. Local residents will be able to 
access regional competitions and more varied provision 
within Shrewsbury while continuing to be able to access 
local provision.

Shropshire Council 
should be supporting 
leisure facility 
provision within the 
Shifnal / Albrighton 
area

Our mapping work shows that residents of Shifnal will be 
able to access existing provision within Telford, Madeley 
and Bridgnorth all within 20 minutes. However, although 
Idsall Sports Centre is not identified as a Tier 2 Community 
Leisure Centre the Council will be working hard with the 
school and other partners to ensure long term community 
access.

The Council does not support any indoor leisure provision 
within Albrighton.  We do recognise that in the event of the 
closure of Idsall Sports Centre (13 minutes’ drive time) 



6

residents will not have any access to any local provision 
either in Shropshire or across the border.

Provision in Wem 
should be identified 
as either a Leisure 
Hub or a Community 
Leisure Centre

Our mapping work shows that in the event of Wem 
Swimming & Lifestyle Centre closing residents will be able 
to access provision within Whitchurch within an 18-minute 
drive time.  However, the Council is aware of the support of 
the Town Council for the trustees of the independently run 
Swimming Centre and of their plans to invest in improved 
provision; we are confident that provision will continue to 
serve the needs of the local community without the need of 
long term support from Shropshire Council.

Clarification of five-
year action plan, 
specific levels of 
revenue support and 
capital investment 
and availability of 
council officer 
support

Once the strategy is approved it is the Council’s intention to 
work with a broad range of interested parties to develop a 
co-ordinated and jointly owned five-year implementation 
plan within the context set out in the strategy and the 
Council’s financial position.  We feel that joint production of 
the plan will give it a better chance of being successfully 
delivered by all parties.

The strategy sets out the Council’s proposed support for 
leisure facility provision within different time periods for 
different groupings. However, the Council also recognises 
that revenue support to existing leisure facilities currently 
supported by the Council is subject to a range of existing 
operating agreements; and that following the end of these 
agreements individual bespoke discussion will be required 
within the context of the objectives of all parties.

The Council also recognises that long terms solutions for 
future provision may require some initial investment both to 
rectify existing building problems and to support future 
commercial opportunities. We will seek to adopt an “invest 
to save approach and to access external investment and 
the Council’s capital programme where appropriate.

The Council recognises the need to provide “professional 
support” to “community organisations considering taking on 
more local “responsibility” for provision.  The Leisure 
Services Manager will act as the first point of contact.

The Strategy should 
be emphasising the 
positive community 
health, social and 
economic wellbeing 
opportunities 
supported by leisure 
provision

The Council recognises this significant point and has 
developed the strategy within the context of the provision 
of a range of opportunities that increase physical activity 
levels, and use physical activity and sport to raise 
aspirations, support health improvements, tackle inequality 
in communities, grow the economy, create more jobs and 
underpin the continued social, physical and economic 
regeneration of neighbourhoods. 

The Council also recognises that the active involvement of 
public and stakeholder bodies who benefit from leisure 



7

facility provision should be actively sought in the 
development of a detailed five-year action plan, 

Facilities should be 
more local than 20-
minute car drive 

The Council recognises that in an ideal world every 
community and resident would have access to local leisure 
facility provision. However, local authority support provision 
is relatively expensive and the ongoing pressure on public 
finances make it impossible to provide and sustain a 
comprehensive offer. 

The Council recognises that it does not have to do 
everything, and that residents have access to leisure 
facilities in neighbouring authority areas and that there are 
many other options available to residents within their 
communities including private discount gyms, health spas, 
community halls, school community facilities, etc., 

The Council also recognises that, in the context of physical 
activity, leisure faculties do not appeal to everyone and 
that many people choose to exercise in other ways.

Need to understand 
the needs of rural 
communities with 
respect to lack of 
alternatives, 
transport and cost

The strategy recognises the rural nature of Shropshire and 
picks this up within a detailed Equality and Social Inclusion 
Impact Assessment (ESIIA).

The strategy recognises that the way that people access 
leisure provision is much more complicated than this 
simple analysis suggests, for example, not everyone has 
access to a car, and public and community transport 
options, while available are more limited in rural areas. For 
a list of available community transport options in 
Shropshire visit:
https://travelshropshire.co.uk/bus/community-
transport.aspx

Have you consulted 
with users and will 
they be willing to 
travel 20 minutes 
both ways?

Over 90% of respondents to the consultation used leisure 
facilities, with 87% using them more than once a week. 

The development of specific proposal for individual facilities 
will need to be subject to separate consultation within the 
context of the development of an ESIIA.

In summary, we have not made any changes to the strategy as a result of the second 
public consultation, although we have re-presented the hierarchy of provision and 
identified three groupings (tiers) within this. A number of points will be picked up 
within the context of the development of a detailed action plan.

https://travelshropshire.co.uk/bus/community-transport.aspx
https://travelshropshire.co.uk/bus/community-transport.aspx




1

Appendix 2
Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy for Shropshire, 

2018 to 2023

Sport and leisure play a positive role in people’s lives. It is valued in its own right for the 
friendship, fun, challenge and enjoyment it brings, and it also has the power

to change communities and help places thrive. Developing sporting opportunities will help us 
to achieve stronger, more prosperous and cohesive communities, as well as

improving health, tackling obesity and transforming the lives of young people by giving them 
new skills.

Jennie Price, Chief Executive, Sport England (2016)

Contents

Executive Summary
1.0 Scope and purpose of strategy
2.0 Introduction
3.0 Our vision
4.0 Summary of current leisure facility provision
5.0 Summary of the strategic context for the future development of indoor leisure facilities
6.0 What this means for the future provision of indoor leisure facilities in Shropshire
7.0 Future indoor leisure facilities provision, our plans for the next five years
8.0 Actions to implement, review and monitor the delivery of indoor leisure facility provision
Appendix 1 Needs Assessment, 2016

Executive Summary

As an established brand, leisure facilities have enormous potential as places to meet the 
diverse needs of local communities. However, the pressure to support a sustainable, 
affordable and future proofed provision has increased in recent years, in the context of 
severe pressures on the public finances. 

The strategy seeks to resolve these competing interests while clarifying the role of 
Shropshire Council as a commissioner and partner and/or enabler of leisure facility 
provision.

This strategy is firmly embedded within a range of opportunities that increase physical 
activity levels, and use physical activity and sport to raise aspirations, support health 
improvements, tackle inequality, grow the economy, create more jobs and underpin the 
continued social, physical and economic regeneration of neighbourhoods. 

Our vision is that the provision of indoor leisure facilities will support a wider vision in which 
“Shropshire will be a county where healthier, active lifestyles are encouraged, supported and 
facilitated for everyone”. 

The strategy sets out a hierarchy of leisure facility provision and describes, based on an 
assessment of need, how the Council will meet the recreational and sporting needs of 
Shropshire residents by supporting:

 Six Tier 1 Leisure Hubs – “destination” facilities within Shropshire’s larger market 
towns that provide a wide range of facilities and leisure opportunities



2

 Four Tier 2 Community Leisure Centres – “local” facilities within smaller towns and 
settlements potentially providing a more limited range of leisure opportunities

89% of Shropshire residents will be able to access leisure facilities within one of these ten 
locations within a 20-minute drive time. In setting this out we recognise that the way that 
people access leisure provision is much more complicated than this simple analysis 
suggests, for example, not everyone has access to a car, and that public and community 
transport options in rural areas while available are more limited.

The hierarchy of leisure facility provision provides a framework for future Council investment 
and support, rather than a list of all community accessible indoor leisure facilities. 
Fundamentally, leisure facility provision in Shropshire, notwithstanding the rurality of the 
county, will continue to be defined going forward by local mixed and varied provision 
including village halls, high street gym fitness providers, schools, community and civic 
centres, etc. The hierarchy does not set out to close any existing leisure facility with public 
access, but it does recognise that the Council will need to prioritise where it provides 
financial support.

The strategy will be supported by a detailed action plan to cover the period 2018/19 to 
2022/23.  The Council’s ability to support leisure facilities beyond 2018/19 will be determined 
in due course as the Council’s medium term financial position becomes more clearly defined. 
Any proposals for the decommissioning of leisure facilities will be brought back to Cabinet for 
determination.

1.0 Scope and purpose of the Strategy

This strategy seeks to identify optimum locations for indoor leisure facilities, both now and 
into the future, and to review levels of existing facility provision for leisure facilities that are 
still supported by Shropshire Council. The key objectives of this strategy review are to:

 Analyse the supply and demand of facilities and to identify gaps in provision and 
opportunities for improved facility provision.

 Ensure that the delivery of indoor leisure provision is undertaken with full reference to 
relevant strategic and local influences including well-being considerations and 
financial constraints.

 Clarify the role of the Council as a commissioner, partner and/or enabler of indoor 
leisure facility provision. 

 Confirm an approach for Council support for the future provision of indoor leisure 
facilities. 

 Maximise engagement with key stakeholders.

This strategy does not make recommendations for the many leisure facilities that are run 
independently of Shropshire Council, although it is recognised that they will continue to 
make a significant contribution to opportunities for residents to take part in leisure and 
sporting pursuits.

In delivering this strategy, we recognise two important considerations:
 It will take time to develop and nurture.  Time will be needed to develop collaborative 

community working, to up-skill the local community workforce and to widen the 
market of leisure providers.

 Each community / town is different and whilst there are some common issues, a one-
size fits all approach is unlikely to work.



3

2.0 Introduction

As an established brand, leisure facilities have enormous potential as places to meet the 
diverse needs of local communities. However, at the moment they are significantly 
underused by a majority of the population.

Our leisure facilities will help us to build healthy, prosperous, safe and strong communities. 
Leisure facilities will be more than a place to play a game of badminton, visit the gym or 
swim; they will be welcoming spaces with an appealing offer for everyone. People will have 
the option of taking part in a wide range of activities, not all of them necessarily traditional 
sports, and of accessing information, support and entertainment.  

Our leisure facilities will be part of a range of opportunities that set out to increase physical 
activity levels, and use physical activity and sport to raise aspirations, support health 
improvements, tackle inequality, grow the economy, create more jobs and underpin the 
continued social, physical and economic regeneration of neighbourhoods.

Shropshire Council is facing significant reductions in revenue budgets, particularly for those 
services which it does not have to provide, i.e. those which are non-statutory, such as sport 
and leisure. Delivering services across Shropshire, with significantly fewer resources, means 
that inevitably some difficult decisions will have to be taken.  

Looking forward, leisure facility provision will strongly support the Council’s high-level 
outcomes for healthy people, resilient communities and a prosperous economy. Shropshire 
Council’s role will be to create the context that enables leisure facilities to impact positively 
on the lives of the people of Shropshire.  The Council will have a facilitating and enabling 
role working in partnership with a range of potential providers.  Above all, local communities 
and people will make leisure facilities sustainable and successful.

3.0 Our vision 

Our vision is that:

Shropshire will be a county where healthier, active lifestyles are encouraged, supported 
and facilitated for everyone 

A set of core principles will underpin the delivery of our vision:

 Support for the creation of a high quality and sustainable indoor leisure facility mix, 
which provides accessible and inclusive activities for all Shropshire residents 
leading to increased participation and active lifestyles, thereby meeting community 
need.

 The importance of leisure facilities as relevant community spaces, accessible to all 
and offering opportunities for the delivery of a wide range of activities, services, 
support and entertainment to local communities and people.

 A commitment to work with a wide range of partner organisations and individuals 
as co-creators and co-deliverers* of leisure facilities so that they best reflect the 
differing needs of local communities.



4

* including existing leisure operators (independent trusts, schools), Town / Parish 
Councils, voluntary sector, etc. 

In taking forward our vision and core principles our strategic aims are:

1. To support effective strategic and local partnerships that deliver a modern, efficient 
and sustainable community leisure facility offer.

2. To support the provision of leisure facilities that are fit for purpose to meet demands 
for participation now and in the future.

3. To align sport and leisure priorities to support national and local priorities including 
healthy, prosperous, safe and strong communities.

4.0 Summary of current leisure facility provision

Following the creation of the unitary Council in 2009 Shropshire Council supported the 
provision of 24 leisure facilities:

 18 were managed directly by the Council
 4 were operated under a management agreement by a leisure trust
 2 were supported financially to provide community use.

All leisure facilities are continuing to provide some community use in early 2017, but 
following a concerted effort to commission the Council managed leisure facilities, the 
management situation has significantly changed.  The breakdown of different management 
arrangements at May 2017 is shown in Table 1.

Table 1 
Managed by Shropshire Council • Much Wenlock Leisure Centre

• Idsall Sports Centre, Shifnal 
• Roman Road Sports Centre, Shrewsbury

Managed by two Trusts, Shropshire 
Community Leisure Trust and Teme 
Leisure within  management 
agreements 

• Shrewsbury Sports Village
• Quarry Swimming & Fitness Centre
• Oswestry Leisure Centre
• Market Drayton Swimming Centre
• Whitchurch Swimming Centre
• South Shropshire Leisure Centre, Ludlow
• SpArC, Bishops Castle
• Church Stretton Leisure Centre 
• Cleobury Mortimer Sports Centre

Managed by schools within tapered 
funding agreements with the 
Council

• Whitchurch Sports Centre
• Bridgnorth Leisure Centre
• Lakelands Sports Centre, Ellesmere
•

Managed by local community 
organisations within tapered 

• Wem Swimming & Lifestyle Centre
• Craven Arms Community Centre



5

funding agreements with the 
Council

• Severn Centre, Highley

Managed by schools and colleges 
with no financial support provided 
by Shropshire Council 

• Rhyn Park Leisure Centre, St Martins
• Thomas Adams Sports Centre, Wem
• Mary Webb Sports Centre, Pontesbury
• Ellesmere Pool
• London Road, Shrewsbury
• The Grange, Shrewsbury

5.0 Summary of the strategic context for the future development of indoor 
leisure facilities

Our strategy is underpinned by an understanding of the unique character of Shropshire and 
the opportunities and issues facing its residents. Leisure consultants, Strategic Leisure Ltd., 
supported the Council in the development of a detailed Needs Assessment for Shropshire 
and this is included in full within Appendix 1.  In developing this Needs Assessment, 
Shropshire Council has taken into account guidance issued by Sport England. The Council 
has also carefully considered its duties in respect of the Equality Act 2010.

Table 2 summarises from the Needs Assessment some key considerations for Shropshire.

Table 2
Key Factors Shropshire 
Population The total population of Shropshire in 2016 was estimated as 314,000. According to the July 2016 

assessment undertaken by Shropshire Council, the population of Shropshire is projected to 
increase to 324,900 by 2022.
Source: Full Objectively Assessed Housing Need [FOAHN] Report 
http://shropshire.gov.uk/media/2101729/Shropshire-Council-FOAHN-2016-.pdf

According to the 2011 Census, 175,469 usual residents of Shropshire lived in rural areas (57.3%) 
and 130,660 usual residents lived in urban areas (42.7%). The largest built-up areas in 2011 
included Shrewsbury (71,715 people) followed by Oswestry (18,743), Bridgnorth (12,657), Market 
Drayton (11,773), Ludlow (10,515) and Whitchurch (9,710).
Source: Source: 2011 Census, Office for National Statistics, © Crown Copyright 2017.

Shropshire has a disproportionately older population, with resulting challenges for commissioners 
and providers of services including social care and community mental health care.

2015 Population Estimates (Local Authority Based)
Shropshire West Midlands England
Number % Number % Number %

0 to 4 15,100 4.8 365,300 6.4 3,434,700 6.3
5 to 14 33,100 10.6 689,800 12.0 6,357,800 11.6
15 to 18 15,000 4.8 280,000 4.9 2,546,400 4.6
19 to 54 133,900 43.0 2,724,800 47.4 26,552,800 48.5
55 plus 114,400 36.7 1,691,100 29.4 15,894,600 29.0
65 plus 72,700 23.3 1,045,800 18.2 9,711,600 17.7
Total 311,400 5,751,000 54,786,300
Source: Office for National Statistics, © Crown Copyright 2016.
Estimates have been rounded to the nearest 100.

http://shropshire.gov.uk/media/2101729/Shropshire-Council-FOAHN-2016-.pdf


6

Housing 
Requirements 

The Shropshire Development Plan Consists of the Core Strategy (March 2011) and Site Allocation 
and Management of Development Plan (SAMDev Plan) (December 2015). The Core Strategy sets 
out the Council’s vision, strategic objectives and broad spatial strategy to guide future development 
and growth in Shropshire to 2026. A key aspect of this spatial strategy is the identification of an 
ambitious housing target for Shropshire within of 27,500 dwellings between 2006 and 2026, which 
is divided into phasing bands. The SAMDev Plan seeks to deliver the housing requirement 
identified within the Core Strategy, through the identification of deliverable sites for housing 
development and policies to appraise development proposals.

Shropshire Council’s Five Year Housing Land Supply Statement (August 2016), monitors housing 
supply and completions against the Development Plan housing requirement. The Five Year 
Housing Land Supply Statement indicates that 10,902 new homes were completed between April 
1st 2006 to March 31st 2016. The Five Year Housing Land Supply Statement also indicates that as 
at 1st April 2016, there were 11,309 outstanding permissions for new dwellings, and capacity for a 
further 5,800 new dwellings on allocations without planning permission. 

However, to support the ongoing partial review of the Shropshire Development Plan, a technical 
document known as the ‘Full Objectively Assessed Housing Need for Shropshire’ (FOAHN) has 
been published to assess the future level of housing need in Shropshire between 2016 and 2036. 
The 2012 Sub-national Population / Household Projections (ONS / DCLG) are used as a starting 
point for this assessment. This FOAHN estimates that 25,178 new dwellings are required to meet 
future housing need (around 1,259 dwellings per annum). The first ten years of this FOAHN 
coincide with the next ten years of the period addressed within the Development Plan housing 
requirement (2016-2026). Over this period the housing need identified within the FOAHN is 
comparable, but less than the current housing requirement. 

Population 
characteristics

Shropshire has a low percentage of total population identifying with minority ethnic groups. 
According to the 2011 Census (Office for National Statistics, © Crown Copyright 2016), 98% of the 
population identified with a white ethnic group and 2% of the population identified with a black or 
other minority ethnic group (BME): http://new.shropshire.gov.uk/media/3415/2011-census-digest-
ethnicity.pdf

In 2011, 8.4% of all people in Shropshire had a long-term health problem or disability that limited 
their day-to-day activities a lot (2011 Census).

2.4% of people in Shropshire provided 50 or more hours of unpaid care a week (2011 Census).

Size and 
rurality

Shropshire is one of the most rural places in the UK with an overall population density of 1 person 
per hectare (2011 Census).

Getting to and from services, facilities, and places of work or study can be very difficult with only a 
few major road routes, some of which are at risk of flooding; limited public transport; and the nature 
of the often hilly terrain.

Car 
Ownership

Due to the rural nature of the county car ownership is high with 84.2% of households owning one 
car or more (2011 Census). 
In 2011 44% of residents aged 16-74 drove a car or van to work and a further 3.5% were a 
passenger in a car or van (2011 Census).

Deprivation Overall, according to the English Indices of Deprivation 2015 (IMD) [based on its rank of average 
rank] Shropshire is one of the least deprived upper-tier Local Authorities in England (107th out of 
152).  

According to the overall rankings of the English Indices nine Lower Super Output Areas [LSOAs] in 
Shropshire fall within the 20% most deprived LSOAs in England. The most deprived Shropshire 
LSOA, which falls within Harlescott Electoral Division, is ranked within the 10% most deprived 
LSOAs in England.

In two of the IMD 2015 Domains, the Barriers to Housing and Services Domain and the Living 
Environment Deprivation Domain, over forty of the 193 LSOAs in Shropshire fall within the 10% 

http://new.shropshire.gov.uk/media/3415/2011-census-digest-ethnicity.pdf
http://new.shropshire.gov.uk/media/3415/2011-census-digest-ethnicity.pdf


7

most deprived LSOAs in England. 

47 LOSAs in Shropshire fall within the top 10% most deprived LSOAs in England for the Barriers to 
Housing and Services Domain; of these LSOAs, 8 LSOAs fell within the top 1% most deprived for 
this domain nationally. 

The table below summarises information taken from the IMD for LSOAs within which proposed 
Leisure Hubs are located (see Table 6, recommended leisure provision)

Table: IMD 2015 Information for LSOAs that Community Leisure Hubs are Located in
IMD 2015 National Deciles (3)

Town Name of leisure 
centre

Overall Health 
Deprivation 
and Disability

Barriers to 
Housing & 
Services

Shrewsbury Shrewsbury Sports 
Village 

2 2 6

Shrewsbury Quarry Swimming 
and Fitness Centre

5 4 8

Oswestry Oswestry Leisure 
Centre

3 3 6

Market Drayton 
(1)

Maurice Chandler 
Sports Centre

6 8 1

Market Drayton Market Drayton 
Swimming Centre & 
The Grove School (2)

6 7 6

Bishop's Castle SpArc Leisure Centre 5 7 1
Ludlow South Shropshire 

Leisure Centre
6 5 6

Bridgnorth Oldbury Wells School 
Hall

7 8 4

Bridgnorth Sports and Leisure 
Centre

8 6 10

1) Nearest town. (2) Two leisure centres in the same LSOA. (3) Decile 1 = most deprived 10% 
LSOAs in England.

Source: English Indices of Deprivation 2015, Department for Communities and Local Government, 
© Crown Copyright 2017

Educational 
attainment

In 2014/15, 56.5% of pupils in Shropshire achieved five or more A*-C grade GCSEs (including 
English and Mathematics), this is a higher percentage than in the West Midlands region (55.1%).

Source: SFR01/2016: GCSE and equivalent results in England 2014/15 (Revised), Department for 
Education, © Crown Copyright 2016.
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/revised-gcse-and-equivalent-results-in-england-2014-to-
2015 

Employment Whilst the latest unemployment rate figure for 16-64 year olds in Shropshire (4.2%) is lower than 
the West Midlands (6.0%) and England (5.2%) averages, the male unemployment rate in 
Shropshire is higher than for females:

 Males = 4.6% (West Midlands = 6.1%; England = 5.2%)
 Females = 3.8% (West Midlands = 6.0%; England = 5.2%)

Source: Annual Population Survey (July 2015 – June 2016), Office for National Statistics, © Crown 
Copyright 2016.

Health The life expectancy at birth (measured in 2011-13) for both males, 80%, and females, 83.89% is 
slightly better than the English average:

In 2012 63.5% of adults were classified as carrying excess weight (including obese), placing them 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/revised-gcse-and-equivalent-results-in-england-2014-to-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/revised-gcse-and-equivalent-results-in-england-2014-to-2015


8

at a higher risk of cardiovascular disease and some cancers but lower than the national average.

In 2013/14 16.3% of children in year 6 were classified as obese, lower than the national average. 

The total health cost of physical inactivity per 100,000 population (2009/10) of £1,536,556 is lower 
than the national average, £1,817,285, with coronary heart disease being the largest cost and 
diabetes costing £838,850.

Source: Sport England Local Sports Profile:  https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/partnering-
local-government/tools-directory/local-sport-profile-tool/

Levels of 
physical 
activity

In terms of the Public Health England definition for physical activity (150 minutes or equivalent of at 
least moderate intensity activity per week. Note that this definition for physical activity differs to that 
used by Sport England within the figures below) 63.2% of adults aged 16+years are classed as 
being active, higher than the regional (55.5%) and the national (57%) averages (in 2014)

The Sport England Active People Survey reports on data collected between October 2015 – 
September 2016.  The number of adults (16+) people taking part in one session of sport per week, 
43.3%, has increased significantly from the previous period (2014/15), 34.9%, compared to the 
national average of 36.1%. Otherwise participation has stayed broadly similar since the first year of 
the survey in 2005/06.

Nationally more women than ever are taking part in sport, with 25.3% men and 27.3% men taking 
part in at least 3 sessions of sport or physical activity per week in Shropshire. However, there 
remain inequalities in participation for people with a disability, older adults and those in part time, 
admin roles or long term unemployed.

15.8% of people surveyed (2015/16) reported that they had taken part in competitive sport and 
22.9% were members of sports clubs, the first significantly above the national average.

The Sport England Active Lives survey first reported in January 2017 for adults aged 16 or over. 

Inactive
(< 30 minutes 
per week)*

Fairly Active 
(30-149 minutes 
per week)*

Active 
(150+ minutes 
per week)*

Two sessions of 
sport/ physical 
activity in the 
last 28 days

Shropshire 19.3% 9.5% 71.2% 78.5%
West Midlands 24.0% 13.2% 62.8% 74.2%
England 22.0% 12.6% 65.4% 77.2%

*Includes gardening activity, walking, cycling to work and dance

Source: Sport England Local Sports Profile: https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/partnering-
local-government/tools-directory/local-sport-profile-tool/ and Sport England Active Lives Survey, 
2015-16: https://www.sportengland.org/media/11498/active-lives-survey-yr-1-report.pdf

Economic 
impact

There is no information available specific to the impact of Shropshire leisure facilities. However, in 
2013 it was reported that a total of £70 million of Gross Value Added was generated in a single 
year from people participating in sport is the sports goods and services produced to meet demand 
from people participating in sports (this includes the manufacture of equipment used for sport; the 
"added value" of the shops that sell these goods, and of the services and facilities that people use 
to participate in sports).

The economic value of health benefits of people participating in sport was calculated to be £126 
million. This is equivalent to value to the local area of improved quality and length of life plus health 
care costs avoided due to participation in sports. 

Source: Sports England Local Sports Profile: https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/partnering-
local-government/tools-directory/local-sport-profile-tool/

https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/partnering-local-government/tools-directory/local-sport-profile-tool/
https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/partnering-local-government/tools-directory/local-sport-profile-tool/
https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/partnering-local-government/tools-directory/local-sport-profile-tool/
https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/partnering-local-government/tools-directory/local-sport-profile-tool/
https://www.sportengland.org/media/11498/active-lives-survey-yr-1-report.pdf
https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/partnering-local-government/tools-directory/local-sport-profile-tool/
https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/partnering-local-government/tools-directory/local-sport-profile-tool/


9

6.0 What this means for the future provision of indoor leisure facilities in 
Shropshire

Leisure facility 
usage trends Shropshire 

Leisure 
Centres

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

All facilities 1,981,616 2,092,407 2,105,225 2,004,968 2,001,122

Shropshire 
Council 
managed 

763,452 583,797 524,045 261,337 226,084

Shropshire 
Community 
Leisure Trust

628,874 949,000 997,946 1,001,101 1,063,765

Teme Leisure 413,722 418,709 418,111 393,784 405,987

Independently 
managed

175,568 140,901 165,123 348,776 305,286

It is difficult to establish precise participation trends from the above as the breakdown of individual 
facilities has altered time, for example since 2016/17 three facilities are no longer provide user 
information.

The figures do suggest that overall usage has remained relatively stable, but that the larger 
“destination” facilities managed by the Shropshire Community Leisure Trust have shown an 
increase.

Insights The latest Sport England Active People Survey reports on data collected between October 2015 – 
September 2016. 68.5% of those surveyed reported themselves to be fairly or very satisfied with 
local sports provision, significantly above the national average of 62.2%.

Figures for the participation rate in the top sports in the local area and the number of adults (16+) 
that participate at least once a month are provided below for 2015/16.

Sports No per 1000 Rate
Swimming 25.2 10.0 %
Gym Session 22.4 8.9 %
Athletics 19.9 7.9 %
Cycling 18.9 7.5 %
Fitness Class 15.3 6.1 %

43.8% of adults surveyed (active or inactive) reported that they wanted to do more sport.

Source: Sport England Local Sports Profile: https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/partnering-
local-government/tools-directory/local-sport-profile-tool/

In a recent survey of customers to establish a Net Promoter Score (NPS), Shropshire Community 
Leisure Trust identified that 55% of respondents would recommend their facilities to other people.  

https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/partnering-local-government/tools-directory/local-sport-profile-tool/
https://www.sportengland.org/our-work/partnering-local-government/tools-directory/local-sport-profile-tool/


10

The analysis summarised in Table 2 and described in more detail within the Needs 
Assessment in Appendix 1, along with public and stakeholder responses received on the 
draft leisure facilities strategy in 2016 and 2017, suggest that the future design of indoor 
leisure facilities should be based on four key considerations:

1. Usage of the facilities
2. Population including population density and its demographic make up
3. Deprivation
4. Accessibility 

(1) Indoor leisure facilities usage and trends
It is difficult to interpret the past usage figures described in Table 2 beyond a general 
comment that the usage of leisure facilities in Shropshire remains relatively static overall 
although the larger “destination” facilities managed by the Shropshire Community Leisure 
Trust have shown a year on year increase.  

While nationally participation in swimming has declined it remains the single largest 
participation activity. The continuing growth of high street discount gyms suggests the 
ongoing growth potential for health and fitness.

(2) Population
(a) Population Density
Unsurprisingly this analysis confirms the sparsely populated nature of much of Shropshire. A 
strictly pragmatic approach would place all indoor leisure facility provision within the areas of 
main population - Shrewsbury, Oswestry, Market Drayton, Whitchurch, Bridgnorth and 
Ludlow – but this fails to recognise issues of accessibility and convenience to isolated and 
dispersed communities. 

Indoor leisure facilities will continue to provide a “universal” offer from which no one is 
excluded. However, we also anticipate that the activities provided within our leisure facilities 
will support (1) the needs of both ends of the age spectrum, young and older people, and (2) 
people who live within disadvantaged communities. This is considered further below.

(b) Population density of over 55s and 65s 
We recognise that traditional activities provided within leisure facilities may not always 
appeal to the recreational and health motivations of older people, and that they need to be 
considered as part of a range of opportunities that increase physical activity levels.

According to the 2011 Census, a larger percentage of Shropshire’s population was aged 55+ 
(34.55%) compared to the West Midlands (28.58%) and England (27.97%). Above average 
numbers of over 55s lived in built-up areas such as Church Stretton (50.92%), Much 
Wenlock (47.26%), Bishop’s Castle (40.83%), Bayston Hill (39.67%), Ludlow (38.88%), 
Albrighton (38.87%), Bridgnorth (36.75%), Wem (35.66%), Ellesmere (34.89%) and Craven 
Arms (34.61%).

(c) Population of 0-4 and 5-14 year olds  
Using physical activity to raise the aspirations and to support health improvements in young 
children and young adults is an important aim of this strategy. Requirements for high quality 
physical education are embedded within the National Curriculum including instruction in 
swimming and water safety. Access for schools to swimming lesson is an important 
consideration.  

Leisure facilities additionally form part of a much wider mix of outdoor and indoor facilities, 
many of them community based, that provide for the needs of young people. 



11

Whilst in the 2011 Census 5.13% of Shropshire’s population was aged 0 to 4, built-up areas 
with a larger percentage of very young people included Market Drayton (6.71%), Whitchurch 
(6.22%), Oswestry (5.92%) and Shrewsbury (5.84%).

Leisure facilities within the main market towns generally have the potential to meet the 
needs of 5 to 14 year olds (10.96% of population of Shropshire), but there are also 
concentrations of school age children within smaller built-up and rural areas. 

(3) Deprivation
Our leisure facilities will be part of a range of opportunities that increase physical activity 
levels, and use physical activity and sport to raise aspirations, support health improvements, 
tackle inequality, grow the economy, create more jobs and underpin the continued social, 
physical and economic regeneration of neighbourhoods. 

(a) Overall deprivation
Whilst the Local Authority is one of the least deprived in England, an analysis of small-area 
geographies indicates that there is a more complex picture of deprivation at the local level. 

Two leisure facilities are located in areas that fall within the overall top 30% of the most 
deprived areas in England (Shrewsbury Sports Village and Oswestry Leisure Centre). A 
further two Leisure Hubs (Quarry Swimming and Fitness Centre, Shrewsbury and Bishops 
Castle, SpArC) are located in areas falling within the top 50% most deprived LSOAs in 
England.

(b) Health Deprivation and Disability
Shropshire is also one of the least deprived upper-tier authorities in England for Health 
Deprivation and Disability.

Leisure facilities in Shrewsbury (Shrewsbury Sports Village and Quarry Swimming and 
Fitness Centre), Oswestry (Oswestry Leisure Centre) and Ludlow (South Shropshire Leisure 
Centre) are located in areas that are ranked within the top 50% of the most health deprived 
areas in England. 

(c) Barriers to Housing and Services
When Barriers to Housing and Services (a “proxy” for rural deprivation) is considered, 
Shropshire is within the more deprived half of upper-tier Local Authorities in England (62nd 
out of 152).  

Leisure facilities near Market Drayton (The Maurice Chandler Sports Centre) and in Bishops 
Castle (SpArc) are both located in areas that are ranked within the 10% most deprived areas 
in England. The leisure facilities within Bridgnorth (Oldbury Wells School Hall) is located 
within an area ranked within the 40% most deprived areas in England. Otherwise leisure 
facilities in the main market towns – Ludlow, Oswestry and Shrewsbury - are located in 
areas that are ranked in less deprived half of areas in England.

One consequence of Shropshire’s rurality is that leisure facilities within rural communities will 
always struggle to attract sufficient usage to support self-sustaining businesses. Potential 
local authority supported and facilitated provision must be a balance between providing 
reasonable accessibility and the size of potential catchments.

(4) Accessibility 
In designing future indoor leisure facility provision we ideally want to provide residents with:



12

• Access to sports halls, swimming and fitness within a 20-minute drive time1 of where 
they live. 

• Access to “destination leisure facilities”, places that offer additional facilities and the 
potential for regional events within a 25-minute drive time of where they live.

In applying this approach, we recognise that people’s actual pattern of usage of leisure 
facilities is more complicated than this simple analysis suggests. For example, not everyone 
has access to their own transport, public transport options are limited in rural areas, some 
people will combine leisure usage with work, some residents will access leisure facilities in 
neighbouring authority areas, alternative accessible facilities may exist within local 
communities, etc. However, the strategy sets out to adopt an approach that, as best as 
possible, enables the greatest amount of access to leisure centres to the population as 
possible, notwithstanding that because of the rural nature of the county it will be impossible 
to ensure full 100% coverage. 

7.0 Future indoor leisure facilities provision, our plans for the next five 
years 

To guide future Council investment and revenue support, in order to meet the current and 
future sporting and recreational needs of Shropshire’s residents outlined within the Needs 
Assessment and summarised above, a hierarchy of provision has been developed, see table 
4. 

The hierarchy of leisure facility provision provides a framework for future Council investment 
and support, rather than a list of all community accessible indoor leisure facilities. 
Fundamentally, leisure facility provision in Shropshire, notwithstanding the rurality of the 
county, will continue to be defined going forward by local mixed and varied provision 
including village halls, high street gym fitness providers, schools, community and civic 
centres, etc. The hierarchy does not set out to close any existing leisure facility with public 
access, but it does recognise that the Council will need to prioritise where it provides 
financial support.

In developing different levels of provision we have worked on the basis that, as far as 
possible, all Shropshire residents should have reasonable access, as a minimum, to:

 Sports Halls - badminton, indoor football, basketball, cricket, netball, volleyball, etc.
 Swimming Pools – recreational, learn to swim, clubs, etc.
 Health and Fitness -   gyms, work outs and activities

Table 4 Hierarchy of Leisure Facilities provision 

Leisure Facility Provision

1 Sport England use a 20-minute drive time catchment in the Facilities Planning Model tool which is 
based on observed behaviour through benchmarking work.



13

Currently supported by Shropshire Council:
 Shrewsbury - Quarry Swimming & Fitness Centre and 

Shrewsbury Sports Village2

 Oswestry - Oswestry Leisure Centre 
 Ludlow - South Shropshire Leisure Centre
 Bridgnorth - Bridgnorth Leisure Centre
 Market Drayton - Market Drayton Swimming Centre 
 Bishops Castle - SpArC

Other significant community facilities, not supported by 
Shropshire Council, also contribute significantly to local 
provision including:
 Shrewsbury – London Road and Roman Road
 Bridgnorth – Oldbury Wells School
 Market Drayton – The Grove School and The Maurice 

Chandler Centre

 “Multi facility leisure hubs” within main population areas 
(existing and planned growth), serving significant urban 
and rural catchments 

 Provide access to 93% of the Shropshire population 
within a 25-minute drive time

 “Destinations” that provides a wide range of activities 
(either at the same venue or via a network of linked 
venues).  Minimum of strategic sized [ie.3 badminton 
courts +] sports halls, swimming facilities, fitness 
provision and other complementary activities, e.g. 
outdoor facilities, arts and entertainment, etc. 

 Recreational, school, competition and club use 
 Conveniently located multifunctional spaces, gateways to 

a range of services, co-location of partner services
 Proactive approach to supporting outreach community 

activity within the surrounding catchment
 Focuses for support for local community leisure centres 

Tier 1 Leisure 
Hubs

(urban centres and 
larger market 

towns)

 Fully staffed
 Managed by third parties
 Ongoing revenue funding support with the aim to be 

profitable with no public subsidy required over an agreed 
timeframe

2 Note that, based on a detailed assessment of the options and affordability issues, the Council’s preferred 
location for improved swimming provision in Shrewsbury is at the Shrewsbury Sports Village. However, 
potentially interested organisations have been given until the 27th October 2017 to submit Full Business Cases 
to retain swimming provision at the existing Quarry site or other town centre location. Detailed Terms of 
Reference, 31 October 2016, describe the process to be followed, the evaluation criteria and the evaluation 
methodology.  A decision will be taken by Cabinet on the final location.  Reference: Cabinet report, 28th 
September 2016
For further information visit: http://www.shropshire.gov.uk/swimming-provision-in-shrewsbury/

http://www.shropshire.gov.uk/swimming-provision-in-shrewsbury/


14

 Opportunity for Community Asset Transfers to suitable 
local groups in support of social, economic or 
environmental benefit, dependent on local circumstances.

Currently supported by Shropshire Council:
 Church Stretton – Church Stretton Leisure Centre
 Whitchurch – Whitchurch Swimming Centre and 

Whitchurch Leisure Centre
 Cleobury Mortimer – Cleobury Mortimer Sports & Fitness 

Centre
 Ellesmere - Lakelands Sports Centre

Other community facilities, not supported by Shropshire 
Council, also contribute to local provision including:
 Ellesmere – Ellesmere Swimming Centre and Ellesmere 

College Sports Facilities

 Flexible provision that responds to local circumstances 
 Provides access (including the Leisure Hubs) to 89% of 

the population within a 20-minute drive time 
 Minimum of sports halls and fitness provision and other 

complementary activities, including swimming, where 
appropriate

 Recreational, school and club use 

Tier 2 
Community 

Leisure 
Centres

(smaller market 
towns)

 Flexible staffing, volunteer staffing where appropriate
 Flexible opening hours and activity programmes 

responding to local community circumstances and site 
location.

 Managed by local community organisations, for example 
schools, independent operators, community 
organisations, etc. within community access agreements 
where appropriate

 Maximum of five year time-limited tapered revenue 
support linked to a plan to achieve sustainable and cost 
neutral provision (to the Council) by the end of 2022/23

 Opportunity for Community Asset Transfers to suitable 
local groups in support of social, economic or 
environmental benefit, dependent on local circumstances

 Potential closure as last resort in the event of no 
sustainable alternative management options. Would be 
subject to separate consultations and a Cabinet decision.

Tier 3 
Community 

Leisure 
Centres

(smaller market 

Currently supported by Shropshire Council:
 Much Wenlock Leisure Centre
 Roman Road Sports Centre, Shrewsbury
 Idsall Sports Centre, Shifnal
 Wem Swimming & Lifestyle Centre



15

 Severn Centre, Highley
 Craven Arms Community Centre

Independently managed and operated community leisure 
facilities

towns)

 Reflect local circumstances
 No financial support from Shropshire Council beyond the 

period of the existing Shropshire Council Medium Term 
Financial Strategy i.e. to the end of 2018/193.  It is 
recognised that individual negotiations will need to take 
place to achieve satisfactory outcomes to all parties

 Professional advice and guidance where appropriate

It is expected that all leisure facilities supported by Shropshire Council should provide, in the 
context of local circumstances, a balance between:

 Casual bookings 
 Pay and play activities 
 Programmed courses and activities e.g. Learn to Swim, Exercise Referrals, etc.
 Club use - It is important to highlight the role that local clubs play in each activity 

programme and their contribution to supporting active communities.  Programmes 
should include appropriate provision of coached sessions, and co-ordination and 
links with sports development programmes elsewhere in the area.

 Activities for young children – Both formal day time school use and holiday, weekend 
and evening activities for young people 

 Events and competitions

With regards to pricing, the Council expects that the operators of these leisure facilities will 
provide a comprehensive concessionary pricing regime to support participation amongst the 
vulnerable and disadvantaged. 

Based on our assessment of need the Council considers that it can best meet the 
recreational and sporting needs of Shropshire residents by supporting:

 Six Tier 1 Leisure Hubs – “destination” facilities within Shropshire’s larger market 
towns that provide a wide range of facilities and leisure opportunities

 Four Tier 2 Community Leisure Centres – “local” facilities within smaller towns and 
settlements potentially providing a more limited range of leisure opportunities

The location of Tier 1 and Tier 2 leisure facilities is shown in Maps 1 and 2, which also show 
local authority supported leisure facilities outside Shropshire  

Table 5 summarises the percentage of the Shropshire population that live within 20 minutes 
of a Tier 1 and Tier 2 leisure facility, and 25 minutes of a Tier 1 leisure hub.

Table 5
Distance Number Population 

3 Note that a different approach is proposed for the Severn Centre, Highley, which is subject to a funding 
agreement that encompasses a range of community services of which leisure provision is just one 
component,



16

estimate 
Within 20 minutes’ drive time of 10 Tier 1 Leisure 
hubs and Tier 2 Community Leisure Centres 

276,400 89%

Within 25 minutes’ drive time of 6 Tier 1 Leisure 
Hubs 

286,900 93%

Source: Based on using Annual Mid-Year Population Estimates, 2015, Office for National Statistics 
(ONS)

In setting out this approach, we recognise that the provision of a leisure facility is not simply 
a question of proximity but also of accessibility, availability and quality. 

Investment into our leisure facilities
The Council will continue to work in partnership with Sport England to acquire external 
funding to ensure the future sustainability of leisure facilities, particularly Tier 1 and Tier 2 
facilities.  Access to the Council’s Capital Programme will also be pursued.  Shropshire 
Council will consider providing one-off funds, particularly to leisure facilities that are unlikely 
to be financially supported in the future, in order to increase their chances of sustainability.

A note on drive times 
Table 6 shows that all of the Tier 2 community leisure centres are 20 minutes or more drive 
time from the nearest alternative provision.  

Table 6
Location of Community Leisure Centres Drive time to nearest alternative 

leisure centre4 
Church Stretton 27 minutes to Shrewsbury 
Whitchurch 23 minutes to Market Drayton
Ellesmere 20 minutes to Oswestry

23 minutes to Whitchurch
Cleobury Mortimer 20 minutes to Ludlow

23 minutes to Kidderminster
24 minutes to Bridgnorth

Table 7 shows that for the additional six Tier 3 community leisure centres currently 
supported by Shropshire Council there is an alternative leisure facility within a 20-minute 
drive time. 

Table 7
Additional  Leisure Centres currently 
“supported” by Shropshire Council
Much Wenlock Leisure Centre 13 minutes to Bridgnorth 

24 minutes to Shrewsbury
Severn Centre, Highley 16 minutes to Bridgnorth & Cleobury 

Mortimer
Craven Arms Community Centre 15 minutes to Ludlow & Church Stretton
Idsall Sports Centre, Shifnal 6 minutes to Telford 

10 minutes to Abraham Darby Sports 
Centre

4 Based on AA Route Planner, town centre to town centre. Visit:- http://www.theaa.com/route-
planner/index.jsp

http://www.theaa.com/route-planner/index.jsp
http://www.theaa.com/route-planner/index.jsp


17

19 minutes to Bridgnorth
Roman Road Sports Centre, Shrewsbury 11 minutes to Shrewsbury Sports 

Village

Wem Swimming & Lifestyle Centre 18 minutes to Whitchurch

8.0 Actions to implement, review and monitor the delivery of indoor leisure 
facility provision

The strategy will be supported by the development of a detailed five-year action plan. The 
Council will work with a broad range of interested parties to develop a co-ordinated and 
jointly owned implementation plan within the context set out in the strategy and the Council’s 
financial position.  

Any proposals for the decommissioning of leisure facilities will be brought back to Cabinet for 
determination.

Growing a facility’s individual ‘facility mix’ through investment and innovation has and will 
continue to show an increase in usage at those particular sites.  The Council will continue to 
work in partnership with Sport England to acquire external funding to try to ensure the future 
sustainability of leisure facilities at all levels.  Access to the Council’s Capital Improvement 
Programme will also be pursued where significant financial, or other, benefits of capital 
investment can be demonstrated.

The impact of the delivery of the action plan will be monitored through the collection of 
comprehensive usage data etc., and ongoing efforts will be made to encourage participation 
by users and non-users.   

The Strategy, its delivery and review, is set in the context of Shropshire Council’s three high-
level outcomes and Performance Management Framework:

 Healthy people
 Resilient communities
 Prosperous economy

Our ambition is to add value to the physical activity levels, health wellbeing and sporting 
excellence of the people of Shropshire.

Specifically, we aim to have:
 Fit for purpose and relevant leisure centres that lie at the heart of their communities.
 A better understanding of the needs and aspirations of the people of Shropshire.
 Enabled local people, communities and partner organisations to be more involved 

with service creation and delivery.
 A vibrant mixed economy of leisure facilities that respond to the needs and 

aspirations of the people of Shropshire.
 Raised physical activity levels amongst all sections of the community and improved 

the health and wellbeing of Shropshire residents
 A skilled and qualified workforce with a strong voluntary basis
 Understood, and be able to demonstrate, the value and impact of indoor leisure 

facilities.

Usage of indoor leisure facility provision will be monitored and kept under review. However, 
the focus will change to reflect a broad range of metrics that reflect the varied usage of 
spaces and services and the co-creation and delivery of new management arrangements.



18

The potential impact of the on-going redesign of indoor leisure facilities will continue to be 
reviewed and monitored, including in the context of the council’s statutory duties under the 
Equality Act 2010 and section 149: Public Sector Equality Duty in shaping policy, in 
delivering services, and in relation to their own employees.

Alongside this the Council will continue to look at best practice elsewhere, encourage 
comments and ideas from local residents and actively encourage the participation of local 
community groups in the development of alternative approaches for delivering indoor leisure 
facilities.

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/149


19



20



1

Appendix 4
Shropshire Council Equality and Social Inclusion Impact Assessment (ESIIA)

Name of service change: 
Draft Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy for Shropshire, 2018 to 
2023

Contextual Notes 2016

The What and the Why:

The Shropshire Council Equality and Social Inclusion Impact Assessment (ESIIA) approach 
helps to identify whether or not any new or significant changes to services, including policies, 
procedures, functions or projects, may have an adverse impact on a particular group of people, 
and whether the human rights of individuals may be affected.

This assessment encompasses consideration of social inclusion. This is so that we are thinking 
as carefully and completely as possible about all Shropshire groups and communities, including 
people in rural areas and people we may describe as vulnerable, for example due to low income 
or to safeguarding concerns, as well as people in what are described as the nine 'protected 
characteristics' of groups of people in our population, e.g. Age. We demonstrate equal treatment 
to people who are in these groups and to people who are not, through having what is termed 
'due regard' to their needs and views when developing and implementing policy and strategy 
and when commissioning, procuring, arranging or delivering services.

It is a legal requirement for local authorities to assess the equality and human rights impact of 
changes proposed or made to services. Carrying out ESIIAs helps us as a public authority to 
ensure that, as far as possible, we are taking actions to meet the general equality duty placed 
on us by the Equality Act 2010, and to thus demonstrate that the three equality aims are integral 
to our decision making processes. These are: eliminating discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation; advancing equality of opportunity; and fostering good relations.

The How:

The guidance and the evidence template are combined into one document for ease of access 
and usage, including questions that set out to act as useful prompts to service areas at each 
stage. The assessment comprises two parts: a screening part, and a full report part.

Screening (Part One) enables energies to be focussed on the service changes for which there 
are potentially important equalities and human rights implications. If screening indicates that the 
impact is likely to be positive overall, or is likely to have a medium or low negative or positive 
impact on certain groups of people, a full report is not required. Energies should instead focus 
on review and monitoring and ongoing evidence collection, enabling incremental improvements 
and adjustments that will lead to overall positive impacts for all groups in Shropshire.

A full report (Part Two) needs to be carried out where screening indicates that there are 
considered to be or likely to be significant negative impacts for certain groups of people, and/or 



2

where there are human rights implications. Where there is some uncertainty as to what decision 
to reach based on the evidence available, a full report is recommended, as it enables more 
evidence to be collected that will help the service area to reach an informed opinion.

Shropshire Council Part 1 ESIIA: initial screening and assessment
Please note: prompt questions and guidance within boxes are in italics. You are welcome to type over them when 
completing this form. Please extend the boxes if you need more space for your commentary.
Name of service change

Shropshire Council Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy, 2018 – 2023
Version 1, March 2017 [in support of the second consultation on the Strategy]
Version 2, 06 June 2017 [updated following the second consultation on the Strategy]

Aims of the service change and description

Shropshire Council completed its first Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy in 2009, principally to guide 
future investment in its leisure facilities.

Since this Strategy was originally written, the pressure to support a sustainable, affordable and future 
proofed leisure facility “offer” has increased, in the context of severe pressures on the public finances. 

The provision of indoor leisure facilities forms part of a range of opportunities to the public that set out 
to increase sustained participation in physical activity.  Participation in physical activity and sport raise 
aspirations, support health improvements, tackle inequality, grow the economy, create more jobs and 
underpin the continued social, physical and economic regeneration of neighbourhoods. 

The Strategy seeks to clarify the role of the Council as a commissioner, partner and/or enabler of 
leisure facility provision. Shropshire Council’s role will be to create the context that enables leisure 
facilities to impact positively on the lives of the people of Shropshire.  The Council will have a 
facilitating and enabling role working in partnership with a range of potential providers. Above all, local 
communities and people will make leisure facilities sustainable and successful.

The Strategy’s vision is that the provision of indoor leisure facilities will support a wider vision in which 
“Shropshire will be a county where healthier, active lifestyles are encouraged, supported and 
facilitated for everyone”. 

The key objectives of the Strategy review are to:
 Analyse the supply and demand of facilities and to identify gaps in provision and opportunities 

for improved facility provision.
 Ensure that the delivery of indoor leisure provision is undertaken with full reference to relevant 

strategic and local influences including well-being considerations and financial constraints.
 Clarify the role of the Council as commissioner, partner and/or enabler of indoor leisure facility 

provision. 
 Confirm an approach for Council support for the future provision of indoor leisure facilities. 
 Maximise engagement with key stakeholders.

The Strategy does not make recommendations for the many leisure facilities that are run 
independently of Shropshire Council, although it is recognised that they will continue to make a 
significant contribution to providing opportunities for residents to take part in leisure and sporting 
pursuits.

In delivering the Strategy, we recognise two important considerations:
 It will take time to develop and nurture.  Time will be needed to develop collaborative 



3

community working, to up-skill the local community workforce and to widen the market of 
leisure providers.

 Each community / town is different and whilst there are some common issues, a one-size fits 
all approach is unlikely to work.

In summary the Strategy sets out a hierarchy of provision to meet the needs of Shropshire residents.

The hierarchy of leisure facility provision provides a framework for future Council investment and 
support, rather than a list of all community accessible indoor leisure facilities. Fundamentally leisure 
facility provision in Shropshire, notwithstanding the rurality of the county, will continue to be defined 
going forward by local mixed and varied provision including village halls, high street gym fitness 
providers, schools, community and civic centres, etc. The hierarchy does not set out to close any 
existing leisure facility with public access, but it does recognise that the Council will need to prioritise 
where it provides financial support.

     Hierarchy of Leisure Facilities provision 

Leisure Facility Provision

Currently supported by Shropshire Council:
 Shrewsbury - Quarry Swimming & Fitness Centre and Shrewsbury 

Sports Village1

 Oswestry - Oswestry Leisure Centre 
 Ludlow - South Shropshire Leisure Centre
 Bridgnorth - Bridgnorth Leisure Centre
 Market Drayton - Market Drayton Swimming Centre 
 Bishops Castle - SpArC

Other significant community facilities, not supported by Shropshire 
Council, also contribute significantly to local provision including:

 Shrewsbury – London Road and Roman Road
 Bridgnorth – Oldbury Wells School
 Market Drayton – The Grove School and The Maurice Chandler 

Centre

Tier 1 Leisure 
Hubs
(urban centres 
and larger 
market towns)

 “Multi facility leisure hubs” within main population areas (existing 
and planned growth), serving significant urban and rural 
catchments 

 Provide access to 93% of the Shropshire population within a 25-
minute drive time

 “Destinations” that provides a wide range of activities (either at the 
same venue or via a network of linked venues).  Minimum of 
strategic sized [ie.3 badminton courts +] sports halls, swimming 
facilities, fitness provision and other complementary activities, e.g. 
outdoor facilities, arts and entertainment, etc. 

 Recreational, school, competition and club use 
1 Note that, based on a detailed assessment of the options and affordability issues, the Council’s preferred location 
for improved swimming provision in Shrewsbury is at the Shrewsbury Sports Village. However, potentially 
interested organisations have been given until the 27th October 2017 to submit Full Business Cases to retain 
swimming provision at the existing Quarry site or other town centre location. Detailed Terms of Reference, 31 
October 2016, describe the process to be followed, the evaluation criteria and the evaluation methodology.  A 
decision will be taken by Cabinet on the final location.  Reference: Cabinet report, 28th September 2016
For further information visit: http://www.shropshire.gov.uk/swimming-provision-in-shrewsbury/

http://www.shropshire.gov.uk/swimming-provision-in-shrewsbury/


4

 Conveniently located multifunctional spaces, gateways to a range 
of services, co-location of partner services

 Proactive approach to supporting outreach community activity 
within the surrounding catchment

 Focuses for support for local community leisure centres 

 Fully staffed
 Managed by third parties
 Ongoing revenue funding support with the aim to be profitable with 

no public subsidy required over an agreed timeframe
 Opportunity for Community Asset Transfers to suitable local 

groups in support of social, economic or environmental benefit, 
dependent on local circumstances.

Currently supported by Shropshire Council:
 Church Stretton – Church Stretton Leisure Centre
 Whitchurch – Whitchurch Swimming Centre and Whitchurch 

Leisure Centre
 Cleobury Mortimer – Cleobury Mortimer Sports & Fitness Centre
 Ellesmere - Lakelands Sports Centre

Other community facilities, not supported by Shropshire Council, also 
contribute to local provision including:

 Ellesmere – Ellesmere Swimming Centre and Ellesmere College 
Sports Facilities

 Flexible provision that responds to local circumstances 
 Provides access (including the Leisure Hubs) to 89% of the 

population within a 20-minute drive time 
 Minimum of sports halls and fitness provision and other 

complementary activities, including swimming, where appropriate
 Recreational, school and club use 

Tier 2 
Community 
Leisure Centres
(smaller market 
towns)

 Flexible staffing, volunteer staffing where appropriate
 Flexible opening hours and activity programmes responding to 

local community circumstances and site location.
 Managed by local community organisations, for example schools, 

independent operators, community organisations, etc. within 
community access agreements where appropriate

 Maximum of five year time-limited tapered revenue support linked 
to a plan to achieve sustainable and cost neutral provision (to the 
Council) by the end of 2022/23

 Maximum of five year time-limited tapered revenue support 
 Opportunity for Community Asset Transfers to suitable local 

groups in support of social, economic or environmental benefit, 
dependent on local circumstances

 Potential closure as last resort in the event of no sustainable 
alternative management options. Would be subject to separate 
consultations and a Cabinet decision.



5

Currently supported by Shropshire Council:
 Much Wenlock Leisure Centre
 Roman Road Sports Centre, Shrewsbury
 Idsall Sports Centre, Shifnal
 Wem Swimming & Lifestyle Centre
 Severn Centre, Highley
 Craven Arms Community Centre

Independently managed and operated community leisure facilities

Tier 3 
Community 
Leisure Centres
(smaller market 
towns)

 Reflect local circumstances
 No financial support from Shropshire Council beyond the period of 

the existing Shropshire Council Medium Term Financial Strategy 
i.e. to the end of 2018/192.  It is recognised that individual 
negotiations will need to take place to achieve satisfactory 
outcomes to all parties

 Professional advice and guidance where appropriate

Based on our assessment of need the Council considers that it can best meet the recreational and 
sporting needs of Shropshire residents by supporting:

 Six Tier 1 Leisure Hubs – “destination” facilities within Shropshire’s larger market towns that 
provide a wide range of facilities and leisure opportunities

 Four Tier 2 Community Leisure Centres – “local” facilities within smaller towns and 
settlements potentially providing a more limited range of leisure opportunities

89% of Shropshire residents will be able to access leisure facilities within one of these ten locations 
within a 20-minute drive time. In setting this out we recognise that the way that people access leisure 
provision is much more complicated than this simple analysis suggests, for example, not everyone has 
access to a car, and that public and community transport options in rural areas while available are 
more limited. We also recognise that residents have access to leisure facilities in neighbouring 
authority areas that there are many other options available to residents including private discount 
gyms, health spas, community halls, school community facilities, etc.

In setting out this approach, we also recognise that the provision of a leisure facility is not simply a 
question of proximity but also of accessibility, availability and quality. 

In developing different levels of provision we have worked on the basis that, as far as possible, all 
Shropshire residents should have reasonable access, as a minimum, to:

 Sports Halls - badminton, indoor football, basketball, cricket, netball, volleyball, etc.
 Swimming Pools – recreational, learn to swim, clubs, etc.
 Health and Fitness -   Work outs and activities

It is expected that all leisure facilities supported by Shropshire Council should provide, in the context of 
local circumstances, a balance between:

 Casual bookings 
 Pay and play activities 
 Programmed courses and activities e.g. Learn to Swim, Exercise Referrals, etc.
 Club use - It is important to highlight the role that local clubs play in each activity programme 

and their contribution to supporting active communities.  Programmes should include 

2 Note that a different approach is proposed for the Severn Centre, Highly, which is subject to a funding agreement 
that encompasses a range of community services of which leisure provision is just one component,



6

appropriate provision of coached sessions, and co-ordination and links with sports 
development programmes elsewhere in the area.

 Activities for young children – Both formal day time school use and holiday, weekend and 
evening activities for young people 

 Events and competitions

With regards to pricing, the Council expects that the operators of these leisure facilities will provide a 
comprehensive concessionary pricing regime to support participation amongst the vulnerable and 
disadvantaged. 

The Council will work with a broad range of interested parties to develop a co-ordinated and jointly 
owned five-year implementation plan within the context set out in the Strategy and the Council’s 
financial position, and informed by responses to previous public consultations.  

The Strategy sets out the Council’s preferred course of action, but the ability of the Council to support 
leisure facilities beyond 2018/19 will be determined in due course as the Council’s medium term 
financial position becomes more clearly defined.  Any proposals for significant investment and / or 
decommissioning will be brought back to Cabinet with further individual Equality and Social Inclusion 
Impact Assessments. These assessments will consider the potential impact for people in, for example, 
the groupings of Disability, Gender Reassignment, Race, Gender, and Religion and Belief.  Points to 
consider will include considerations about programming, changing room provision, physical layout, etc.

Note: The Quarry Swimming and Fitness Centre (QS&FC)
The QS&FC in Shrewsbury is a well-used pool that has been in operation for over 100 years.  Since 
2014 the Council has been developing options for sustaining future swimming provision in 
Shrewsbury, and as part of this process has gathered a large amount of evidence, intelligence and 
customer insights.  

The Council’s preferred location for improved swimming provision in Shrewsbury is at the Shrewsbury 
Sports Village. However, potentially interested organisations have been given until the 27th October 
2017 to submit business cases to retain swimming provision at the existing QS&FC or other town 
centre location. Following a thorough evaluation of the different options a decision will be taken by 
Cabinet on the final location.   Cabinet report, 28th September 2016
For further information visit: http://www.shropshire.gov.uk/swimming-provision-in-shrewsbury/

Intended audiences and target groups for the service change

The intended audience for the Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy is everyone who lives in, works in or 
visits Shropshire and therefore all groupings within the community, as well as those who serve them. 
By this we mean the Council, town and parish councils, the wider business sector, the voluntary and 
community sector, the health and social care sector, and organisations and bodies involved in leisure 
service provision.

Indoor leisure facilities will continue to provide a “universal” offer from which no one is excluded. 
However, we also anticipate that the activities provided within our leisure facilities will support (1) the 
needs of both ends of the age spectrum, young and older people, and (2) people who live within 
disadvantaged communities. 

The Strategy will be underpinned by three core principles:
 The creation of a high quality and sustainable indoor sports facility mix, which provides 

accessible and inclusive activities for all Shropshire residents leading to increased 
participation and active lifestyles, thereby meeting community need.

http://www.shropshire.gov.uk/swimming-provision-in-shrewsbury/


7

 The importance of leisure facilities as relevant community spaces, accessible to all and 
offering opportunities for the delivery of a wide range of activities, services, support and 
entertainment to local communities and people.

 A commitment to work with a wide range of partner organisations and individuals as co-
creators and co-deliverers* of leisure facilities so that they best reflect the differing needs of 
local communities.

* including existing leisure operators (independent trusts, schools), Town / Parish Councils, voluntary 
sector, etc. 

Evidence used for screening of the service change

The Council commissioned a detailed and comprehensive Needs Assessment from independent 
expert leisure consultants, Strategic Leisure Ltd., in 2016. This provides a wide range of evidence in 
support of making conclusions on the future shape of leisure facility provision and on where Council 
support is best directed.

This assessment, along with responses received on the initial draft Indoor Sports Facilities Strategy in 
2016, suggest that the future design of indoor leisure facilities should be based on four key 
considerations:

1. Usage of the facilities
2. Population including population density and its demographic make up
3. Deprivation
4. Accessibility 

(1) Indoor leisure facilities usage and trends
It is difficult to interpret the past usage figures described in Table 2 beyond a general comment that 
the usage of leisure facilities in Shropshire remains relatively static overall although the larger 
“destination” facilities managed by the Shropshire Community Leisure Trust have shown a year on 
year increase.  

While nationally participation in swimming has declined it remains the single largest participation 
activity. The continuing growth of high street discount gyms suggests the ongoing growth potential for 
health and fitness.

(2) Population
(a) Population Density
Unsurprisingly this analysis confirms the sparsely populated nature of much of Shropshire. A strictly 
pragmatic approach would place all indoor leisure facility provision within the areas of main population 
- Shrewsbury, Oswestry, Market Drayton, Whitchurch, Bridgnorth and Ludlow – but this fails to 
recognise issues of accessibility and convenience to isolated and dispersed communities. 

Indoor leisure facilities will continue to provide a “universal” offer from which no one is excluded. 
However, we also anticipate that the activities provided within our leisure facilities will support (1) the 
needs of both ends of the age spectrum, young and older people, and (2) people who live within 
disadvantaged communities. This is considered further below.

(b) Population density of over 55s and 65s 
We recognise that traditional activities provided within leisure facilities may not always appeal to the 
recreational and health motivations of older people, and that they need to be considered as part of a 
range of opportunities that increase physical activity levels.

According to the 2011 Census, a larger percentage of Shropshire’s population was aged 55+ (34.55%) 
compared to the West Midlands (28.58%) and England (27.97%). Above average numbers of over 55s 
lived in built-up areas such as Church Stretton (50.92%), Much Wenlock (47.26%), Bishop’s Castle 
(40.83%), Bayston Hill (39.67%), Ludlow (38.88%), Albrighton (38.87%), Bridgnorth (36.75%), Wem 
(35.66%), Ellesmere (34.89%) and Craven Arms (34.61%).



8

(c) Population of 0-4 and 5-14 year olds  
Using physical activity to raise the aspirations and to support health improvements in young children 
and young adults is an important aim of this Strategy. Requirements for high quality physical education 
are embedded within the National Curriculum including instruction in swimming and water safety. 
Access for schools to swimming lesson is an important consideration.  

Leisure facilities additionally form part of a much wider mix of outdoor and indoor facilities, many of 
them community based, that provide for the needs of young people. 

Whilst in the 2011 Census 5.13% of Shropshire’s population was aged 0 to 4, built-up areas with a 
larger percentage of very young people included Market Drayton (6.71%), Whitchurch (6.22%), 
Oswestry (5.92%) and Shrewsbury (5.84%).

Leisure facilities within the main market towns generally have the potential to meet the needs of 5 to 
14 year olds (10.96% of population of Shropshire), but there are also concentrations of school age 
children within smaller built-up and rural areas. 

(3) Deprivation
Our leisure facilities will be part of a range of opportunities that increase physical activity levels, and 
use physical activity and sport to raise aspirations, support health improvements, tackle inequality, 
grow the economy, create more jobs and underpin the continued social, physical and economic 
regeneration of neighbourhoods. 

(a) Overall deprivation
Whilst the Local Authority is one of the least deprived in England, an analysis of small-area 
geographies indicates that there is a more complex picture of deprivation at the local level. 

Two leisure facilities are located in areas that fall within the overall top 30% of the most deprived areas 
in England (Shrewsbury Sports Village and Oswestry Leisure Centre). A further two Leisure Hubs 
(Quarry Swimming and Fitness Centre, Shrewsbury and Bishops Castle, SpArC) are located in areas 
falling within the top 50% most deprived LSOAs in England.

(b) Health Deprivation and Disability
Shropshire is also one of the least deprived upper-tier authorities in England for Health Deprivation 
and Disability.

Leisure facilities in Shrewsbury (Shrewsbury Sports Village and Quarry Swimming and Fitness 
Centre), Oswestry (Oswestry Leisure Centre) and Ludlow (South Shropshire Leisure Centre) are 
located in areas that are ranked within the top 50% of the most health deprived areas in England. 

(c) Barriers to Housing and Services
When Barriers to Housing and Services (a “proxy” for rural deprivation) is considered, Shropshire is 
within the more deprived half of upper-tier Local Authorities in England (62nd out of 152).  

Leisure facilities near Market Drayton (The Maurice Chandler Sports Centre) and in Bishops Castle 
(SpArc) are both located in areas that are ranked within the 10% most deprived areas in England. The 
leisure facilities within Bridgnorth (Oldbury Wells School Hall) is located within an area ranked within 
the 40% most deprived areas in England. Otherwise leisure facilities in the main market towns – 
Ludlow, Oswestry and Shrewsbury - are located in areas that are ranked in less deprived half of areas 
in England.

One consequence of Shropshire’s rurality is that leisure facilities within rural communities will always 
struggle to attract sufficient usage to support self-sustaining businesses. Potential local authority 
supported and facilitated provision must be a balance between providing reasonable accessibility and 
the size of potential catchments.

(4) Accessibility 



9

In designing future indoor leisure facility provision we ideally want to provide residents with:

• Access to sports halls, swimming and fitness within a 20-minute drive time3 of where they live. 
• Access to “destination leisure facilities”, places that offer additional facilities and the potential 

for regional events within a 25-minute drive time of where they live.

In applying this approach, we recognise that people’s actual pattern of usage of leisure facilities is 
more complicated than this simple analysis suggests. For example, not everyone has access to their 
own transport, public transport options are limited in rural areas, some people will combine leisure 
usage with work, some residents will access leisure facilities in neighbouring authority areas, 
alternative accessible facilities may exist within local communities, etc. However, the strategy sets out 
to adopt an approach that, as best as possible, enables the greatest amount of access to leisure 
centres to the population as possible, notwithstanding that because of the rural nature of the county it 
will be impossible to ensure full 100% coverage. 

Specific consultation and engagement with intended audiences and target groups for 
the service change

Key stakeholder contributions have been provided by Energize the County Sports Partnership, Sport 
England and Telford & Wrekin Council.

A public consultation was undertaken on a draft Strategy between 29th July and 30 September 2016. 
90 individual responses were received and 13 formal responses were received from various 
organisations.  5 Shropshire Council members also responded. Respondents were weighted towards 
Church Stretton and Bishops Castle reflect relatively high profile local concern at the future of facilities 
within these towns.

Significant changes were made to the Strategy following the first consultation and in particular a 
detailed proposed hierarchy of leisure facility provision was developed. 

A further public consultation was carried out on a revised draft Strategy between 20th March and 8th 
May 2017. 119 responses and eight stakeholder responses were received. Responses were again 
heavily skewed towards Bishops Castle and to a lesser extent Church Stretton. 70% of respondents 
agreed with the vision, principles and aims and 56% with the proposed minimum leisure facility 
provision set out within the Strategy.

87% of respondents use a leisure facility at least once a week, while only 6.7% of respondents do not 
use leisure facilities at all.

73% of respondents use leisure facilities for swimming, 54% for health and fitness and 30% for 
badminton, indoor football, etc.

We have below reviewed the main themes emerging from the second public consultation and provided 
a Council response.

Theme Council response

Reclassify Church 
Stretton Leisure 
Centre as a Leisure 
Hub

Church Stretton is 27 minutes’ drive time from Shrewsbury, which 
explains why this location is identified as a “Community Leisure Centre 
within a hierarchy of leisure facility provision. Council funding will be 
provided on a tapered basis for the next five years.

3 Sport England use a 20-minute drive time catchment in the Facilities Planning Model tool which is based on 
observed behaviour through benchmarking work.



10

We recognise that it meets some of the “criteria” for a Leisure Hub, but it 
otherwise falls of short of being a “destination” location. Local residents 
will be able to access regional competitions and more varied provision 
within Shrewsbury while continuing to be able to access local provision.

Should be supporting 
leisure facility 
provision within the 
Shifnal / Albrighton 
area

Our mapping work shows that residents of Shifnal will be able to access 
existing provision within Telford, Madeley and Bridgnorth all within 20 
minutes. However, although Idsall Sports Centre is not identified as a 
Tier 2 Community Leisure Centre the Council will be working hard with 
the school and other partners to ensure long term community access.

The Council does not support any indoor leisure provision within 
Albrighton.  We do recognise that in the event of the closure of Idsall 
Sports Centre (13 minutes’ drive time) residents will not have any access 
to any local provision either in Shropshire or across the border.

Provision in Wem 
should be identified as 
either a Leisure Hub 
or a Community 
Leisure Centre

Our mapping work shows that in the event of Wem Swimming & Lifestyle 
Centre closing residents will be able to access provision within 
Whitchurch within an 18-minute drive time.  However, the Council is 
aware of the support of the Town Council for the trustees of the 
independently run Swimming Centre and of their plans to invest in 
improved provision; we are confident that provision will continue to serve 
the needs of the local community without the need of long term support 
from Shropshire Council.

Clarification of five-
year implementation 
plan, specific levels of 
revenue support and 
capital investment and 
availability of council 
officer support

Once the Strategy is approved it is the Council’s intention to work with a 
broad range of interested parties to develop a co-ordinated and jointly 
owned five-year implementation plan within the context set out in the 
Strategy and the Council’s financial position.  We feel that joint 
production of the plan will give it a better chance of being successfully 
delivered by all parties.

The Strategy sets out the Council’s proposed support for leisure facility 
provision within different time periods for different groupings. However, 
the Council also recognises that revenue support to existing leisure 
facilities currently supported by the Council is subject to a range of 
existing operating agreements; and that following the end of these 
agreements individual bespoke discussion will be required within the 
context of the objectives of all parties.

The Council also recognises that long terms solutions for future provision 
may require some initial investment both to rectify existing building 
problems and to support future commercial opportunities. We will seek to 
adopt an “invest to save approach and to access external investment 
and the Council’s capital programme where appropriate.

The Council recognises the need to provide “professional support” to 
“community organisations considering taking on more local 
“responsibility” for provision.  The Leisure Services Manager will act as 
the first point of contact.

Should be 
emphasising the 
positive community 
health, social and 
economic wellbeing 

The Council recognises this significnat point and has developed the 
Strategy within the context of the provision of a range of opportunities 
that increase physical activity levels, and use physical activity and sport 
to raise aspirations, support health improvements, tackle inequality in 
communities, grow the economy, create more jobs and underpin the 



11

opportunities 
supported by leisure 
provision

continued social, physical and economic regeneration of 
neighbourhoods. 

The Council also recognises that the active involvement of public and 
stakeholder bodies who benefit from leisure facility provision should be 
actively sought in the development of a detailed five-year implementation 
plan, 

Facilities should be 
more local than 20-
minute car drive 

The Council recognises that in an ideal world every community and 
resident would have access to local leisure facility provision. However, 
local authority support provision is relatively expensive and the ongoing 
pressure on public finances make it impossible to provide and sustain a 
comprehensive offer. 

The Council recognises that it does not have to do everything, and that 
residents have access to leisure facilities in neighbouring authority areas 
and that there are many other options available to residents within their 
communities including private discount gyms, health spas, community 
halls, school community facilities, etc., 

The Council also recognises that, in the context of physical activity, 
leisure faculties do not appeal to everyone and that many people choose 
to exercise in other ways.

Need to understand 
the needs of rural 
communities with 
respect to lack of 
alternatives, transport 
and cost

The Strategy recognises the rural nature of Shropshire and picks this up 
within a detailed Equality and Social Inclusion Impact Assessment 
(ESIIA).

The Strategy recognises that the way that people access leisure 
provision is much more complicated than this simple analysis suggests, 
for example, not everyone has access to a car, and public and 
community transport options, while available are more limited in rural 
areas. For a list of available community transport options in Shropshire 
visit:
https://travelshropshire.co.uk/bus/community-transport.aspx

Have you consulted 
with users and will 
they be willing to 
travel 20 minutes both 
ways?

Over 90% of respondents to the consultation used leisure facilities, with 
87% using them more than once a week. 

The development of specific proposal for individual facilities will need to 
be subject to separate consultation within the context of the development 
of an ESIIA.

Following the second consultation, we have confirmed three groupings (tiers) within the hierarchy of 
provision. A number of individual points will be picked up within the context of the development of a 
detailed implementation plan.

Potential impact on Protected Characteristic groups and on social inclusion 

Using the results of evidence gathering and specific consultation and engagement, please 
consider how the service change as proposed may affect people within the nine Protected 
Characteristic groups and people at risk of social exclusion.

https://travelshropshire.co.uk/bus/community-transport.aspx


12

1. Have the intended audiences and target groups been consulted about:
 their current needs and aspirations and what is important to them;
 the potential impact of this service change on them, whether positive or negative, 

intended or unintended;
 the potential barriers they may face.

2. If the intended audience and target groups have not been consulted directly, have their 
representatives or people with specialist knowledge been consulted, or has research 
been explored?

3. Have other stakeholder groups and secondary groups, for example carers of service 
users, been explored in terms of potential unintended impacts?

4. Are there systems set up to:
 monitor the impact, positive or negative, intended or intended, for different groups;
 enable open feedback and suggestions from a variety of audiences through a 

variety of methods.
5. Are there any Human Rights implications? For example, is there a breach of one or more 

of the human rights of an individual or group?
6. Will the service change as proposed have a positive or negative impact on:

 fostering good relations?
 social inclusion?

Initial assessment for each group
Please rate the impact that you perceive the service change is likely to have on a group, through inserting 
a tick in the relevant column. Please add any extra notes that you think might be helpful for readers. 

Protected 
Characteristic 
groups and other 
groups in Shropshire 

High 
negative 
impact
Part Two 
ESIIA 
required

High 
positive 
impact
Part One 
ESIIA 
required

Medium positive or 
negative impact
Part One ESIIA required

Low positive or negative 
impact
Part One ESIIA required

Age (please include children, 
young people, people of working 
age, older people. Some people 
may belong to more than one 
group eg young person with 
disability)

Some potential negative 
impact across all age 
spectrums in some parts 
of Shropshire, where 
residents are potentially 
further distance from 
accessible community 
facilities.  

Disability (please include: 
mental health conditions and 
syndromes including autism; 
physical disabilities or 
impairments; learning disabilities; 
Multiple Sclerosis; cancer; HIV)

The Strategy recommends a 
proactive approach to 
investment in the creation of 
“fit for purpose” leisure 
facilities that provide 
accessible and inclusive 
spaces.  

Gender re-assignment 
(please include associated 
aspects: safety, caring 
responsibility, potential for bullying 
and harassment)

It is recognised that any review 
of facilities, including the 
creation of new or improved 
facilities, will need to consider 
the configuration of changing 
facilities for this 
group, providing greater 
privacy. Programming flexibility 
could also usefully look at 
bespoke activity sessions



13

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership (please include 
associated aspects: caring 
responsibility, potential for bullying 
and harassment)

N/A

Pregnancy and 
Maternity (please include 
associated aspects: safety, caring 
responsibility, potential for bullying 
and harassment)

Very few leisure facilities 
provide child care 
opportunities, which may 
prevent parents from 
accessing provision

Race (please include: ethnicity, 
nationality, culture, language, 
gypsy, traveller)

It is recognised that any review 
of individual facilities, including 
the creation of new or 
improved facilities, will usefully 
need to consider the 
configuration of changing 
facilities for this group, 
providing greater privacy. 
Programming flexibility could 
also usefully look at bespoke 
activity sessions

Religion and belief 
(please include: Buddhism, 
Christianity, Hinduism, Islam, 
Judaism, Non conformists; 
Rastafarianism; Sikhism, Shinto, 
Taoism, Zoroastrianism, and any 
others)

It is recognised that any review 
of individual facilities, including 
the creation of new or 
improved facilities, will usefully 
need to consider configuration 
of changing facilities for this 
group, providing greater 
privacy. Programming flexibility 
could also usefully look at 
bespoke activity sessions

Sex (please include associated 
aspects: safety, caring 
responsibility, potential for bullying 
and harassment)

It is recognised that any review 
of individual facilities, including 
the creation of new or 
improved facilities, will usefully 
need to consider configuration 
of changing facilities for this 
group, providing greater 
privacy. Programming flexibility 
could also usefully look at 
bespoke activity sessions

Sexual Orientation 
(please include associated 
aspects: safety; caring 
responsibility; potential for bullying 
and harassment)

N/A

Other: Social Inclusion 
(please include families and 
friends with caring responsibilities; 
people with health inequalities; 
households in poverty; refugees 
and asylum seekers; rural 
communities; people you consider 
to be vulnerable)

Rurality and lack of 
access to a car and / or 
public transport may 
prevent some residents 
from accessing leisure 
facilities, as may the 
financial costs for 
residents in low income 
households. 



14

The Strategy sets out a 
Council supported offer 
based on providing 
access to 96% of 
residents within a 20 
minute drive time of a 
facility. 

However, it is important to 
note that provision in 
Shropshire will continue to 
be defined going forward 
by local mixed and varied 
opportunities including 
village halls, high street 
gym fitness providers, 
schools, community and 
civic centres, etc.

Guidance on what a negative impact might look like

High 
Negative

Significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating 
measures in place or no evidence available: urgent need for consultation with 
customers, general public, workforce

Medium
Negative

Some potential impact, some mitigating measures in place but no evidence 
available how effective they are: would be beneficial to consult with customers, 
general public, workforce

Low 
Negative

Almost bordering on non-relevance to the ESIIA process (heavily legislation led, 
very little discretion can be exercised, limited public facing aspect, national policy 
affecting degree of local impact possible)

Decision, review and monitoring

Decision Yes No
Part One ESIIA Only? √

Proceed to Part Two Full 
Report?

√

If Part One, please now use the boxes below and sign off at the foot of the page. If Part 
Two, please move on to the full report stage.

Actions to mitigate negative impact or enhance positive impact of the service change

Potentially restricting direct Council financial support for leisure facilities to a limited number of 
locations has the potential to have a negative impact on participation with resultant negative effects on 
individual health and wellbeing outcomes.



15

However, it is not the Council’s intention for any existing leisure facilities that provides community 
access to close.  Rather the Council, through its role as an enabler and facilitator, is seeking to 
support the development of locally supported community focused facilities. Our approach is based on 
a belief that it is local communities and people that must make leisure facilities sustainable and 
successful. It is noteworthy that since 2009, when the Council directly managed or financially 
supported the management of 24 leisure facilities no facilities have closed to general public use, 
although in some cases use is restricted. 

As the Council continues to move to develop sustainable local management arrangements we will 
seek opportunities for one off investment and tapered revenue support. The Council will continue to 
invest through its staff and experts, were appropriate, in supporting the development of new 
sustainable ways of managing local provision.

There will be ongoing efforts made to engage with people in the Protected Characteristic groupings, 
particularly where low levels of responses to public consultation have been received to date. Any 
review of individual facilities, including the creation of new or improved facilities, will consider 
configuration of changing facilities for groupings of Gender Reassignment, Race, Religion and Belief, 
and Sex, for providing greater privacy. Programming flexibility could also usefully look at bespoke 
activity sessions. Engagement with people in these Protected Characteristics groupings will be 
therefore be actively welcomed and sought.

Ppublic consultation identified continuing concern from members of the public about provision that 
recognises rurality issues in particular, with specific comment on the need to understand the needs of 
rural communities with respect to lack of alternatives, transport and cost. Social inclusion issues 
including rural access will be an area of focus in developing the implementation plan for the Strategy, 
alongside consideration of the demographics including ageing population.

Actions to review and monitor the impact of the service change

The Strategy once confirmed will be supported by a detailed five-year implementation plan to cover 
the period 2018/19 to 2022/23, which will be reviewed in the context of the Council’s financial position.  
Any proposals for the decommissioning of leisure facilities will be brought back to Cabinet for 
determination supported by individual Equality and Social Inclusion Impact Assessments where 
appropriate. 

The equalities impact of the service change will be monitored through the collection of comprehensive 
usage data etc., and ongoing efforts will be made to encourage participation by people in the 
Protected Characteristic groupings, particularly where low levels of responses to public consultation 
have been received to date.   

Usage of indoor leisure facility provision will be monitored and kept under review. However, the focus 
will change to reflect a broad range of metrics that reflect the varied usage of spaces and services and 
the co-creation and delivery of new management arrangements.

The potential impact of the on-going redesign of indoor leisure facilities will continue to be reviewed 
and monitored, including in the context of the council’s statutory duties under the Equality Act 2010 
and section 149: Public Sector Equality Duty in shaping policy, in delivering services, and in relation to 
their own employees.

Alongside this the Council will continue to look at best practice elsewhere, encourage comments and 
ideas from local residents and actively encourage the participation of local community groups in the 
development of alternative approaches for delivering indoor leisure facilities.

The Strategy, its delivery and review, is set in the context of Shropshire Council’s three high-level 
outcomes and Performance Management Framework:

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/149


16

 Healthy people
 Resilient communities
 Prosperous economy

Our ambition is to add value to the physical activity levels, health wellbeing and sporting excellence of 
the people of Shropshire.

Specifically, we aim to have:
 Fit for purpose and relevant leisure centres that lie at the heart of their communities.
 A better understanding of the needs and aspirations of the people of Shropshire.
 Enabled local people, communities and partner organisations to be more involved with service 

creation and delivery.
 A vibrant mixed economy of leisure facilities, delivered efficiently based on the needs and 

aspirations of the people of Shropshire.
 Raised physical activity levels amongst all sections of the community and improved the health 

and wellbeing of Shropshire residents
 A skilled and qualified workforce with a strong voluntary basis
 Understood, and be able to demonstrate, the value and impact of indoor leisure facilities.

Scrutiny at Part One screening stage

People involved Signatures Date
Lead officer carrying out the 
screening
Neil Willcox
Locality Commissioning 
Manager

 
06 June 2017

Any internal support*

Any external support**
Mrs Lois Dale
Rurality and Equalities 
Specialist

05 June 2017

Head of service

*This refers to other officers within the service area
**This refers either to support external to the service but within the Council, eg from the Rurality and 
Equalities Specialist, or support external to the Council, eg from a peer authority

Sign off at Part One screening stage

Name Signatures Date
Lead officer’s name

Head of service’s name



17

Peter Davis
Leisure Services Manager

 
06 June 2017

.








	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Financial Outturn 2016/17 [Revised]
	7 Quarter 4 Performance Report 2016/17
	8 Community Right to Bid: Process Amendment
	8 Appendix 1 Community Right to Bid Nomination Form

	9 Community Asset Transfer Policy Amendment
	9 Appendix 1 Community Asset Transfer Policy
	9 Appendix 2 - Community Asset Transfer Flowchart

	10 Public Space Protection Order for Shrewsbury Town Centre
	10 Appendix A - Proposed Public Spaces Protection Order.
	10 Appendix B – ESIIA for proposed PSPO
	10 Appendix C - PSPO Baseline Report Oct 16 - Mar 17
	10 Appendix D – Online consultation results for the urinating defecating prohibition and effects
	10 Appendix E – Online consultation results for the leaving of personal effects prohibition and effects
	10 Appendix F – Online consultation results for alcohol and stopping drinking prohibition and effects
	10 Appendix G – Online consultation results for dispersal from the public area and effects
	10 Appendix H - Single hard copy response to consultation
	10 Appendix I – Additional comments received from all survey respondents including officer response and observation
	10 Appendix J - Emails received in response to Consultation (redacted)
	10 Appendix K - Letter from Liberty to Shropshire Council re Shrewsbury PSPO (redacted)
	10 Appendix L – Officer comments in response to points raised by Liberty - revised format
	10 Appendix M - Response from the PCC to the consultation
	10 Appendix N – Online respondent’s relationship to Shrewsbury Town Centre

	11 Shropshire Council Local Plan Review
	11 Appendix Local Development Scheme 2017

	12 Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy, 2018 to 2023
	12 Appendix 1 - Outcomes to Public Consultation
	12 Appendix 2 Indoor Leisure Facilities Strategy
	12 Appendix  4 - ESIIA Leisure Strategy

	14 Exempt Minutes

